DEVELOPMENT OF A NOVEL *IN VITRO* SCREENING METHOD USING GENETICALLY MODIFIED NK-92 CELLS AGAINST VARIOUS TUMOR CELLS

by DİDEM ÖZKAZANÇ ÜNSAL

Submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering and Natural Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Sabancı University

August 2020

DEVELOPMENT OF A NOVEL *IN VITRO* SCREENING METHOD USING GENETICALLY MODIFIED NK-92 CELLS AGAINST VARIOUS TUMOR CELLS

APPROVED BY:

Prof. Dr. Batu Erman (Thesis Supervisor)

Batom

Asst. Prof. Dr. Emre Deniz

Prof. Dr. Güneş Esendağlı

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Meral Yüce

Prof. Dr. Nesrin Özören

DATE OF APPROVAL: 20/08/2020

.....

© Didem Özkazanç Ünsal 2020

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

DEVELOPMENT OF A NOVEL *IN VITRO* SCREENING METHOD USING GENETICALLY MODIFIED NK-92 CELLS AGAINST VARIOUS TUMOR CELLS

Didem Özkazanç Ünsal Biological Sciences and Bioengineering, PhD Thesis, 2020 Thesis Supervisor: Batu Erman Co-supervisor: Tolga Sütlü

Keywords: NK cells, cancer immunotherapy, NK-92 cell line, NK cell surface receptors

Natural killer (NK) cells of the innate immune system are recognized for their ability to potently kill tumor cells. NK cell-mediated lysis is maintained by an intricate balance between several activating and inhibitory receptors that either trigger or dampen effector functions upon ligand engagement. In this study, we aim to dissect this complex balance by developing a cell-based screening tool to identify receptor specific anti-tumor responses. As the character of the heterogeneous tumor cell populations differs among patients, such a tool may be instrumental in developing patient-tailored cancer immunotherapies.

Genes encoding 20 NK cell surface receptors were cloned into lentiviral vectors for genetic modification of the NK-92 cell line. Genetically modified (GM) NK-92 cells were enriched and overexpression of receptors was confirmed by flow cytometry. We analyzed the effector functions of all GM NK-92 cells against human cancer cell lines as well as against primary human sarcoma explants.

Overall, genetic modifications did not hamper cytotoxic capacity of GM NK-92 cells; rather induced enhanced tumor cell targeting by receptors such as DNAM-1 and NKG2D. We further confirmed that this response was indeed DNAM-1 or NKG2D-dependent by using blocking antibodies. We also evaluated the synergistic response of prominent receptors in triggering degranulation and cytotoxicity by co-expressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D.

Our results show the feasibility of an *in vitro* genetic screening approach to identify response-triggering receptors in genetically modified NK cells expressing different activating receptors. This tool has the potential to rapidly identify patient-specific targets for adoptive immunotherapy of cancer.

ÖZET

ÇEŞİTLİ TÜMÖR HÜCRELERİNE KARŞI GENETİK OLARAK DEĞİŞTİRİLMİŞ NK-92 HÜCRELERİ KULLANILARAK YENİ BİR *IN VITRO* TARAMA YÖNTEMİNİN GELİŞTİRİLMESİ

Didem Özkazanç Ünsal Biyoloji Bilimleri ve Biyomühendislik, Doktora Tezi, 2020 Tez Danışmanı: Batu Erman Eş Danışman: Tolga Sütlü

Anahtar Kelimeler: Doğal öldürücü hücreler, kanser immünoterapisi, NK-92 hücre hattı, NK hücre yüzey reseptörleri

Doğal bağışıklık sisteminin doğal öldürücü (NK) hücreleri, tümor hücrelerini güçlü bir şekilde öldürme kabiliyetleri ile tanınırlar. NK hücre aracılı öldürme, ligand bağlanması ile efektör fonksiyonları tetiklenen veya baskılanan birçok aktivasyon ve inhibisyon reseptörleri arasındaki karmaşık denge ile korunur. Bu çalışmada reseptöre özgül antitümör yanıtlarını tanımlamak için hücre bazlı bir tarama aracı geliştirerek bu karmaşık dengeyi incelemeyi hedefliyoruz. Heterojen tümör hücre popülasyonlarının karakteri hastalar arasında farklılık gösterdiği için böyle bir araç hastaya özel kanser immünoterapilerinin geliştirilmesinde yararlı olabilir.

20 farklı NK hücre yüzey reseptörünü kodlayan genler, NK-92 hücre hattının genetik modifikasyonu için lentiviral vektörlere klonlanmıştır. Genetik olarak modifiye edilmiş (GM) NK-92 hücreleri saflaştırılmış ve tek bir özgül reseptörü yüksek düzeyde ifade ettikleri akan hücre ölçer ile doğrulanmıştır. Tüm GM NK-92 hücrelerinin efektör fonksiyonları insan kanser hücre hatlarına ve sarkom hastalarından elde edilen tümör hücrelerine karşı analiz edilmiştir.

Sonuçta, yapılan genetik değişikliklerin GM NK-92 hücrelerinin sitotoksik kapasitelerine zarar vermediği ve hatta DNAM-1 ve NKG2D gibi reseptörler aracılığıyla arttırılmış bir tümör hedeflenmesini tetiklediği gözlemlenmiştir. Ayrıca, bloke edici antikorlar kullanılarak bu cevabın DNAM-1 ve NKG2D kaynaklı olduğu doğrulanmıştır. Ek olarak, DNAM-1 ve NKG2D'yi birlikte ifade ederek degranülasyon ve sitotoksisiteyi tetiklemede ön plana çıkan reseptörlerin sinerjik tepkisi de değerlendirilmiştir.

Sonuçlarımız, farklı aktivasyon reseptörlerini ifade eden genetik olarak modifiye edilmiş NK hücrelerinde yanıt üreten reseptörleri tanımlamak için *in vitro* genetik tarama yaklaşımının uygulanabilirliğini göstermektedir. Bu araç, adoptif kanser immünoterapisinde kullanılabilecek hastaya özgül hedeflerin hızla belirlenmesini sağlama potansiyeline sahiptir.

To my grandmother and husband...

Sevgili anneanneme ve eşime...

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ph.D. is a long journey. I embarked on mine with an enthusiasm to learn more and cherish my passion for science in the field of immunology. Today, I know that this journey requires a certain level of resilience and perseverance for which I owe a great deal of gratitude to many amazing people in my life. This thesis would not have been made possible without you.

Firstly, I would like to thank my thesis advisor Prof. Dr. Batu Erman for accepting me as a Ph.D. student and for his professional guidance that I received throughout this journey. He sets a great example for those who would like to become an immunologist with an eagerness to follow state-of-the-art trends in molecular biology.

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my co-supervisor Asst. Prof. Tolga Sütlü. His kindness, patience and emphasis on scientific moral code have been very much appreciated. I feel very fortunate to work and to be able to engage in scientific discussions with such an inspiring immunologist. His willingness to share his wisdom and constructive suggestions has been always valued. His long term collaboration with Dr. Adil Doğanay Duru opened up new doors for me to discover a whole new world across the Atlantic Ocean. I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Dr. Duru for generously hosting me as a visiting scientist in his lab during which I gained a different perspective to my scientific thinking and refinement of my research skills. I hope to continue and contribute to their shared collaboration in the future.

My sincere thanks must go to the esteemed members of my thesis jury: Prof. Dr. Güneş Esendağlı, Prof. Dr. Nesrin Özören, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Meral Yüce, Asst. Prof. Dr. Emre Deniz for their valuable feedback and fruitful scientific discussions.

I have had the privilege to cross paths with so many great colleagues during this period. Thank you all the past and present members of Sutlulab, Ermanlab and Durulab for the wonderful environment you have created: Dr. Ece Canan Sayitoğlu, Dr. Başak Özata, Dr. Esen Doğan, Alp Ertunga Eyüpoğlu, Elif Çelik, Cevriye Pamukcu, Mertkaya Aras, Ebru Zeynep Ergün, Zeynep Sena Karahan, Aydan Saraç Derdiyok, Pegah Zahedimaram, Lolai Ikromzoda, Ayhan Parlar, Seden Bedir, Dr. Bahar Shamloo, Ronay Çetin, Melike Gezen, Sofia Piepoli, Sarah Barakat, Liyne Noğay, Sanem Sarıyar, Hakan Taskıran, Nazife Tolay, Sinem Usluer, Dr. Anna-Maria Georgoudaki, Dr. Benjamin J. Josey, Dr. Michael Chrobok, Robin Krueger, Michelle Hartman, Renee Potens and Kim Kusser. Among these people, I would especially like to thank the ultimate past member of all labs, Dr. Ece Canan Sayitoğlu. She is a typical lab mom and the one to teach me everything she knew both in Sabanci and Nova Southeastern University. Because I was new to İstanbul and Fort Lauderdale, she also happened to be my favorite art and life consultant at the time. I will also forever cherish the times I shared with Elif spending endless hours in the lab day and night when we had countless clonings or flow stainings to do; with Ertunga playing musics to lighten up the cell culture when we had many consecutive transductions to do; with Başak and Cevriye sharing valuable moral and scientific support when we had problem solving to do.

I am so happy to have Zişan and Dilara as my friends, enduring supporters and my past cosureties! Thank you for staying in my life despite last minute cancellations or delayed meetings due to experiments in the lab.

Most of all, I owe my deepest gratitude to my dearest family. Words cannot express how grateful I am to my father, mother, and sister for their unconditional love, trust, and unceasing motivations to promote me excel in everything I do. Also, I never would have been able to achieve my goals, if it was not for my grandmother's everlasting belief in me. I also thank to my sister and parents-in-law for their emotional support. Last but not least, I feel very lucky to be walking through this life with my beloved companion, İlker Ünsal. His unfailing faith in me even when I doubted myself, continuous support, patience and encouragement to follow my dreams enabled me to complete this thesis. Thank you all for being the greatest family one can ever wish for!

^{*} This thesis was supported by TUBITAK 1001 grant for "A cell-based screening assay for the identification of cancer immunotherapy targets" with grant number 114Z861. I would like to thank TUBITAK BIDEB 2211-C and 2214-A scholarships for their financial support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTROI	DUCTION	1
1	.1. Nat	ural Killer (NK) Cells	1
	1.1.1.	NK cell Effector Functions	3
	1.1.2.	NK Cell Receptors	5
	1.1.3.	NK Cell Receptor Families	6
1	.2. NK	Cells in Cancer	13
	1.2.1.	Role in Tumor Immunosurveillance	13
	1.2.2.	NK Cells in Cancer Patients	14
	1.2.2	.1. NK Cells in Hematological Malignancies	15
	1.2.2	.2. NK Cells in Solid Tumors	17
1	.3. NK	Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy	
	1.3.1.	Modulation of NK Cell Activity	19
	1.3.2.	Adoptive NK Cell Immunotherapy	24
	1.3.2	.1. Autologous NK Cells	
	1.3.2	.2. Allogeneic NK cells	
	1.3.2	.3. Adoptive transfer of the NK-92 cell line	
1	.4. Ger	netic Modification (GM) of NK cells	
	1.4.1.	GM Methods for Immunotherapy	
	1.4.2.	Genetically Modified (GM) NK cells in Cancer Immunotherapy	
2.	AIM OF	THE STUDY	
3.	MATER	RIALS AND METHODS	
3	.1. Ma	terials	
	3.1.1.	Chemicals	
	3.1.2.	Equipment	
	3.1.3.	Buffers and solutions	
	3.1.4.	Growth media	
	3.1.5.	Commercial kits used in this study	

	3.1.6.	Enzymes	
	3.1.7.	Antibodies	
	3.1.8.	Bacterial strains	39
	3.1.9.	Mammalian cell lines	39
	3.1.10.	Plasmids and oligonucleotides	41
	3.1.11.	DNA ladder	42
	3.1.12.	DNA sequencing	
	3.1.13.	Software	43
3	.2. Met	thods	
	3.2.1.	Bacterial cell culture	
	3.2.2.	Mammalian cell culture	44
	3.2.3.	Production of lentiviral vectors	45
	3.2.4.	Lentiviral transduction of NK-92 cells	46
	3.2.5.	Flow cytometry	46
	3.2.6.	Analysis of NK cell degranulation on genetically modified NK-92	cell47
	3.2.7. (RTCA)	Analysis of NK cell cytotoxicity by xCELLigence real-time cell an 49	alysis
	3.2.8.	Statistical analysis	50
4.	RESUL	TS	51
4 L	.1. Ger Different N	neration of Genetically Modified (GM) NK-92 Cell Lines Overexpre NK Receptors	essing 51
	4.1.1.	Design and Production of Lentiviral Vectors	51
	4.1.2.	Phenotypic Confirmation of Overexpression	55
	4.1.3.	Functional Confirmation of GM NK-92 Cell Lines	57
4	.2. Dev	veloping a Novel GM NK-92 Cell-based Screening Platform	60
4	.3. Ger	neration of Dual Vectors: NKG2D ⁺ /DNAM-1 ⁺ NK-92 Cell Line	65
	4.3.1.	Sorting Strategy and Phenotyping	66
	4.3.2.	Evaluation of Functional Response against Sarcoma Cell Lines	68
	4.3.3.	Cytotoxicity of NKG2D ⁺ /DNAM-1 ⁺ Expressing NK-92 Cells	69
4	.4. Fut	ure Directions	71
5.	DISCUS	SSION & CONCLUSION	72
6.	REFERI	ENCES	77
7.	APPEN	DIX A: Chemicals	100
8.	APPEN	DIX B: Equipments	102
9.	APPEN	DIX C: Plasmid Maps	104
10.	APPEN	DIX D: Generation of GM NK-92 cell lines	107

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Mechanism of NK cell target recognition
Figure 1.2. The balance between activating and inhibitory receptors determines the NK
cell response
Figure 1.3. Strategies to genetically modify NK cells against tumor cells
Figure 3.1. 1 kb GeneRuler DNA ladder mix used in this study
Figure 4.1. Generation of GM NK-92 cell lines
Figure 4.2. Evaluation of the selection process on successfully transduced NK-92 cells.
Figure 4.3. Surface receptor expression profiles of GM NK-92 cells were verified by
flow cytometry
Figure 4.4. Degranulation of WT and GM NK-92 cells against K562 target cells 58
Figure 4.5. Pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles of WT and GM NK-92 cells against
K562 target cells
Figure 4.6. GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform tested against well-established
human cancer cell lines
Figure 4.7. Heat map of the GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform against well-
established human cancer cell lines
Figure 4.8. GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform validated by degranulation assay
using human sarcoma explants
Figure 4.9. Generation of NKG2D and DNAM-1 co-expressing GM NK-92 cells66
Figure 4.10. Surface expression of NK cell receptors on GM NK-92 cells
Figure 4.11. Degranulation of NKG2D and/or DNAM-1 receptor expressing NK-92
cells against K562 and sarcoma cell lines
Figure 4.12. NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptor mediated cytotoxicity against sarcoma cell
lines

Figure 4.13	Development of a screening tool that can rapidly identify targets	for
patient-tailor	red immunotherapy of cancer	71
Figure C.1.	The vector map of LeGO.iG2 Puro.	103
Figure C.2.	The vector map of pMDLg/pRRE.	104
Figure C.3.	The vector map of pRSV-REV.	105
Figure C.4.	The vector map of pCMV-VSV-G.	105
Figure D.1.	Flow cytometer analysis of GM NK-92 cell lines at day 4	107
Figure D.2.	Flow cytometer analysis of GM NK-92 cell lines at day 14.	109

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. NK cell receptors and their ligands.	12
Table 1.2. The role of NK cells in the pathogenesis of hematological malignancie	s16
Table 1.3. Overview of genetic modification strategies followed for improvin	ıg anti-
tumor efficacy of NK cells in pre-clinical models	29
Table 3.1. List of commercial kits used in this study.	37
Table 3.2. List of enzymes used in this study.	37
Table 3.3. List of antibodies used in this study.	38
Table 3.4. List of plasmids used in this study	41
Table 3.5. List of oligonucleotides used in this study.	42
Table 3.6. List of software used in this study.	43
Table 7.1. List of chemicals used in this study.	99
Table 8.1. List of equipments used in this study.	102

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

α	Alpha
β	Beta
γ	Gamma
κ	Kappa
μ	Micro
μL	Microliter
μΜ	Micromolar
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AKT	Activating Receptor tyrosine kinase
AML	Acute Myeloid Leukemia
ALL	Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia
APC	Allophycocyanin
BV	Brilliant Violet
CIAP	Calf Intestine Alkaline Phosphatase
CML	Chronic Myeloid Leukemia
CTLA-4	cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
DC	Dendritic Cell
ddH ₂ O	Distilled deionized water
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxade
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNAM-1	DNAX accessory molecule
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline
E.coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EPCAM	Epithelial cell adhesion molecule
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FcεRIγ	High-affinity IgE receptor-γ
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
Gly	Glycine
GvHD	Graft versus host disease
HA	Hemagglutinin
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HS	Heparan Sulfate
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IgG	Immunoglobulin G

IRES	Internal Ribosome entry site
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
ITIM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif
ITT	Immunoreceptor tyrosine tail
KIR	Killer Immunoglobulin-like Receptor
LAK	Lymphokine-activated killer cell
LB	Luria Broth
LeGO	Lentiviral Gene Ontology
LIR-1	Leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor subfamily B member 1
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MCS	Multiple cloning site
MDS	Myelodysplastic Syndrome
MEM	Minimum Essential Media
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MIC	MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence
MM	Multiple Myeloma
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection
NCR	Natural cytotoxicity receptors
NEAA	Non-essential Amino Acid
NKG2	Natural Killer Group 2
OXO	(5Z)-7-Oxozeaenol
PBMC	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PI	Propidium Iodide
PI3K	Phosphoinositide-3-kinase-protein
PIPES	Piperazine-N,N'-bis (2-ethanesulfonic acid)
Puro	Puromycin
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
Rpm	Round per minute
RT	Room Temperature
SEM	Standard Error of Mean
SFFV	Spleen Focus Forming Virus
SLAM	Signaling lymphocytic activation molecule
Syk	Spleen tyrosine kinase
TAA	Tumor associated antigen
TCR	T-cell Receptor
TIGIT	T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains
TME	Tumor microenvironment
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TRAIL	TNFα-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand
Treg	Regulatory T cells
ULBP	UL16-binding protein
VSV-G	Vesicular stomatitis virus G
WT	Wild Type

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Natural Killer (NK) Cells

Experiments aimed at characterizing cell-mediated cytotoxicity against tumor cells unwittingly revealed the existence of a subset of lymphocytes with spontaneous anti-tumor response (Kiessling, Klein, and Wigzell 1975; Kiessling et al. 1975; Herberman, Nunn, and Lavrin 1975; Herberman et al. 1975). Although these original observations made in the 1970s were initially presumed to be an artefact or background cytotoxicity, scientists began to explore this previously uncharacterized distinct sub-population throughout the next decade (Oldham 1983). Owing to their intrinsic ability to kill cellular targets without any prior sensitization, they were named as natural killer (NK) cells.

NK cells are recognized as large granular lymphocytes that constitute approximately 5-20% of all circulating lymphocytes, residing in multiple lymphoid tissues such as the bone marrow (BM), lymph nodes (LN) and non-lymphoid tissues such as skin, gut, uterus, liver, and lungs, each with their unique effector functions and expression of surface markers (Carrega and Ferlazzo 2012; Jacobs et al. 2012). Even though NK cells make up a small percentage of the lymphoid compartment, their therapeutic potential have been explored in a wide variety of contexts, including but not limited to autoimmunity, pregnancy, infectious diseases and cancer.

In several mammalian species, NK cells are phenotypically characterized as CD3⁻NKp46⁺ lymphocytes. Human NK cells are distinguished as CD56^{dim} or CD56^{bright} subsets based on their differential levels of CD56 [neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM)] expression (Moretta et al. 2002). Approximately 90% of peripheral blood (PB) and spleen NK cells belong to the CD56^{dim} CD16⁺ subset with a great diversity of cytotoxic capacity upon interacting with target cells and diminished cytokine secretion function (Cooper, Fehniger, and Caligiuri 2001). In contrast, a minority of NK cells belong to the CD56^{bright} CD16⁻ subset and exhibit a less mature state with minimal cytotoxicity, albeit robust cytokine secretion profile (Morvan and Lanier 2016; Cooper, Fehniger, and Caligiuri 2001).

Advances in the field of immunology have demonstrated that immune cells are highly plastic and rapidly can undergo phenotypic and functional changes and that they are dynamic players in the intricate microenvironment of cellular and chemical interactions. This intertwined microenvironment is simplified and catalogued as innate and adaptive defense or immune systems; however, NK cells seem to straddle these two branches of the immune system. They are considered to be key players of the early innate immune defense in clearance of bacterial and viral infections, and tumor cells. Yet they differentiate from lymphoid progenitors that also give rise to T and B lymphocytes of the adaptive immune response. In fact, it has recently been appreciated that NK cells are prototypic innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) owing to their rapid activation, expression of key transcription factors and signature cytokine secretion profiles that direct the developing immune responses or contribute to tissue homeostasis (Ebbo et al. 2017; Artis and Spits 2015).

This rapid action stems from the expression of a multitude of pre-defined receptors that can identify self over pathogen-derived or stress-induced ligands and endows NK cells with innate abilities. Similar to other lymphoid counterparts such as other ILC subsets and T, B lymphocytes of adaptive immunity, NK cells derive from common lymphoid progenitors. NK cells are cytolytic ILCs with a basic cytotoxic machinery of lytic granules and other secretory components resembling those of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (Y. Zhang and Huang 2017; Cruz-Muñoz et al. 2019). However, unlike T cells, NK cells fail to express the CD3 surface antigen and the clonotypic receptor specific for MHC presented peptidic antigens (e.g. T

cell receptor (TCR)) and its related signal-transducing adaptor, CD3ɛ. Furthermore, recent experiments show that NK cells also can possess memory-like functionality contributing to the perception that NK cells are similar to adaptive immune cells with long-term memory features (T. E. O'Sullivan, Sun, and Lanier 2015). Owing to these attributes, NK cells are recognized as central and dynamic players in maintaining, providing and shaping immunity.

1.1.1. NK cell Effector Functions

Natural killer cells execute their protective functions through many effector mechanisms. Firstly, NK cells can distinguish healthy cells from nascent transformed or infected cells and directly lyse these targets. This cytolytic function can act through many processes such as degranulation and death receptor ligation, which result in target cell clearance (Smyth et al. 2005b; Moretta et al. 2002). Furthermore, NK cells can also function indirectly by producing various cytokines and chemokines, upon activation by receptor stimulation and inflammatory cytokine-induced activation signaling. Cytokine secretion by NK cells not only contributes to the clearance of target cells, but also regulates both the innate and adaptive immune responses (Fauriat et al. 2010).

The primary mechanism for NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity critically depends on the directed release of lytic substances towards the target cell, a process known as NK cell degranulation (Vivier et al. 2008). NK cells store these lytic substances in cytolytic granules that are delivered and fused to the cell membrane in the immunological synapse upon target cell recognition (Cruz-Muñoz et al. 2019). During degranulation, lysosomal-associated membrane protein-1 (LAMP-1 or CD107a) and -2 (LAMP-2 or CD107b) which normally face the lumen of the cytoplasmic granule, are transiently translocated to the NK cell surface. This LAMP-1 expression on the NK cell surface can be used as an indirect measurement of cytolytic effector function and is routinely used in this work (Alter, Malenfant, and Altfeld 2004). The specialized proteins contained within these granules, including the pore-forming glycoprotein, perforin; and a class of serine proteases known as granzymes, Fas ligand (FasL, CD178), and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL, CD253) are secreted to the immunological synapse

formed between the target cell and the NK cell. Granzyme B and perforin are especially critical components of the lytic granules. Perforin polymerizes and mediates pore formation on the target cell membranes, facilitating the entry of granzymes into the cytoplasm of the target cell. Once inside the target cell, Granzyme B can induce cell death by apoptosis dependent or independent of the caspases (Topham and Hewitt 2009).

Another mechanism by which NK cells mediate cytotoxicity is through the activation of death receptor-induced target cell apoptosis. The receptors present on the surface of the target cell include TRAIL-receptor (TRAIL-R) and Fas, engage with their cognate ligands, TRAIL and FasL, expressed by NK cells (Smyth et al. 2005a). This interaction induces a conformational change in the cytoplasmic tail of the death receptor and results in the recruitment of adaptor proteins that drives caspase-dependent cell death by apoptosis (Thorburn 2004). The surface expression of death receptors can be induced on target cells by IFN- γ secretion from NK or other immune cells and their activation can initiate several pro-apoptotic signaling events (Screpanti et al. 2001; Degli-Esposti 1999).

Additionally, NK cells are able to kill their targets by antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity (ADCC). NK cells express the activating type CD16 (or FcRγIII), a cell surface receptor for the highly conserved Fc portion of immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies which enables recognition of antibody-coated target cells (Vivier et al. 2008). When the Fab moiety of an IgG antibody binds to specific antigens displayed on infected or transformed cells, the Fc portion of these antibodies are recognized by CD16 and thereby trigger NK cell activation and cytolysis of antibody-coated target cells (Bryceson et al. 2005).

NK cells can also secrete pro-inflammatory and immunosuppressive cytokines as well as chemokines that shape immune responses (Abel et al. 2018). The release of inflammatory cytokines is different from the aforementioned cytotoxic granule secretion; instead, NK cells impose activation-induced signaling intermediates for the regulation of these two different functions (Reefman et al. 2010). Depending on the inflammatory environment, NK cells can produce a wide-range of cytokines and various chemokines (Vivier and Ugolini 2009; Vivier et al. 2011). They mainly

secrete Th1-type cytokines upon contact with tumor ligands or intracellular pathogens (Vivier et al. 2011). NK cells are early and potent producers of interferon gamma (IFN-γ), but they can also secrete tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) which recruit T cells and other innate immune mediators such as dendritic cells, macrophages, and neutrophils to the inflammation site and induce the activation and proliferation of these cells (Walzer et al. 2005; BOSCH et al. 2008; Abel et al. 2018). In addition, NK cells produce chemokines including chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3 (CCL3), CCL4, CCL5, chemokine (C motif) ligand 1 (XCL1), and chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 8 (CXCL8) which can attract effector lymphocytes and myeloid cells to the site of inflammation (Walzer et al. 2005). Therefore, they are considered as not only effector lymphocytes but also significant regulators of immune responses.

1.1.2. NK Cell Receptors

NK cells are armed with germline-encoded receptors that can distinguish infected or transformed cells from normal. The molecular basis for target cell recognition by NK cells was postulated by the "missing-self" hypothesis several years ago (Kärre et al. 1986). Accordingly, NK cells are thought to preferentially kill targets that lack surface MHC-I (self) expression, while sparing normal cells with proper surface MHC-I expression levels. This self-tolerance was thought to be exclusively maintained by inhibitory receptor signaling upon MHC-I engagement (Figure 1.1). However, this presents a conundrum, because there are many other cells in the body with rather low levels of MHC class I expression which are yet safe from NK cell responses. Therefore, this hypothesis has evolved and acknowledged the requirement for additional activating receptors even before the discovery of receptors implicated in the recognition (Ljunggren and Kärre 1990).

Today, we know that NK cell function is controlled by an intricate balance between an array of inhibitory and activating receptors expressed at the cell surface and their corresponding ligands from a list of MHC class I and MHC class I-related molecules (Table.1.1)(Figure 1.1). The coupling of an NK cell receptor to its ligand provides signals and a logic sum function of these signals will dictate whether an NK cell is activated or not (Figure 1.2). Indeed, it is now accepted that a lack of inhibitory signals *per se* cannot alone drive the cytotoxicity and that an activation signal is almost exclusively required, shedding light on the question of why some cells are deemed as targets despite expressing high amounts of MHC class I molecules (Leibson 1997).



Figure 1.1. Mechanism of NK cell target recognition. MHC Class I (inhibitory ligand) is expressed by all nucleated cells to mediate tolerance to self in the presence or absence of activating ligands (left panel). When a cell is transformed or virally infected, it loses MHC Class I molecule expression (missing self in the middle panel) or increase expression of stress-induced ligands (stress-induced self in the right panel) and eventually becoming a target for NK cells. This recognition activates NK cells and induces release of cytolytic granules to kill the target cell (Adapted from (Vivier et al. 2012)).

1.1.3. NK Cell Receptor Families

Even though several receptors modulating NK cell actions have been recognized, the contribution of signals from these receptors to different aspects of NK cell biology demands further investigation (Watzl and Long 2010; Cruz-Muñoz et al. 2019). Based on current knowledge, NK cell receptors can be categorized under certain groups according to their impact on effector functions.

Receptors that favor NK cell activation by means of adhesion, degranulation or granule polarization can be categorized as activating receptors. Under normal conditions, independent from the surrounding cytokines, the balance towards the activation side can be shifted by the synergy of at least two activating receptors stimulated simultaneously (Bryceson, Ljunggren, and Long 2009). A wide selection of activation, co-activation, and adhesion receptors such as the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), DNAX accessory molecule (DNAM)-1, CD16, NKG2C and NKG2D receptors induce NK cell-mediated killing upon binding to ligands upregulated on stressed or infected cells (Vivier et al. 2008). The only exception to this rule of engaging multiple activating receptors seems to be CD16, which is able to fulfill all the requirements to promote efficient effector functions without the contribution of any synergy from other receptors (Bryceson et al. 2005). In addition, LFA-1 activating receptor engagement to its ligand (ICAM-1) is necessary in most cases to assist adhesion to target cells and provide signals to direct the cytotoxic granules towards the immunological synapse, where they release for efficient target cell cytolysis (Bryceson et al. 2005).

The varied nature of these receptors and the absence of signaling domains in their cytoplasmic tails mandates the recruitment of receptor-associated adaptor molecules for positive signal transduction (Lanier 2008). Activation signals are transduced through the adaptor transmembrane proteins such as CD3 ζ , the high-affinity IgE receptor- γ (Fc ϵ RI γ), and DAP12, which signal via Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Activating Motifs (ITAMs) contained in their cytoplasmic tails. While CD16, NKp46 and NKG2D strictly follow these adaptors, NKG2D can also signal via the YINM motif present within the adaptor DAP10 (Lanier 2009). Interestingly, NKp80 receptor signals through an atypical tyrosine module named as the hemi-ITAM (or hemITAM), that recruits the kinase Syk, to trigger cellular cytotoxicity (Welte et al. 2006; Bauer and Steinle 2017; Steinle, Dennehy, and Klimosch 2011).



Figure 1.2. The balance between activating and inhibitory receptors determines the NK cell response. NK cell-mediated lysis relies on this intricate balance between several activating and inhibitory receptors that either triggers or dampens NK cell effector functions upon engaging their ligands. NKRP1A, inhibitory killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR), NKG2A and CD96 are some of the inhibitory receptors that transduce inhibitory signals, while DNAM1, NKG2D, NKp46, NKp44, NKp30, CD16, LFA-1 and CD27 are some of the activating receptors that engage to their corresponding ligands to induce activating signals (Adapted from Martinet et al. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 2014).

NKp30 (NCR3), NKp44 (NCR2), NKp46 (NCR1) and NKp80 (KLRF1) are part of the NCR family. NKp30, NKp46 and NKp80 are constitutively expressed on both resting and activated NK cells, while NKp44 is solely expressed upon activation (e.g. IL-2 induction)(Fuchs et al. 2005). A wide variety of NCR ligands have been reported for these receptors, starting with ligands encoded by viral genes, bacteria and parasites, but ongoing studies are still being pursued for defining new ligands (Kruse et al. 2014; Barrow, Martin, and Colonna 2019). The ligands for NKp30 and NKp44 have been identified on several types of tumors (Byrd et al. 2007). Also, together with NKp46; NKp44 has been suggested to interact with hemagglutinin of influenza virus and thus, to be able to lyse influenza-infected cells (Arnon, Markel, and Mandelboim 2006). Although all NCRs widely interact with components of viral hemagglutinins, NKp80 can only bind to activation induced C-type lectin (AICL) as a ligand (Welte et al. 2006). DNAM-1 is both an activating receptor and an adhesion molecule. It is expressed not only by NK cells but also subsets of T and B lymphocytes, and myeloid cells (Martinet and Smyth 2015). It binds to poliovirus receptor CD155 (PVR) and to the nectin adhesion molecule CD112 (PVRL2), both of which are significantly upregulated in tumor cells and CMV infected cells (Castriconi et al. 2004). DNAM-1 has been shown to direct NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity against melanoma, sarcoma and also, its knockout mouse model, to be more susceptible to primary and transplantable tumors (Iguchi-Manaka et al. 2008; Gilfillan et al. 2008). Therefore, these studies elucidate its essential role in preventing spontaneous tumor formation and controlling tumor growth. Although the exact signaling pathway has not been well-characterized yet, it is known to send positive signals via an immunoreceptor tyrosine tail (ITT)-like motif that pairs DNAM-1 to Grb2 and to downstream effectors such as Vav-1 which is a central modulator of NK cell signaling pathways (Z. Zhang et al. 2015).

Another receptor family is the CD94- the Natural Killer Group 2 (NKG2) receptor system, CD94-NKG2 (Lanier 2005). In this complex of the C-type lectin family, a type II integral membrane glycoprotein (CD94) forms a disulfide-linked heterodimer with different members of the NKG2 family (CD94-NKG2A/C/E). The heterodimers such as CD94-NKG2C and CD94-NKG2E are associated with DAP12 and its cytoplasmic ITAM; consequently, they act as activating receptors. On the other hand, NKG2A contains Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Inhibitory Motifs (ITIMs) in its cytoplasmic domain by which it is classified as an inhibitory receptor (Lanier et al. 1998; Kabat et al. 2002). These receptors are expressed predominantly by NK cells and considered important for the recognition of nonpolymorphic MHC class I molecules (e.g. HLA-E in humans). However, it appears that NKG2A has a higher affinity for HLA-E; thus, when NKG2A and NKG2C are co-expressed by the same NK cell, the inhibitory signals can prevail (Béziat et al. 2011). NKG2C expression is correlated with NK cells expansion during human cytomegalovirus infection, while the exact role for NKG2E remains unclear (Gumá et al. 2006).

Besides NKG2C/E, there is another activating receptor, NKG2D, that forms a homodimer in its active form and does not heterodimerize with CD94, contrary to

its counterparts (Lanier 2015). NKG2D associates with DAP10, which recruits either phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) through its p85 subunit or Grb2 adaptor to induce positive signals for NK cell activation, as previously mentioned (C. Chang et al. 1999). NKG2D is constitutively expressed on NK cells and subsets of T cells and recognizes stress-inducible ligands on transformed, virus-infected or DNA damaged cells (Lanier 2015). These MHC-I related ligands can be listed as UL16-binding protein (ULBP) 1-6 and MICA/B and are not normally expressed by healthy tissues suggesting a significant role in cancer immunosurveillance (Spear et al. 2013).

The key receptors on NK cells controlling the 'self-recognition' are MHC class Ibinding receptors, including the Killer Cell Immunoglobulin-like Receptor (KIR) family, the NKG2 receptor system and Leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor subfamily B member 1 (LIR-1) (Vivier et al. 2008). They can recognize ligands that are MHC class I molecules, as well as non-MHC class I molecules. A major group of inhibitory receptors are the KIRs which are members of the Ig superfamily (Lanier 2005). This family of receptors recognizes allelic forms of HLA-A, -B and -C (allotypes). All well-characterized inhibitory KIR receptors encompass a conserved ITIM. As soon as inhibitory receptors are cross linked with their cognate ligands, the tyrosine residues in ITIMs get phosphorylated and initiate a cascade of events that dampen NK cell activation by counterbalancing signals that are necessary for recruitment and phosphorylation of activating receptors effecting also their downstream elements (Long 2008). Because MHC class I molecules are expressed by virtually all nucleated cells, their recognition by inhibitory receptors are required for acquisition of functional competence during development, as well as for a state of tolerance. The inhibitory KIRs and NKG2A receptor are, therefore, assigned in a functional maturation process called NK cell education that allows self-inhibited NK cells to get a "license-to-kill" (Anfossi et al. 2006). Indeed, before encountering a target cell, NK cells undergo a functional calibration -or become licensed- during which engagement of these inhibitory receptors by self MHC molecules enables them to respond robustly to target cells with decreased MHC I and/or increased stress-induced ligand expression.

In addition to these inhibitory receptors specific for MHC-I molecules, a novel group of receptors is classified as inhibitors of NK cell functions based on a system of recognition independent of the missing-self hypothesis that includes receptors such as T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT), CD96, T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3 (Tim-3) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1). TIGIT and CD96 contain ITIM motifs mediating inhibitory signals and compete with DNAM-1 for binding their shared ligands, hence counterbalance the activation signals generated by DNAM-1 engagement (Chan et al. 2014). In NK cells, TIGIT is expressed upon activation, while CD96 is constitutively expressed (Martinet and Smyth 2015). Tim-3 on NK cells can induce cytokine secretion and establish cytolytic responses and has at least 4 known ligands, but its immunological relevance in NK cells remains largely unknown (Ndhlovu et al. 2012). Its interaction with one of its ligands, Galectin-9, results in NK cell hyporesponsiveness, while overexpression of Tim-3 can cause dysfunction. This suggests a prominent attenuating role of this receptor over NK cell functions.

PD-1 is expressed in immune cells including T lymphocytes and NK cells. Even though its function in tumor-specific T lymphocytes has been extensively studied in the past decade, PD-1 expression on NK cells has only recently gained attention. Upon engagement with its ligands PD-L1 and/or PD-L2, PD-1 can constrain granule polarization and dampen NK cell activation (Pesce et al. 2017). PD-1 upregulation on NK cells from patients with multiple myeloma, sarcoma and lymphoma is associated with NK cell dysfunction and immune suppression (Beldi-Ferchiou et al. 2016; Pittari et al. 2017; Vari et al. 2018). PD-1 signals through one ITIM and one tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM). When coupled to its ligand, these two tyrosine-based motifs are phosphorylated by Src family kinases and subsequently result in recruitment of SHP-1 and SHP-2 tyrosine phosphatases that turn off activation signals (Cruz-Muñoz et al. 2019).

In addition to receptors with well-defined functions, NK cells also possess receptors with dual functions that can either promote or inhibit the functions of primary activating receptors on their surfaces. These receptors belong to a group as signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM) family and their expression on NK cells are important to prevent self-killing. These receptors such as 2B4, NTBA, CRACC, CD2 harbor at least one ITSM. This motif undergoes phosphorylation to

recruit members of the SH-2 domain containing SLAM-associated protein (SAP) family.

Receptor	CD number	Activating	Inhibitory	Ligands
LFA-1	CD11a	X	•	ICAM-1,-2,-3,-4,-5
LFA-2	CD2	Х		CD58 (LFA-3)
FcRγIII	CD16	Х		Fc domain of IgG
NKp30	CD337	Х		B7-H6, HA [*] , HS [*] , HCMV pp65 [*]
NKp44	CD336	Х		HA [*] , HS [*] , HN [*] , PCNA [*] , unknown bacterial components
NKp46	CD335	Х		HA [*] , HS [*] , HN [*] , unknown bacterial components, extracellular ligands
NKp80	-	Х		AICL [*]
TNFRSF7	CD27	Х		CD70
NKG2A	CD159a		Х	HLA-E
NKG2C	CD159c	Х		HLA-E
NKG2E	CD159e	Х		HLA-E
NKG2D	CD314	Х		MICA/B, ULBP 1-6
Tactile	CD96		Х	CD155
TIGIT	n/a		Х	CD112, CD155
DNAM-1	CD226	Х		CD112, CD155
Tim-3	CD366		Х	Galectin-9
PD-1	CD279		Х	PD-L1, PD-L2
2B4	CD244	Х	Х	CD48
NTBA	CD352	Х	Х	NTBA
CRACC	CD319	Х	Х	CRACC
KIRs	CD158	Х	Х	MHC Class I molecules
BY55	CD160	X		HLA-C
NKR-P1A	CD161	Х		LLT1

Table 1.1. NK cell receptors and their ligands.

IgG, immunoglobulin G; HA, hemagglutinin; HS, heparan sulfate; HCMV, human cytomegalovirus; HN, hemagglutinin neuramidase; PCNA, proliferating cell nuclear antigen; AICL, activation-induced C-type lectin; HLA-E, human leukocyte antigen-E; MIC, major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I polypeptide-related sequence; TIGIT, T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains; n/a, not applicable; Tim-3, T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3; PD-1, programmed cell death protein 1; PD-L, PD ligand; KIR, killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor; LLT1, lectin like transcript 1. *These natural cytotoxicity receptor ligands have not been fully confirmed yet (Morvan and Lanier 2016; Konjević et al. 2007).

Besides the ITSM, the cytoplasmic tail of SLAM receptors contain tyrosine residues targeted for phosphorylation by Src family kinases, thus, preparing these tyrosine residues for recruitment of phosphatase containing SH2 domains. Studies on ITSM revealed that the SAP-related adaptor proteins are crucial elements that determine NK-mediated functions for SLAM family receptors (Veillette 2006). Apart from 2B4 and CD2, both of which recognize CD48 (the other member of the SLAM family) and CD58 respectively as ligands; NTBA and CRACC serve as

self-ligands in the context of homotypic cell interactions amongst NK cells. The expression of these receptors are largely restricted to the hematopoietic compartment. The recognition of 2B4, CRACC and NTBA ligands on MHC-I positive cells (e.g. neighboring NK cells) bypasses NK cell cytotoxicity but they cannot prevent NK cell targeting in the case of MHC-I loss (Veillette 2010). Here, it is important to note that NTBA and 2B4 may also function as a co-receptor amplifying NK cell responses activated by NCRs or cytokines (Marcenaro et al. 2011).

1.2. NK Cells in Cancer

1.2.1. Role in Tumor Immunosurveillance

The concept of immunosurveillance was first proposed in 1909 by Paul Ehrlich, suggesting that the immune system continuously eliminates arising tumors and thus, prevents the occurrence of cancer (Ehrlich 1909). The formal hypothesis on cancer immunosurveillance was shaped by Burnet and Thomas in 1957 (Burnet, Walter, and Hall 1957). Nevertheless, the concept failed to promote much acceptance until the observations of increased susceptibility to chemically induced tumors in immunodeficient mice were presented decades later (Kaplan et al. 1998; Shankaran et al. 2001). It was shown that these highly immunogenic tumors can be eradicated, when transplanted to an immunocompetent host. These results unmask the role of the immune system in cancer immunoediting, which comprises of three phases; elimination, equilibrium and escape (Dunn et al. 2002). As proposed earlier, stressed aberrant tumor cells are detected and eliminated by immune cells in the process of immunosurveillance. As the scavenging continues, the aberrant cells and immune cells reach to a state of truce where the tumor cells do not grow but cannot be eliminated by the immune system either. This dynamic equilibrium resembles a microevolutionary process and is maintained by the Darwinian selective pressure of the immune system exerted on the tumor cells; where tumor cells attain sufficient mutations or phenotypic changes to evade from detection. Hence, the immune edited tumor cells can now escape and outgrow the immune control.

The role of NK cells in cancer immunosurveillance is further revealed, when the anti-tumor responses of $RAG2^{-/-}$ mice which lacked adaptive immunity (T and B lymphocytes) are compared to $RAG2^{-/-}x [gamma]c^{-/-}$ mice which lacked adaptive immunity and NK cells (T. O'Sullivan et al. 2012). The latter exhibited higher incidence of sarcoma upon methylcholanthrene (MCA)-induced sarcomagenesis and thus, provides formal proof that NK cells control tumor growth in the absence of adaptive immunity. In line with this evidence, there are correlation studies in human cancers, where low NK cell counts and cytotoxic ability compromises individuals with familial incidence of cancer (Strayer, Carter, and Brodsky 1986; Bovbjerg and Valdimarsdottir 1993). Moreover, an 11-year prospective study traced the high and moderate cytotoxic activity of peripheral blood derived mononuclear cells (PBMC) and found that individuals with medium-high PBMC cytotoxic activity had a lower risk of developing cancer and vice versa (Imai et al. 2000). More evidence from animal models emphasize that knock-out of key NK cell receptors such as NKG2D and DNAM-1 results in a higher incidence of tumors compared to wild-type mice (Guerra et al. 2008; Iguchi-Manaka et al. 2008). Although the role of NK cells in the elimination of tumors has been controversial for many years, the observations in experimental models significantly correlate with clinical data for both solid and hematological malignancies suggesting that NK cells play essential roles in tumor immunovigilance and they are beneficial against cancer progression.

1.2.2. NK Cells in Cancer Patients

NK cells constitute the first line of defense against transformed cells. When hematopoietic cells undergo malignant transformation as a result of DNA damage during unregulated cell division, the DNA damage responses get activated, which induces NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligands on several tumor cells (Gorgoulis et al. 2005; Soriani et al. 2009).

NK cells are circulating lymphocytes that are attracted to the tumor milieu, where they are confronted with immunosuppression in the context of tumor evasion mechanisms. Besides poor NK cell homing and infiltration into the tumor microenvironment (TME), NK cells are also challenged with an assortment of cell types that downmodulate the immune responses. TME harbors fibroblasts, tumorassociated macrophages, stromal cells, regulatory T cells and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) that force specific changes in the cytotoxic phenotype, epigenetic and transcriptional profile and metabolic program of infiltrating immune cells (Whiteside 2008). Also, the TME induces several other inhibitory effects such as secretion of immunomodulatory cytokines and soluble factors such as TGF- β and IL-10, as well as upregulation of inhibitory checkpoint ligands (e.g. PD-L1 or HLA-E) or downregulation of activating receptor ligands (NKG2D) and hypoxia (Balsamo et al. 2013; Gasser et al. 2005; Li et al. 2009; Ghiringhelli et al. 2005). While these can suppress NK cell functions in the TME, being exposed to conditions prevalent in the TME or dysregulated NK cell receptor signaling may also induce a functional exhaustion of NK cells that impairs their anti-tumor activity. The NK cell exhaustion phenotype is marked by the downregulation of effector cytokines such as IFN-y, impaired degranulation, downregulation of activating receptors such as NKG2D or upregulation of inhibitory receptors such as NKG2A, along with the downregulation of key transcription factors such as T-bet and Eomes (Bi and Tian 2017).

1.2.2.1. NK Cells in Hematological Malignancies

While the role of NK cells in tumor immunosurveillance comes from the indirect evidence of cohort studies, clinical observations from hematological malignancies indicate that a ligand repertoire expression on leukemic blasts of the myeloid lineage favoring NK cell activation is positively linked to better outcome of patients after chemotherapy (Mastaglio et al. 2018). However, NK cells in acute myeloid leukemia (AML), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) are faced with several challenges in the TME (e.g. the bone marrow) and are often found to be dysfunctional especially in patients with advanced disease (Table 1.2).

Malignancy	NK cell phenotype	Clinical Relevance	References
ALL	Strong NK cell effector phenotype	Correlation with minimal residual disease	(Sullivan et al. 2014)
CLL	NK cell number	Correlation with disease stage and prognosis	(Apostolopoulos, Symeonidis, and Zoumbos 1990; Palmer et al. 2008)
CLL	NKp30 downregulation	Correlation with poor prognosis	(Hadadi et al. 2019)
AML	NKp30, NKp44, NKp46 downregulation	Correlation with poor prognosis	(Lion et al. 2012)
AML	NKG2A upregulation	Reduced effectiveness of chemotherapy	(Stringaris et al. 2014)
MDS	Reduced NK cell function and NKG2D downregulation	Association with high-risk disease	(Epling-Burnette et al. 2007)
CML	NKG2D downregulation	Imatinib restored NKG2D expression	(Maghazachi 2010)
Burkitt lymphoma	Reduced cytotoxicity and NKp46, NKp30 and CD160 expression	Correlation with poor prognosis	(Forconi et al. 2018)
T cell lymphoma	Higher NK cell numbers	Correlation with poor prognosis	(Mundy-Bosse et al. 2018)
MM	Soluble MICA production	Correlation with poor prognosis	(Rebmann et al. 2007)

Table 1.2. The role of NK cells in the pathogenesis of hematological malignancies.

ALL, Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia; CLL, Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia; AML, Acute Myeloid Leukemia; MDS, Myelodysplastic Syndrome; CML, Chronic Myeloid Leukemia; MM, Multiple Myeloma (Adapted from (Gonzalez-Rodriguez et al. 2019)).

Several studies show a link between poor NK cell functions and altered NK cell phenotype, subset composition and competence to form an efficient immunological synapse (M. Carlsten et al. 2010; Costello et al. 2002; Epling-Burnette et al. 2007; Stringaris et al. 2014; Khaznadar et al. 2014). Most of these studies share common downregulation of key activating receptors such as the NCRs, DNAM-1 and NKG2D, independent from the subtype of MDS or AML and the loss of these receptors positively correlates with the disease burden (Costello et al. 2002; Sanchez-Correa et al. 2019). However, NK cell function in these settings can be fully or partially be restored in patients achieving complete remission after chemotherapy (Fauriat et al. 2007).

Furthermore, the presence of soluble molecules in the tumor microenvironment secreted by AML blasts and even AML stem cells, can be another factor that

triggers the loss of the activating receptor, NKG2D (Song et al. 2006; Hilpert et al. 2012; N. Boissel et al. 2006). The presence of soluble NKG2D ligands, including MICA, MICB, ULBP1, ULBP2, shed by the tumor cells, has a particularly powerful immunosuppressive effect by downregulating surface NKG2D expression on NK cells. Targeting these molecules has a great deal of therapeutic potential.

While downregulation of activating receptors is a common mechanism to escape from elimination, one other strategy is put forward by the myeloid malignancies along the same receptor-ligand axis. Data show that leukemia cells downregulate ligands of the DNAM-1 receptor to render the cells resistant to NK cell mediated killing (Kearney et al. 2016). Even though leukemic blast in AML patients express very low levels of ULBP and NCR-specific ligands, treatment with differentiationpromoting myeloid growth factors and IFN- γ can revert the resistance from NKG2D and NCRs on NK cells (Nowbakht et al. 2005). In all, intriguing strategies can be elicited by myeloid malignancies to trigger NK cell suppression, reduced NK cell numbers in the vicinity of tumor cells and evade from NK cell-mediated recognition.

1.2.2.2. NK Cells in Solid Tumors

The extent of NK cell infiltration into a solid tumor is a point of discussion, although the consensus is that it can contribute to good prognosis (Habif et al. 2019). Even though studies in head and neck, lung, breast, renal cell tumors demonstrate NK cells in tumor sites with possible clinical benefits, the majority of the tumors show almost complete dismissal of NK cell infiltration at the primary tumor sites (Halama et al. 2011; Muntasell et al. 2019; Eckl et al. 2012; André et al. 2018; Lavin et al. 2017).

A study on melanoma showed poor CD56⁺ NK cell infiltrations in skin lesions, even though highly cytotoxic CD56^{dim}KIR⁺CD57⁺ NK cells were found in tumorinfiltrated lymph nodes (LN) (Erdag et al. 2012; Ali et al. 2014). NKG2D and NKp30 expression were inversely correlated with the number of tumor cells in the infiltrated LN. Also, the downregulation of activating receptors such as NKp30, NKp44 and NKG2D at the surface of PB NK cells in addition to their magnitudes were also associated with tumor growth in cervical cancer patients (Garcia-Iglesias et al. 2009).

Furthermore, when tumor-infiltrating NK cells (NK TILs) in lung carcinoma were analyzed, it was found that they had profoundly impaired cytotoxicity, despite having expression of activating NKp44, CD69 and HLA-DR markers (Lavin et al. 2017). However, the source of failed NK TIL function might be explained by the radical downregulation of other activating receptors such as NKp30 and NKp80 (Platonova et al. 2011). In non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) samples, NK TILs were found to express higher levels of CD96 and PD-1 than those in the circulating NK cells (Carrega et al. 2008). Overall, circulating cytotoxic NK cells have the ability to penetrate into some solid tumors and this is usually associated with good prognosis and better survival. However, most of the cases demonstrate that NK cells are forced to attain an unresponsive phenotype by either downregulation of activating receptors or upregulation of inhibitory receptors at the tumor sites.

Another evasion strategy employed by solid tumors can be the modulation of ligand expression evident on a selection of sarcoma tumors. Ewing sarcoma (EW) cell lines, as well as primary explants have been shown to express the ligands for the activating NK cell receptors, DNAM-1 and NKG2D and could be conferred susceptible to lysis after an *ex vivo* activation of NK cells *in vitro* (Verhoeven et al. 2008). Consistently, osteosarcomas and rhabdosarcoma cell lines have been shown to express CD155 and/or CD112, the ligands for the activating DNAM-1 receptor (Kiany, Huang, and Kleinerman 2017; Boerman et al. 2015). However, many tumor cells express the PCNA molecule, an inhibitory ligand for NK cells, that correlates with poor prognosis, indicating that they express enough PCNA to at least partially inhibit NK cell-mediated killing at the tumor site (Wang et al. 2017).

1.3. NK Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy

Cancer immunotherapy is emerging as a beneficial tool for cancer treatment by activating the body's own immune system to produce anti-tumor effects. In recent

years, the use of targeted therapies with antibodies, small molecules and cell-based (adoptive) immunotherapy has culminated in many clinical breakthroughs in cancer treatment. The impact of such molecules in cancer therapy was appreciated by the Nobel Prize committee for Physiology or Medicine in 2018.

The importance of NK cells in tumor recognition and destruction combined with their pivotal immunoregulatory capacity confer NK cells a promising outlook for cancer immunotherapies. Because they are endowed with intrinsic abilities to preferentially target even stem-like tumor cells without priming, NK cells have been nominated as promising agents for cell-based therapies (Grossenbacher, Canter, and Murphy 2016). Therefore, small molecules and targeted antibodies are included in the development of novel protocols to effectively manipulate NK cell activity and overcome NK cell paralysis in cancers for ultimate integration in NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy.

1.3.1. Modulation of NK Cell Activity

Cytokine-activated NK cells

Cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-2, -12, -15, -18 and -21 serve as small molecule agents to promote differentiation, proliferation, survival and activation of lymphocytes (Floros and Tarhini 2015; Srivastava et al. 2013; S. A. Rosenberg et al. 1989; Phillips et al. 1987; Steven A. Rosenberg 1984). *Ex vivo* manufacturing of NK cells relies on the use of these cytokines in order to expand NK cells in sufficient clinical doses and boost anti-tumor reactivity. Among them, IL-2 is the most studied cytokine, since its first use in patients with advanced cancers (S. A. Rosenberg et al. 1989; Phillips et al. 1987; Steven A. Rosenberg 1984). The initial attempts of high-dose IL-2 therapy have comprised systemic administration of recombinant human (rh) IL-2 alone or in conjunction with adoptive transfer of PB derived autologous NK cells stimulated with IL-2 before injecting into patients. Although NK cells turn into lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells upon stimulation, exhibit enhanced proliferation and cytotoxicity owing to upregulation of NKp44, NKG2D, FasL, TRAIL, perforin, granzymes *in vitro*, their anti-tumor efficacy are not consistently effective in most cancer patients due to adverse

systemic complications and selective expansion of regulatory T cells (Tregs) that are activated by their IL-2 high affinity receptor (IL- $2\alpha\beta\gamma$) (Rodella et al. 2001; Sim et al. 2014). These results lead to the development of alternative forms of IL-2. An updated recombinant IL-2 has been constructed with increased *in vitro* affinity for the IL-2/15R β subunit expressed only by NK cells, to exclude Tregs (Levin et al. 2012). Alternatively, other mutant forms of IL-2, such as F42K, show reduced affinity for IL-2Ra, but pronounced activating NK cell functions (Sim et al. 2016). A superior alternative to IL-2 is IL-15, which can preferentially induce NK cell maturation and survival (Cooper et al. 2002). Indeed, administration of exogenous IL-15 has been shown to maintain NK cell survival, in vivo persistence and therapeutic efficacy, without inducing Treg expansion (Waldmann 2006). However, short half-life and poorly tolerated doses in patients might jeopardize the clinical use of rhIL-15. The biological function of rhIL-15 inspires new clinical trials where it is used in combination with other cytokines and antibodies (NCT03388632:nivolumab and ipilimumab)(Waldmann et al. 2020). Moreover, a superagonist of IL-15 called ALT-803, in which an IL-15Ra sushi domain fused to IgG1Fc complexed with IL-15 mutein (N72D), was shown to potently enhance NK cell survival and cytotoxicity in many clinical settings, in comparison to its native form (Felices et al. 2017; Romee et al. 2018). This fusion protein not only stimulates typical trans presentation of IL-15, but also prolongs its half-life, which may lead to enhanced ADCC against human carcinoma cells (Fantini et al. 2019). Results from phase I and II clinical studies with ALT-803 proved to be safe, well-tolerated with no severe dose-limiting toxicities and GVHD in patients with hematological (relapsed/refractory MM, AML, ALL and MDS) and solid tumors. Also, all patients exhibited expansion and activation of circulating NK and CD8⁺ T cells with minimal stimulation of Tregs. These clinical trials involving patients with both hematological malignancies and solid tumors or in combination with adoptive therapy of NK cells, or with nivolumab are currently being investigated more thoroughly (Margolin et al. 2018; Wrangle et al. 2018; Fantini et al. 2019).

Notably, the use of IL-15 in combination with IL-2 shows a synergic impact on viability and proliferation of an *ex vivo* expanded NK cell product (Siegler et al. 2010). This underlines the requirement of cytokine cocktails to achieve potency in terms of cell numbers and efficacy. Therefore, new expansion methods are being
exploited for pre-activation of PB-derived NK cells using cytokine combinations. Interestingly, one such cocktail of IL-12, -15, -18, was observed to prime NK cells with long-lasting enhanced NK cell functions enduring even after withdrawal (Romee et al. 2016). These cytokine-induced memory-like NK cells with robust anti-tumor capacity against leukemia targets and have phenotypic expression of NKG2A, NKG2C and CD94, but reduced inhibitory KIRs. The reports from clinical trials in patients with AML described the peculiar features of this artificial NK cell product as antigen unspecific with pronounced proliferative capacity, *in vivo* persistence up to 3 months, superior IFN- γ production and cytotoxicity upon *ex vivo* restimulation (Romee et al. 2016; 2012). Although cytokine regimens hold great promise for adoptive NK cell therapy, their limitations to dose-dependency, cytokine-induced NK-cell apoptosis and long-term cytokine exposure causing NK cell exhaustion should carefully be evaluated (Chambers, Lupo, and Matosevic 2018).

Tumor-Specific Antibodies to Mediate ADCC of NK cells

Tumor-specific antibodies are monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that work partially by inducing NK cell-mediated ADCC through the binding of the IgG Fc entity and the activating CD16 receptor on NK cells. While they lead a preponderant role in cell-mediated immunity, NK cells also modulate adaptive responses and provide long-term protection through ADCC (Michaud et al. 2014). Leading evidence on the importance of ADCC comes from anti-CD20 (rituximab)-treated non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients, and anti-HER2 (herceptin)-treated metastatic breast cancer patients (Iannello and Ahmad 2005; Sondel and Alderson 2011). Intriguing modifications are applied to monoclonal antibody designs to alter antibody structure to reduce complement activation and augment NK cell-ADCC function, while at the same time refraining from antibody-induced allodynia (Sorkin et al. 2010). Humanized anti-GD2 mAb can induce ADCC and simultaneously reduce toxicity associated with recombinant anti-GD2 therapy (Navid, M. Santana, and C. Barfield 2010).

Some studies focus on improving the binding affinity for Fc receptors through mutagenesis or glycosylation. Having the substitution S239D/I332E, Fc optimized

CD133 antibody had higher affinity to NK cells, subsequently, showing potent degranulation against human AML blasts in a xenograft model (Koerner et al. 2017). Recently, mAb 7C6 directed against the sites responsible for proteolytic shedding of important immunostimulatory ligands such as MICA/B and prevent their loss on cancer cells (De Andrade et al. 2018). These antibodies provided evidence that NK cells can be redirected against tumor targets by activation of NKG2D and CD16 and induce elevated anti-tumor immunity in a metastasis model pretreated with human NK cells.

Releasing the Breaks on NK cells: Targeting the Immune Checkpoints

Monoclonal antibodies targeting immune checkpoint receptors or ligands aim to unleash a blocked response and increase anti-tumor effects. One of the main inhibitory receptors is the inhibitory KIRs, which can be targeted by fully human anti-KIR antibodies (e.g. IPH2101 or IPH2102) (Benson et al. 2015; Vey et al. 2018). IPH2101 and IPH2102 are engineered immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) clinical grade mAbs that have high affinity for inhibitory KIR2D moieties, blocking its interaction with HLA-C ligands. In vitro, they dose-dependently augment NK cellmediated killing of autologous HLA-C expressing and antibody coated tumor cells (Vey et al. 2018). The safety and tolerability of IPH2101 were reported in phase I clinical trials in patients with AML or relapsed refractory MM (Benson et al. 2012; Vey et al. 2018). However, phase II clinical studies unexpectedly demonstrated that systemic infusion of IPH2101 significantly reduced KIR2D expression on NK cells and provoke a hyporesponsive state on NK cells, probably due to trogocytosis of NK surface expression, in multiple myeloma and smoldering multiple myeloma (Mattias Carlsten et al. 2016; Korde et al. 2014). These results suggest that IPH2101 antibody mediated KIR2D blockade in vivo might be restricted by loss of KIR2D on NK cells and thus, failed to show therapeutic value. Moreover, high NKG2A expression is a hallmark of tumor-infiltrating T and NK cells which leads to poor prognosis and exhaustion phenomenon in many malignancies such as liver cancer (C. Sun et al. 2017). IPH2201, is a novel anti-NKG2A mAb which demonstrated elevated in vivo NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity to engrafted human primary leukemia cells or Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) cell lines (Ruggeri et al. 2016). In particular, the interim results of a phase II trial combining IPH2201 with cetuximab (epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) antibody) in combination with PD-1 axis blockade reported boosted tumor immunity by rescuing the effector functions of both NK and T cells against B cell lymphoma, solid tumors and T cell lymphoma)(André et al. 2018).

Other inhibitory receptors such as PD-1, TIGIT, CD96, Tim-3 are often induced or upregulated on tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and affect NK cell functions in tumor settings, resulting in dysfunction or functional exhaustion. Therapeutic mAbs are designed to block these receptors or their ligands in order to ameliorate anti-tumor activity, which can further improve NK cell-based immunotherapy protocols. Blocking PD-1/PD-L1 signaling considerably improves cytotoxicity and cytokine production of NK cells and suppresses tumor growth *in vivo* (Liu et al. 2017). The inhibitory receptor, TIGIT, competes with DNAM-1 to bind their shared ligands (CD112 and CD155) while CD96 shares binding of CD155 with DNAM-1, as previously mentioned. The balance between these three receptors determines NK cell reactivity towards tumor targets. In cancer patients, NK cells in the tumor microenvironment upregulate TIGIT and CD96 expression and this leads to NK cell exhaustion, accompanied by poor cytolytic potential (H. Sun et al. 2019; Zhou et al. 2018). Blocking TIGIT with mAbs can abolish this functional paralysis and rescue NK cell-dependent anti-tumor responses in several tumor-bearing mouse models (Q. Zhang et al. 2018). Intervening CD96-CD155 axis can potentially reverse both NK and T cell exhaustion and restore their effector functions. At present, the safety and efficacy of anti-TIGIT mAbs, alone or in conjunction with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 Abs, are being tested in clinical trials in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors (NCT03119428, NCT03563716, NCT03628677)(Sanchez-Correa et al. 2019). Still, the dearth of evidence in different disease settings does not dismiss their potential value for combined therapies. Further investigation should examine the efficacy of mAb derivatives targeting the inhibitory checkpoint receptors in various disease settings.

Immunomodulatory drugs (IMiDs)

In addition to cytokines (discussed above), immunomodulatory drugs (IMiDs) are used as exogenous agents to directly or indirectly manipulate NK cells and provide better targeting of cancer cells (Dahlberg et al. 2015). Many clinical trials with IMiDs have been reported in the context of both hematological and solid malignancies (Pan and Lentzsch 2012). In multiple myeloma, thalidomide triggers NK cell-mediated blast lysis by activating their cytotoxicity and ADCC functions (Hayashi et al. 2005). Some of these drugs can induce expression of activating ligands on tumor cells or promote the recruitment of NK cells to the tumor microenvironment (TME) by increasing secretion of selected chemokines (Cifaldi et al. 2017). Lenalidomide is proved to be the most effective to overcome suppression of NK cells by TME-associated IL-6 and TGF- β . It lowers the threshold of MICA for NKG2D-mediated NK activation and induces TRAIL upregulation on NK cells, thereby improving expansion and anti-tumor activity (Jungkunz-Stier et al. 2014; Zhu et al. 2008; Xu et al. 2013). However, in the clinical setting, lenalidomide is usually used in combination with other modalities such as monoclonal antibodies anti-inhibitory KIR antibody therapy to sustain better yield in NK cell recognition and lysis in patients with MM (Benson et al. 2015).

1.3.2. Adoptive NK Cell Immunotherapy

1.3.2.1. Autologous NK Cells

Adoptive transfer of autologous NK cells has been tested in clinical trials for malignancies ranging from lung cancer, colon cancer, breast cancer to lymphoma (Cifaldi et al. 2017; Burns et al. 2003; Krause et al. 2004; deMagalhaes-Silverman et al. 2000). In general, this strategy serves as the safe option without excessive toxicity, especially in case of *ex vivo* pre-activation by cytokines or heat-shock protein 70-peptide. Although these provided an *in vitro* boost to NK cell lytic activity and *in vivo* persistence in circulation, patients with metastatic melanoma or renal cell carcinoma could not yet exhibit tumor regression due to significant downregulation of activating NKG2D receptor expression (Parkhurst et al. 2011). Only minor anti-tumor efficacy was observed in glioma, while no improvement was observed in relapsed lymphoma or breast cancer (Ishikawa et al. 2004; deMagalhaes-Silverman et al. 2000; Burns et al. 2003). The main reason is that the

inhibitory receptors on autologous NK cells match their self MHC I ligands on tumor cells and this recognition of the self inevitably suppress autologous NK cells *in vivo*. Besides, as mentioned before, autologous NK cells obtained from cancer patients are in an immunosuppressed state with impaired functions (e.g. dysfunction due to exhaustion) explaining this dismal performance. Blocking autologous NK cell expressed inhibitory receptors specific for MHC class I by using anti-KIR mAbs can unleash this NK cell inhibition, which is currently being tested in phase I clinical trials (Vey et al. 2018).

1.3.2.2.Allogeneic NK cells

Expanded NK cell therapy gains a lot of attention with the use of allogeneic cell products in the context of leukemia, lymphoma, renal cell carcinoma and melanoma. Here, the major risk is the development of graft-versus-host (GvHD) which can be avoided to some extent using immunosuppression or by high purity CD3 depletion. However, in a study by Ruggeri et al., it has been confirmed that donor natural killer cell alloreactivity, due to KIR ligand incompatibility, could eliminate relapse and graft rejection bypassing GvHD in AML patients receiving HLA mismatch donor transplantation (Ruggeri et al. 2002). Therefore, this is later adapted to immunotherapy of ex vivo activated allogeneic KIR/KIR ligand mismatched PBderived NK cells in AML patients (Miller et al. 2005). Since then, use of alloreactive PB-derived NK cells for immunotherapy has been examined in clinical trials. As such, phase I clinical trials of non-small cell lung cancer with repeated dose of allogeneic NK cells have shown no sign of toxicity and adverse reaction, but significant clinical effectiveness when coupled to chemotherapy (Iliopoulou et al. 2010). This haploidentical transplantation (mismatch) can prove effective with good prognosis, only if a strict two-step purification of leukapheresis is applied maintaining CD3 depletion and CD56 enrichment (Miller et al. 2005). Rules for an effective allogeneic NK cell infusion have been reviewed by Leung et al. (Leung 2014).

1.3.2.3. Adoptive transfer of the NK-92 cell line

NK cells are potent effectors not only for their cognate cytotoxicity but also for orchestrating subsequent immune responses. Therefore, they are regarded as strong candidates for cellular therapy of patients with malignancies or severe viral infections. However, efforts to manufacture therapeutic NK cells for adoptive immunotherapy faced certain challenges so far. Using autologous NK cells isolated from peripheral blood are not very effective, as they are functionally silenced upon encountering self-MHC antigens. On the other hand, infusing KIR-mismatched allogeneic NK cell infusions can avoid suppression by the missing-self recognition in certain cases, although it has the risk of compromising patients for GvHD reactions, surprisingly even after CD3 lymphocyte depletion (Shah et al. 2015). There is also a limit to the number of ex vivo expanded NK cells than can be obtained and the issue of donor-dependent variations which raises concerns for logistics and cost. For these reasons, a continuously growing NK cell line, providing predictable numbers of highly cytotoxic NK cells on expansion, was established. The NK-92 cell line (an NK cell leukemia cell line) has been investigated most thoroughly and has already been applied in clinical settings (T. Tonn et al. 2001; Klingemann, Boissel, and Toneguzzo 2016). NK-92 cells express many hallmark activating receptors such as NKp30, NKp44, NKp46, NKG2D and yet, lack most of the inhibitor receptors such as TIGIT and PD-1, except for CD94-NKG2A and low levels of KIR2DL4 (Gong, Maki, and Klingemann 1994; Maki et al. 2001). This unique phenotype confers a broad range of malignant cells susceptible to highly cytotoxic NK-92 cells. General safety and in vivo persistence of infused gamma-irradiated NK-92 cells have already been established in several clinical trials (Arai et al. 2008; Torsten Tonn et al. 2013). As allogeneic NK cells, NK-92 is the only cell line to be approved for clinical trials and exhibited no toxicity or tissue specific side effects in patients with advanced melanoma and renal carcinoma (T. Tonn et al. 2001). In fact, this established cell line has the potential to be a molecularly and functionally well-characterized cell product expanded under good manufacturing practice (GMP)-compliance as an off-the-shelf therapeutic product (Suck et al. 2016). Unfortunately, the NK-92 cell line lacks CD16 expression and cannot mediate ADCC. Therefore, the use of NK-92 cell line should be avoided in case of monoclonal antibody studies, unless they are genetically modified to express CD16 receptor (Jochems et al. 2016). However, the robust *ex vivo* expansion of homogenous cell populations to large-scale production, exquisite safety, in addition to the ease of genetic manipulation renders this cell line superior to primary NK cells and an ideal platform for NK cell-based adoptive immunotherapy.

1.4. Genetic Modification (GM) of NK cells

It has been more than a decade now since the first reports have established the antitumor efficacy of NK cells in patients with cancer (Miller et al. 2005; Ruggeri et al. 2002; Kärre 2002). Despite this revelation, uncertainties about NK cells' *in vivo* persistence, lack of antigen specificity and relinquished ability to home to tumor niches following infusions obscure their therapeutic potential for cancer immunotherapy. Tumor cells develop escape strategies to resist attacks from endogenous NK cells which can be overcome through modulation of NK cell activity by *ex vivo* activation and expansion. However, genetic modification of NK cells to overcome the suppression in tumors, to improve cytotoxicity or to enhance tumor target recognition may hold the key to advance the efficacy of NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy.

1.4.1. GM Methods for Immunotherapy

Genetic modification strategies aim to genetically reprogram the cells in an effort to maximize their anti-tumor potential and eventually, improve the outcome of adoptive immunotherapy. Until relatively recently, studies on genetically engineering NK cells have proven to be rather challenging due to poor transgene delivery and method-related NK cell apoptosis. However, among many different modalities of gene delivery into NK cells, viral transduction seems to successfully sustain long-term desirable changes. As it can be naturally anticipated, NK cells are inherently resistant to viral transduction. NK cells possess innate immune receptors such as pattern recognition receptors that recognize foreign genomic material and

they are likely to trigger apoptosis upon viral transduction which can be modulated by small molecule inhibitors of innate immune signaling (Sutlu et al. 2012). Studies on viral transduction of NK cells shows that high transduction efficiencies can only be achieved using either NK cell lines such as NK-92 cell line or primary NK cells that have undergone *ex vivo* expansion. Although viral transduction of primary resting human NK cells typically demonstrates substantial gene delivery efficiencies, the use of retro- and lentiviral vectors have been proven to be a safe and most effective tools to genetically modify NK cells (Bari et al. 2019).

Lentiviral Gene Delivery

Most recent studies on genetic modification of NK cells have reported that lentiviral vectors ensure efficient and robust gene delivery (Waller et al. 2017; Colamartino et al. 2019; Müller et al. 2020). The most prominent power of lentiviral vectors over retroviral vectors is that they incorporate transgenes into both dividing and nondividing cells. It has been shown that pseudotyped lentiviral vectors encoding eGFP provide a transduction rate of above 20% in in freshly isolated human NK cells with a sustained transgene expression for at least 21 days (Colamartino et al. 2019).

Additionally, lentiviral vectors induce transgene alteration without causing any distortions to phenotypic and functional characteristics of NK cells. Although most studies on lentiviral transduction of NK cell lines have reported efficiencies of 15 – 40%, it highly varies from a few percent to almost 100% in case of primary NK cells (Micucci et al. 2006; Savan, Chan, and Young 2010). In such cases of poor transduction efficiencies, multiple rounds of transduction (Micucci et al. 2006) or use of inhibitors against pattern-recognition receptors (Sutlu et al. 2012) may be used to compensate for acceptable transgene expression. Unfortunately, these studies rarely report the viability of NK cells after lentiviral gene delivery. Therefore, optimized protocols are required to achieve maximum transgene delivery without incurring any deleterious effects on NK cell viability, phenotype, or function. Nevertheless, lentiviral transduction of NK cells does deliver stable transgene expression which, depending on how they are genetically modified, might provide durable and long-term clinical response.

Modality	Strategy	Molecul	Method	Reference
In vivo	Cvtokine	IL-2	RV	(Nagashima et al. 1998:
persistence	stimulation			Konstantinidis et al.
-		IL-15	RV, LV	2005)
				(Imamura et al. 2014;
				Sahm, Schönfeld, and
				Wels 2012; W. Jiang, Zhang and Tion 2008:
				Wen Jiang et al 2014)
Cytotoxicity	Redirected	α CD19	RV, LV	(L. Boissel et al. 2012;
<i>v v</i>	targeting	CAR		2009; Shimasaki et al.
				2012)
		- NICOD	DV	$(\mathbf{D}_{1}, \mathbf{u}_{1}^{2}) = (1, 20, 10)$
		α NKG2D- L CAP	ΚV	(Parinar et al. 2019)
		LCAK		
		TCR	RV, LV	(Mensali et al. 2019;
				Parlar et al. 2019)
Enhanced	Receptor	NKG2A	LV	(Figueiredo, Seltsam, and
activation	silencing	(shRNA)		Blasczyk 2009)
		NKG2A	ΡV	$(K_{\text{amive et al}}, 2010)$
		(PEBLs)	IX V	(Rannya et al. 2017)
	Receptor	NKG2D	RV, LV	(Kamiya, Chang, and
	activation			Campana 2016; Parihar
				et al. 2019; Y. H. Chang
				et al. 2013)

Table 1.3. Overview of genetic modification strategies followed for improving anti-tumor efficacy of NK cells in pre-clinical models.

RV, retroviral transduction; LV, lentiviral transduction; CAR, chimeric antigen receptor.

1.4.2. Genetically Modified (GM) NK cells in Cancer Immunotherapy

Challenges associated with genetic manipulation of NK cells have delayed the debut of how NK cells can be modified and implemented in clinics for cancer immunotherapy. Unraveling the strategies to genetically manipulate NK cells has introduced countless possibilities not only to study the role of NK cells in tumor targeting but also to improve their anti-tumor cytotoxicity. Although further optimization of clinically compliant methods for genetic modification of NK cells is still required, today, it is easier to design modification strategies to generate engineered NK cells with improved *in vivo* persistence, retargeted tumor cytotoxicity, or enhanced activation by overexpressing activating receptors or diminishing inhibitory receptors (Table 1.3).

Strategies to redirected tumor cytotoxicity

Enhanced antigen specificity is a prerequisite for immune cells to induce tumor regression without causing damage to healthy tissue. Even though NK cells possess immense anti-tumor capacity, NK cell-mediated tumor immunosurveillance was limited in most of the malignancies mostly due to their lack of target specificity. Recent studies have been exploring ways to harness the intrinsic anti-tumor capacity of other immune cells and apply those to genetically modify NK cells for the recognition of antigens specifically expressed on tumor cells (or tumor associated antigens, TAA). So far, two such strategies have been further examined to equip NK cells for treating hematologic and solid malignancies; chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) or T cell receptors (TCR)(Figure 1.3).

The majority of studies have reported that NK cells can be genetically modified to express CARs. CARs are engineered receptors that have extracellular antigenspecific variable part of a tumor antigen antibody fused with intracellular signaling adaptors (e.g. CD3ζ, CD28, 4-1BB) to enable high antigen specific recognition of tumor antigens and tumors. CAR designs are extensively studied on T cells and a significant breakthrough success was recorded for anti-CD19 CAR T cell therapy in patients with B cell malignancies. This prompted the research community to investigate a wide array of CARs against multiple different epitopes on several types of tumors (Dotti et al. 2014). Importantly, these receptors do not rely on stimulation from any activating or co-receptors to trigger robust anti-tumor cytotoxicity. Therefore, the effect of these CARs expression have been explored and characterized in several NK settings including primary cells isolated from donor blood, ex vivo expanded primary cells, and NK cell lines (C. Zhang et al. 2017) (Table1.3). Among these designs, the use of gene-modified natural killer cells bearing a CAR receptor with extracellular expression of the activating receptor NKG2D were redirected against ligand on leukemia and solid tumors, which transcended the efficacy of this approach (Parihar et al. 2019; Y. H. Chang et al. 2013).

An alternative method to redirect NK cells for specific tumor antigens can reside in TCR engineering strategies. TCR gene delivery can supply large populations of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes targeted against intracellular antigens. However, the use of NK cells in TCR engineering brings certain sophistication to the technique, since NK cells avoid mispairing of endogenous TCR chains with genetically transferred TCR subunits that is presented in T cells. Studies involving TCR engineered NK cells, more specifically the NK-92 cell line that is FDA-approved for allogeneic use as mentioned before, showed that ectopic expression of $\alpha\beta$ TCR can induce the expression of a functional antigen-specific TCR directed against an HLA-A2 restricted tyrosinase-derived melanoma epitope (Parlar et al. 2019). Similarly, another study provided evidence that these TCR-NK-92 cells, compared to unmodified NK-92 cells, have a novel gene expression pattern which resembled those of primary effector T and NK cells (Mensali et al. 2019). In fact, upon TCR engineering, the NK-92 cells acquired the phenotypic, metabolic, and functional characteristics of T cells, while maintaining the typical effector functions of NK cells.

Overall, introduction of genes that equip NK cells with CAR or TCR can redirect them against surface molecules or intracellular antigens expressed by tumor cells. Several studies have shown that CAR or TCR engineered NK cells hold great promise for clinical use in cancer immunotherapy. However, only a few of them have been translated into clinical studies. Therefore, it is crucial to further optimize the construct designs, as well as to characterize their effect in the TME, in order to pave their way for potential applications in NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy.



Figure 1.3. Strategies to genetically modify NK cells against tumor cells. (Adapted from (Dahlberg et al. 2015)).

Strategies to enhance NK cell activation

As NK cell degranulation is regulated by a balance of activating and inhibitory signals from well-defined cell surface receptors, it may be possible to modulate the receptor expression through genetic modification, thereby fine tuning the NK cell responses for favorable NK-tumor cell interactions. Overexpression of activating cell surface receptors in NK cells can augment their anti-tumor responses by increasing sensitivity towards activating ligands expressed on tumor cells (Figure 1.3). As mentioned earlier (in section 1.2.2.1), tumor cells may shed activating ligands in order to escape from elimination. In such cases, higher expression of the activating receptor (e.g. NKG2D) can make saturation by shed ligands less likely, and hence, less susceptible to their potentially dampening effects. A recent report indicates that NK cells endowed with NKG2D-CD3^{\zeta} receptor expression have the abrupt capacity to target myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment, decreasing their inhibition of CD8⁺ T cells and increasing antitumor capacity of even CAR T cells (Parihar et al. 2019). NKG2D-modified NK cells showed substantially greater cytotoxicity against a wide range of tumor cell lines in vitro and in xenograft models, while toxicity towards non-transformed cells such as other lymphocytes, remained low (Y. H. Chang et al. 2013; Kamiya, Chang, and Campana 2016).

Moreover, another way to tilt the balance in favor of activation is to circumvent NK cell inhibitory signals induced upon interaction with tumor cells (Figure 1.3). For this purpose, genetic reprograming of NK cells can be directed to achieve specific protein silencing. Early studies have focused shRNAs to knock-down expression of the HLA-E-binding inhibitory NK cell receptor NKG2A (Figueiredo, Seltsam, and Blasczyk 2009). Using lentiviral vectors containing shRNA sequences, the killing capacity of IL-2 activated NK cells were increased by 40% against HLA-E expressing K562 cell line. Later, this CD94-NKG2A complex was targeted by using protein expression blocker. These constructs contain a single-chain variable fragment derived from an anti-NKG2A antibody linked to endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-retention signals that hold the newly synthesized NKG2A in the ER and prevent its transport to the cell membrane (Kamiya et al. 2019). After transducing human peripheral blood NK cells, these NKG2A protein expression blockers (PEBLs) were shown to abrogate NKG2A expression, which resulted in more potent cytotoxicity than interference with an anti-NKG2A blocking antibody.

2. AIM OF THE STUDY

The overall aim of this study was to establish a novel *in vitro* cell-based genetic screening platform in genetically modified NK-92 cells expressing different activating receptors in order to identify targetable response-triggering receptors for various applications in patient-tailored cancer immunotherapy approaches.

With the following delineated sub-aims listed:

- Molecular cloning of NK cell surface receptors into lentiviral vectors.
- Generation of genetically modified (GM) NK-92 cells constituting the screening platform.
- Phenotypic and functional evaluation of the GM NK-92 cells.
- Assessment of the feasibility of the cell-based screening platform against well-established human cancer cell lines.
- Application of the cell-based screening platform against primary human sarcoma explants.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Materials

3.1.1. Chemicals

All the chemicals used in this thesis are listed in Appendix A.

3.1.2. Equipment

All the chemicals used in this thesis are listed in Appendix B.

3.1.3. Buffers and solutions

<u>Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) Solution:</u> 60mM CaCl₂ (diluted from 1M stock), 15% Glycerol, 10mM PIPES (pH 7.00) were mixed and sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 minutes and stored at 4 °C.

<u>Agarose Gel:</u> For 100 ml 1% w/v gel, 1 g of agarose powder was dissolved in 100 ml 0.5X TBE buffer by heating. 0.01% (v/v) ethidium bromide was added to the solution.

<u>Tris-Borate-EDTA (TBE) Buffer:</u> For 1 L 5X stock solution, 54 g Tris-base, 27.5 g boric acid, and 20 ml 0.5M EDTA (pH 8.00) were dissolved in 1 L of ddH₂O. The solution is stored at room temperature (RT) and diluted 1 to 10 with ddH₂O for working solution of 0.5X TBE.

<u>HBS solution (2X)</u>: 280 mM NaCl, 50mM HEPES, and 1.5 mM Na₂HPO₄ adjust pH to 7.1 with 10 M NaOH, sterilize by passing through with 0.22 μ m filter. Store at - 20 °C.

3.1.4. Growth media

<u>Luria Broth (LB)</u>: For 1 L 1X LB media, 20 g LB powder was dissolved in 1 L ddH2O and then autoclaved at 121°C for 15 minutes. For puromycin selection, at a final concentration of 100 μ g/ml ampicillin was added to liquid medium just before use.

<u>LB Agar</u>: For 1X agar medium in 400 ml in 1 L glass bottle, add 8 g LB powder and 6 g bacterial agar powder were dissolved in 400 ml ddH2O and then autoclaved at 121°C for 15 minutes. Then, autoclaved LB agar is mixed with antibiotic of interest at a desired ratio onto sterile Petri dishes. Sterile agar plates were kept at 4°C.

<u>Complete DMEM for sarcoma explants:</u> Sarcoma explants were cultured in complete Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, high glucose GlutaMAX; Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gibco), 1X MEM non-essential amino acids (NEAA), 1X antibiotic-antimycotic and 25 mM HEPES.

<u>Complete DMEM for cell lines:</u> HEK293FT, MeWo, SK-MEL-28, Capan-2 cells were maintained in DMEM (GlutaMAX; Gibco) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 0.1 mM NEAA, 25mM HEPES solution, 2 mM L-glutamine and 1 mM sodium pyruvate.

<u>Complete EMEM for cell lines:</u> SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in Eagle's Minimum Essential medium (EMEM; ATCC) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivatedFBS and Caco-2 cells were maintained in EMEM (ATCC) supplied with 20 % FBS.

<u>Complete RPMI 1640:</u> NK-92 cell line is maintained in culture in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI1640; Gibco) supplemented with 20% heat-inactivated FBS, 10³ U/mlhuman recombinant Interleukin-2 (IL-2, Proleukin, Novartis) is culture every 2 days, 25mM HEPES, 2mM L-Glutamine, 1X MEM vitamins, 0.1mM NEAA, 1mM sodium pyruvate, and 0.1 mM 2-mercaptoethanol(Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO,USA).

K562, THP-1, LNCaP, PC-3, ARH-77, RPMI8226, DM6 and A375 cell lines were maintained in culture in RPMI1640 supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS,

while U266 cells were cultured in RPMI1640 (GlutaMAX; Gibco) supplied with 15% FBS.

<u>Complete McCoy's 5A medium for cell lines:</u> Saos-2 and U-2 OS cell lines were maintained in McCoy's 5A mediumsupplied with 15 % and 10 % FBS, respectively. A549 cells were cultured in F-12K medium (ATCC) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS.

All culture media listed above were stored at +4 °C and brought to room temperature prior to use. Cell culture media were carefully monitored for any pH change and freshly used according to suggested expiration dates. All supplements used in culture media were purchased from Gibco, until specified otherwise (see Appendix A for detail).

<u>Freezing medium</u>: All the cell lines were frozen in heat-inactivated FBS containing 6% DMSO (v/v).

3.1.5. Commercial kits used in this study

Table 2.1. List of commercial kits used in this study.

Commercial Kit	Vendor
Nucleo Spin [®] Gel and PCR Clean-up Kit	Macherey-Nagel, Germany
Nucleo Spin® Plasmid Midiprep Kit	Macherey-Nagel, Germany
Nucleo Spin® Plasmid Miniprep Kit	Macherey-Nagel, Germany
Calcium Phosphate Transfection Kit	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO,USA

3.1.6. Enzymes

Table 3.2. List of enzymes used in this study.

Enzyme Name	Vendor
BamHI - HF	New England Biolabs, MA, USA
EcoRI - HF	New England Biolabs, MA, USA

3.1.7. Antibodies

 Table 3.3.
 List of antibodies used in this study.

Antibody Identity	Clone	Isotype Control Antibody	Vendor
APC Anti-human	P30-15	APC Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD337 (NKp30)		IgG1 к	
PE-Cy7Anti-human	p44-8	PE-Cy7 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD336 (NKp44)		IgG1 к	
BV510Anti-human	9E.2	BV510 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD335 (NKp46)		IgG1 к	
PEAnti-human NKp80	5D12	PE Conjugated MouseIgG1	Biolegend
		Κ	
APC Anti-human	BY55	APC Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD160		IgM к	
PE-Cy7 Anti-human	BY55	PE-Cy7 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD161		IgG1 к	
BV510 Anti-human	T271	BV510 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD27		IgG1 к	
PE Anti-human	C1.7	PE Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD244 (2B4)		IgG1 к	
APC-Cy7Anti-human	RPA-2.10	APC-Cy7 Conjugated	Biolegend
CD2		Mouse IgG1 к	
APC Anti-human	11A8	APC Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD226 (DNAM-1)		IgG1 к	
PE-Cy7 Anti-human	162.1	PE-Cy7 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CRACC		IgG2b к	
AF647 Anti-human	131411	AF647 Conjugated Mouse	R&D
NKG2A/CD159a		IgG2a	Systems
APC Anti-human	134591	APC Conjugated Mouse	R&D
NKG2C/CD159c		IgG1	Systems
BV510 Anti-human	1D11	BV510 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
NKG2D		IgG1 к	
PEAnti-human CD352	NT-7	PE Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
(NTB-A)		IgG1 к	
BV421Anti-human	NCAM16.2	BV421 Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend

CD56		IgG1 к	
PE Anti-human CD56	5.1H11	PE Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
		IgG1 к	
BV421Anti-human	NCAM16.2	BV421 Conjugated Mouse	BD
CD56		IgG2b к	Pharmingen
PE Anti-human	H4A3	PE Conjugated Mouse	BD
CD107a		IgG1 к	Pharmingen
PE Anti-human	H4A3	PE Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
CD107a		IgG1 к	
APC Anti-human	MAb11	APC Conjugated Mouse	Biolegend
TNF-α		IgG1 к	
APC-Cy7Anti-human	B27	APC-Cy7 Conjugated	Biolegend
IFN-γ		Mouse IgG1 к	
Purified anti-human	SKII.4	Mouse IgG1 к	Biolegend
CD155 (PVR)			
Purified anti-human	DX11	Mouse IgG1 к	BD
CD226 (DNAM-1)			Pharmingen
Purified anti-human	1D11	Mouse IgG1 к	Biolegend
CD314 (NKG2D)			

3.1.8. Bacterial strains

Escherichia coli (*E.coli*) Top10 strain is used for plasmid amplifications and lentiviral construct amplifications.

3.1.9. Mammalian cell lines

<u>HEK293FT:</u> Human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK293) cell line derivative that stably expresses the large T antigen of SV40 virus and has fast-growing specificity (Invitrogen R70007).

<u>NK-92:</u> Human natural killer cell line was derived from a non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patient isolated in the year 1992(ATCC[®] CRL 2407[™]).

<u>K562:</u> K562 is an established human immortalized myelogenous leukemia line is a model cell line derived from a 53 years old female chronic myelogenous leukemia patient in blast crisis (ATCC® CCL- 243TM).

<u>THP-1:</u> Human acute monocytic leukemia cell line provided leukemic blasts isolated from peripheral blood of 1-year old infant (ATCC \otimes TIB-202TM).

<u>U266:</u> Human B cell lymphoma cell line was derived from peripheral blood of 53 years old male plasmacytoma patient (ATCC® TIB-196TM).

<u>ARH-77:</u> Human B lymphoblast cell line was isolated from plasma cell leukemia patient and immortalized by Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) transformation (ATCC® CRL-1621TM).

<u>RPMI8226:</u> Human B lymphocyte cell was derived from peripheral blood of a plasmacytoma patient (ATCC® CRM-CCL-155TM).

<u>A549:</u> Human primary lung adenocarcinoma cell line was derived from epithelial lung tissue of a 58 years old carcinoma patient (ATCC \otimes CCL-185TM).

<u>Caco-2</u>: Human primary epithelial cell line that was originally derived from a colon carcinoma (ATCC \otimes HTB-37TM).

<u>Capan-2</u>: Human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell line was established in 1975 from primary tumor of a 56 years old patient with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (ATCC® HTB-80TM).

<u>PC-3:</u> Human prostate cancer cell line that was isolated from metastatic epithelial tissue from 62-year-old adenocarcinoma patient (ATCC® CRL-1435TM).

<u>LNCaP</u>: Human metastatic prostate carcinoma cell line that was originally isolated in 1977 from the lymph node of a patient with prostate cancer (ATCC® CRL-1740TM).

<u>A375:</u> Human malignant melanoma cell line was isolated from 54-year-old patient. It was a kind gift from Prof. Michael Nishimura (Loyola University Chicago, IL, USA).

<u>DM6:</u> Human melanoma cell line was initiated through explant culture of a solid tumor in lymph node tissue in Duke University Medical Center, Durham, USA. It was kindly provided as a gift from Dr. Hillard F. Seigler (Department of Immunology, Duke University Medical Center).

<u>MeWo:</u> Human melanoma cell line was initiated in 1974 from 78 years old malignant melanoma patient (ATCC $\mbox{\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}}$ HTB-65TM).

<u>SK-MEL-28:</u>Human patient-derived melanoma cell line was isolated from 51 years old patient (ATCC® HTB-72TM).

<u>SH-SY5Y:</u> Human metastatic neuroblastoma cell line was a subline of the SK-N-SH cell line that was established from in 1970 from a bone marrow biopsy of a metastatic neuroblastoma patient (ATCC® CRL-2266TM).

<u>U-2 OS:</u> Human osteosarcoma cell line was cultivated in 1964 from the bone marrow tissue (tibia) of a patient suffering from osteosarcoma (ATCC \otimes HTB-96TM).

<u>Saos-2:</u> Human osteosarcoma cell line was isolated from the primary osteosarcoma patient in 1973 (ATCC® HTB-85TM).

<u>Human primary sarcoma explants:</u> Freshly excised primary sarcoma tumor samples from patients were dissociated immediately after surgical excision with tumor dissociation kit using the gentleMACS Octo Dissociator with heaters (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany) (Translational Research and Economic Development Unit, Nova Southeastern University, FL, USA). These samples were processed and cultured at least for 12 weeks by serial passaging inorder to obtain a sarcoma explant from various tissues.

3.1.10. Plasmids and oligonucleotides

Plasmids	Purpose	Source
	Lentiviral construct for eGFP	A kind gift from Prof. Boris Fehse (University Medical CenterHamburg- Eppendorf, Hamburg,
LeGO-iG2 Puro	expression with IRES	Germany)
pMDLg/pRRE	Virus production/packaging plasmid (Gag/Pol)	Addgene (#12251)
pRSV-REV	Virus production/packaging plasmid (Rev)	Addgene (#12253)
phCMV-VSV-G	Virus production/packaging plasmid (Env)	Addgene (#8454)

Table 3.4. List of plasmids used in this study (see Appendix C for plasmid maps).

Table 3.5. List of oligonucleotides used in this study.

Oligo Name	Sequence (5'to 3')	Purpose of Use
SFFV_Forward	TGCTTCTCGCTTCTGTTC	Sequencing
IRES_Reverse	GCCCTCACATTGCCAAAA	Sequencing

3.1.11. DNA ladder



Figure 3.1. 1 kb GeneRuler DNA ladder mix used in this study (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

3.1.12. DNA sequencing

Sequencing service was commercially provided by McLab, CA, USA.

3.1.13. Software

Software	Acknowledged Corporation	Purpose of Use
CLC Main Workbench	CLC Bio, Denmark	Vector map construction, control digest planning, DNA sequencing analysis
FlowJo_v10.6.1	Tree Star Inc., BD Biosciences, USA	Displaying and analyzing flow cytometry data
GraphPad Prism 8	GraphPad Software Inc., CA, USA	Data analysis, graphing, biostatistics

Table 3.6. List of software used in this study.

3.2. Methods

3.2.1. Bacterial cell culture

<u>Bacterial culture growth:</u> Top10 *E.coli*bacteria were cultured in LB media with 1:1000 dilution of Ampicillin and cultured at 37 °C, for 16 hours and at 220 rpm shaking. Cells were spread on Ampicillin Petri dishes by the use of glass beads and incubated at 37 °C, for 16 hours. At the end of the incubation, at least five single colonies were picked from the plates. For glycerol stocks of bacteria, a single colony was grown at 3 ml LB media at 37 °C, for 16 hours and at 220 rpm shaking overnight, culture was diluted 1:3 at the end of incubation and then, culture for an additional 3 hours at 37 °C, 220 rpm shaking for glycerol stock preparation. Bacteria culture were halted at the log phase of growth and mixed with glycerol in a total volume of 1ml at final concentration of 10% (w/v) and stored in cryotubes at -80 °C deep freezer.

<u>Preparation of competent bacteria</u>: An aliquot glycerol stock of competent Top10 *E.coli* cells were grown in 3 ml LB without any antibiotics at 37 °C, for 4 hours, at 220 rpm shaking. Later, they were transferred into a 250ml culture flask with 50 ml LB and grown overnight at 37 °C, 220 rpm shaking. Next day, 4 ml of the culture was added into 400 ml of LB without any addition of antibiotics in a 2L culture flask and incubated at 37 °C, 220 rpm shaking until optical density 590 (OD590) measurement at spectrophotometerreached around 0.375. The culture was, then, aliquoted into eight 50ml falcon tubes and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Cells were kept on ice and centrifuged at 1600xg for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded, and each pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of ice-cold CaCl₂ solution and centrifuged at 1100xg for 5 minutes again at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded, and each pellet was resuspended in 2 ml of ice-cold CaCl₂ solution. Cells were kept on ice for 30 minutes and combined in one tube and distributed into 200 μ l aliquots that were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C.

<u>Transformation of competent bacteria:</u> Competent Top10 *E.coli*bacteria were kept in 200 μ l aliquots at -80 °C. For each transformation, plasmid DNA and competent *E.coli* cells were thaw on ice. Plasmid DNA was added to competent *E.coli* cells, cells were incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were taken to heat block at 42°C and immediately heat shocked for 90 seconds on ice. 800 μ l of LB was added to each tube and competent cells were incubated at 37 °C water bath for 45 minutes. The cells were centrifuged at 13,000xrpm for 1 minute and the pellet was resuspended in 100 μ l LB to be spread on Petri dishes. Glass beads were placed on ampicillin-LB agar Petri dishes. Plates were incubated at 37 °C without shaking overnight.

<u>Plasmid DNA isolation:</u>Commercial Macherey-Nagel Mini or Midiprep Kits were used according to manufacturer's manual. The final DNA concentrations and purities were measured by a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA).

3.2.2. Mammalian cell culture

<u>Maintenance of cell lines:</u>HEK293FT cells were split in 2-day periods before reaching 90% confluency. Cells grown in sterile tissue culture flasks were first washed with 1xDPBS and trypsin-EDTA was added to the flask to be incubated for

5 minutes at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. Next, they were resuspended in complete DMEM and split at 1:3 to 1:8 ratio.

NK-92 cells were cultured in complete RPMI 1640 as previously described. Cells were maintained in sterile tissue culture flasks at a density between 0.3×10^6 to 1×10^6 viable cells/ml. They were split every 2 to 3 days and supplied with 10^3 U/ml IL-2 every 48 hours.

K562 cells were maintained in complete RPMI 1640. Cells were maintained in sterile tissue culture flasks at a density between 0.3×10^6 to 1×10^6 viable cells/ml. They were split every 2 to 3 days.

Other target human cancer cell lines were cultured in their appropriate complete media (as described in 3.1.9) and maintained as suggested by manufacturer's culture protocol in sterile tissue culture flasks with filtered caps at an incubator set to 37 °C with 5% CO₂.

<u>Cell freezing</u>: Cells were split 1:2 or 1:3 for suspension cells and to a confluence of 50-70% for adherent cells prior to freezing depending on the cell growth curve of each cell line. The next day, cells were counted and at least1- $5x10^6$ cells/vial were frozen in a cryovial with a final volume of 1 ml. After counting cells were centrifuged at 300xg for 5 minutes after which supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was resuspended in 0.5ml FBS and incubated on ice for 20 minutes. When incubation is finished, cells were quickly restored in FBS with a final concentration of 6% DMSO(v/v) in 1 ml. Cryovials were stored in freezing container first in -80 °C for 24 hours, and then, were transferred to liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

<u>Cell thawing:</u> Cells were preserved in cryovial at the liquid nitrogen. A cryovial was restored from liquid nitrogen and quickly thaw. 1 ml of thaw cell suspension in 6% DMSO(v/v)in FBS was diluted in 5 ml FBS at room temperature in 15 ml falcon tube and centrifuged immediately at 300xg for 5 minutes. Resulting supernatant was discarded and cell pellet was resuspended with an appropriate complete media.

3.2.3. Production of lentiviral vectors

For production of VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors, $5x10^6$ 293FT cells were seeded into a poly-D-lysine coated 100 mm culture dish (Corning, NY, USA). Next

day cells were co-transfected with 7.5 μ g of gene-of-interest plasmids along with 3.75 μ g of pMDLg/pRRE, 2.5 μ g of pRSV-REV and 1.25 μ g of phCMV-VSV-G using calcium phosphate transfection kit (Sigma-Aldrich) in the presence of 25 μ M Chloroquine (Sigma-Aldrich). 10 hours later medium was changed and thereafter virus supernatant was collected at 24-hour and 36-hour time points and stored in -80 °C until further use. Aliquots from each production were used to determine viral titers by transduction of 293FT cells with a serial dilution of viral supernatants. Multiplicity of infection (MOI) was calculated as the number of infectious units divided by the number of 293FT cells exposed to the vector.

3.2.4. Lentiviral transduction of NK-92 cells

 1×10^{6} cells were cultured in a T25 culture flask (Sarstedt, Germany) and lentiviral vector supernatant at MOI=5 was added to the culture in the presence of a final concentration of 8 μ g/ml of protamine sulfate (Sigma-Aldrich), 10^{3} U/ml IL-2 and 1.5 mM (5Z)-7-Oxozeaenol (Sigma-Aldrich) in a final volume of 6 ml. The flasks were incubated at 37 °C, 5% CO₂ overnight. At the end of incubation, cells were transferred to a 15 ml falcon and spun down at 300xg for 5 minutes at room temperature. Then, virus supernatant was replaced with fresh complete growth medium. Cells were maintained for at least 3 days before eGFP expression was evaluated by flow cytometry. Genetically modified cells were enriched by puromycin (1µg/ml) selection 10 days post-transduction. If eGFP expression detected by flow cytometry is above 95%, the new cell line is frozen for later use or otherwise, is subjected to phenotyping or functional assessments. 17 cell lines of iG2 Puro backbone were produced and frozen for further use.

3.2.5. Flow cytometry

<u>Surface staining</u>: Cells were first counted and then, washed once with 1xDPBS. For each staining, 0.25×10^6 cells per tube was centrifuged and pellets were resuspended with 100 µl 1xDPBS by a gentle vortex. Appropriate amount of monoclonal antibody was added by pipetting and incubated at +4 °C for 30 minutes in dark.

Appropriate isotype-matched antibodies were used as a control for each molecule of interest. List of antibodies used in this study is given in Table 3.1. Cells were, then, washed with 1.5 ml 1xDPBS and centrifuged (300xg, 5 minutes). Supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 100 µl 1xDPBS by a vortex. Cells were acquired on an LSR Fortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, USA). All GM NK-92 cells were analyzed by flow cytometry by gating on; FSC-A vs SSC-A for P1 population, FSC-A vs FSC-H for single cells, SSC-A vs CD56⁺to mark live CD56⁺ NK-92 cells and lastly, eGFP vs dTomato for eGFP⁺ NK-92 cells before and after puromycin selection (See appendix 1). Analysis was carried out by FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc., BD Biosciences, USA).

<u>Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS)</u>: NK-92 cells were counted and 5x10⁶ cells were collected in a sterile tube. Cells were washed once with 5 ml 1xDPBS and supernatant was discarded. Then, they were resuspended in appropriate volume of 1xDPBS supplemented with 0.1% FBS and isotype control or monoclonal antibody was added. After incubating at room temperature for 30 minutes in dark, they were washed once more with 5 ml 1xDPBS. Cells were resuspended as 10x10⁶ cells/ml and filtered using 70 µm sterile strainer to remove aggregates. NKG2D⁺ and/or DNAM-1⁺ cell populations were sorted on a BD FACS Aria II flow cytometer by gating on FSC-A vs SSC-A, followed by single cells via FSC-A vs FSC-H, then eGFP vs SSC-A and lastly, on NKG2D vs DNAM-1 (BD Biosciences, USA). The resulting purified NKG2D⁺, DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells were resuspended in appropriate volumes of complete media supplemented with 10⁶ U/ml IL-2 and 1% Penicillin-streptomycin for at least 10 days. GM NK-92 cells were maintained in the cell culture as described before, until they reached adequate numbers where they were frozen for future use.

3.2.6. Analysis of NK cell degranulation on genetically modified NK-92 cell

In order to investigate effector functions of genetically modified (GM) NK-92 cells, their degranulation capacities were evaluated against target cells. 0.2×10^6 effector NK-92 cells were co-cultured with target cells on a 1:1 ratio in a final volume of 200 µl in a V-bottom 96-well plate. As soon as the cells were set-up, fluorochrome-

conjugated anti-CD107a monoclonal antibody was added in 1 µl. All well contents were resuspended, and plate was centrifuged at 50xg for 2 minutes. After incubation at 37 °C, 5% CO₂ for 1 hour, 2mM Monensin (Biolegend) was added into all wells and resuspension of all well contents was repeated followed by a plate centrifuge. Plates were incubated at humidified incubator for 3 more hours. Later, centrifuge was set to +4 °C and plate was centrifuged at 400xg for 5 minutes. All well content was transferred to a flow cytometry tube for surface staining. Fluorochromeconjugated anti-CD56 antibody was added in 1 µl and incubated on ice for 30 minutes at dark. When incubation is finished, cells were washed with 500 µl cold 1xDPBS and centrifuged (300xg, 5 minutes). Finally, cells were resuspended in 300 µl ice-cold 1xDPBS to proceed with acquisition at flow cytometry.

Blocking experiments were set-up similar to degranulation assay. Target cells were counted and pre-incubated with the corresponding 25 μ g/ml blocking antibodies (e.g. anti-CD155) for 15 minutes on ice prior to co-culture. Fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD107a monoclonal antibody was added at the initiation of the assay. After 1 hour of co-incubation, GolgiStop (BD Biosciences) was pipetted at a 1:300 dilution to all wells and incubated for 3 more hours until proceeding to surface staining before acquisition on flow cytometer.

Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) for IFN- γ and TNF- α in genetically modified cells

ICS assay was a similar set-up with degranulation procedure. GM NK-92 cells, as well as wild-type NK-92 and backbone control (iG2 Puro without any gene-of-interest) cell lines, were co-cultured with K562 cells on a 1:1 ratio in a V-bottom 96-well plate. All well contents were re-suspended, and plate was centrifuged at 50xg for 2 minutes. After incubation at 37° C, 5% CO₂ for 1 hour, 2mM Monensin was added into all wells and resuspension of all well contents was repeated together with plate centrifuge. Plates were incubated at humidified incubator for 3 more hours. Later, centrifuge was set to +4 °C and plate was centrifuged at 400xg for 5 minutes. All well content was transferred to a flow cytometry tube for monoclonal

antibody staining. Fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD56 antibody was added in 1 µl and incubated on ice for 30 minutes at dark. When incubation is finished, cells were washed with 500 µl cold PBS and centrifuged (300xg, 5 minutes). For cell fixation and permeabilization, 1% paraformaldehyde (PFA), 1x perm buffer (0.1% saponin) in 1x DPBS was used to treat the cells in 250 µl. After incubation on ice for 15 minutes, cells were washed with 1x perm buffer and centrifuged (300xg, 5 minutes). This maintains permeabilized cells ready for IFN- γ or TNF- α monoclonal antibody staining. 1.25 µl of fluorochrome-conjugated anti-IFN- γ or anti-TNF- α antibody was added to samples and incubated on ice for 30 minutes at dark. Cells were, then, given a final wash with 1x perm buffer and centrifuged (300xg, 5 minutes). Before acquisition on flow cytometry, 300 µl ice-cold 1x DPBS was used to resuspend the cells.

3.2.7. Analysis of NK cell cytotoxicity by xCELLigence real-time cell analysis (RTCA)

Real-time cell viability experiments were performed using the xCELLigence RTCA DP device (ACEA Biosciences, CA, USA) placed in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The E-16 plates were incubated with 100 μ L of cell-free growth medium (10% and 15% FBS containing McCoy's 5A medium (GE)) at room temperature for 15 minutes. After incubation, background impedance signal was measured to control all the connections. The target cells were seeded into plates as 5×10^3 cells in 100 μ L forU-2OS and Saos-2 cell lines. The plates were mounted to the device after incubation at room temperature for 30 minutes before starting the experiment. The target cells were allowed to settle for 15-17 hours before adding effector cells. The following day, the effector cells were added onto the target cells at an E:T ratio of 1:1. Real-time measurements were performed by recording the Cell index (CI) every 15 minutes for a period of 40 hours. Data analysis was carried out with the RTCA software (version 1.2, Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland).

3.2.8. Statistical analysis

Graphs and statistical data analysis were prepared by using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc. La Jolla, CA, USA). Values were expressed by arithmetic mean plus or minus standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM), where find appropriate. Statistical differences were determined by a two-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparison test or Tukey's post-hoc analysis, where ns, *, ***, **** indicates not significant, p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.005, p < 0.001.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1. Generation of Genetically Modified (GM) NK-92 Cell Lines Overexpressing Different NK Receptors

4.1.1. Design and Production of Lentiviral Vectors

Dissection of NK and tumor cell interactions may reveal novel targets for NK cellbased cancer immunotherapy. In order to evaluate the capacity of different NK cell activating receptors, a cell-based screening platform can be set up to efficiently trigger target cell recognition, exempting the need to identify heterogeneous ligand repertoires on tumor cells. For this purpose, we aimed to overexpress one NK cell receptor at a time on a model NK cell line, NK-92. In order to ensure the efficiency of gene expression, codon-optimized sequences encoding 20 different NK cell surface receptors were used in this study. These sequences were cloned into Lentiviral Gene Ontology (LeGO) vector backbone, LeGO.iG2 Puro or LeGO.iT2 Puro, which is a 3rd generation self-inactivating lentiviral vector utilizing the spleen focus-forming virus (SFFV) promoter to express a bicistronic transcript coding for the gene-of-interest (GOI) and a fluorescence and/or selection marker (Figure 4.1A).

Each gene-of-interest (DNAM-1, NTBA, 2B4, CD2, NKG2A, NKG2C, NKG2D, NKG2E, NKp30, NKp44, NKp46, NKp80, CRACC, CD160, CD161, CD27,

CD16a, CD94, Siglec7 or Siglec9) was cloned into the multiple cloning site (MCS) of these lentiviral vectors and the resulting plasmids, including the empty vector controls, were used to produce lentiviral particles.



Figure 4.1. Generation of GM NK-92 cell lines. (**A**) Genes encoding 20 different NK cell surface receptors were cloned into lentiviral vector backbones to produce lentiviral particles expressing each NK receptor. (**B**) 15-day timeline to obtain GM NK-92 cells each overexpressing a single NK cell receptor. NK-92 cells were transduced with one vector at a time (MOI=5) and enriched either using FACS purification or puromycin selection. Transduction efficiencies were confirmed by detection of eGFP⁺ cells by flow cytometry before (at day 4) and after (at day 14) enrichment.

LeGO.iG2 Puro or LeGO.iT2 Puro vector backbones express either of the two fluorescent markers; eGFP or dTomato, respectively, that enable the tracing of transduction efficiency. Additionally, in order to be able to select positively transduced cells, vectors were carefully chosen to have an antibiotic resistance gene (puromycin resistance gene or "puro") fused to the fluorescent marker gene (indicated as Marker-puro) (Figure 4.1A). This design allowed us to enrich genetically modified (GM) NK-92 cells either using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) or simply by puromycin selection when a FACS machine was not available (Figure 4.1B). For the sake of simplicity, only the enrichment process of NK-92 cells engineered with LeGO.iG2 Puro-based vectors obtained through puromycin selection is provided here.

In order to generate a GM NK-92 cell line which stably overexpresses a gene-ofinterest, NK-92 cells were processed in a 15-day timeline (Figure.4.1B). Firstly, NK-92 cells were transduced with one lentiviral vector at a time at a multiplicity of infection of 5 (MOI=5) and lentivirus containing medium was washed away after an overnight incubation in the presence of protamine sulfate and (5Z)-7-Oxozeaenol (OXO) for increased transduction efficiency. Detection of eGFP expression percentages by flow cytometry at day 4 (pre-selection) and at day 14 (post-selection) revealed the efficiency of transduction (Figure 4.2A). All GM NK-92 cells were analyzed by flow cytometry and the representative gating strategy is shown (Figure 4.2B) (See appendix 1). Following puromycin enrichment for 10 days, GM NK-92 cells were confirmed to be positively transduced, because all cell lines showed at least 96.50% eGFP expression except for the CD161 transduced NK-92 cell line (85.80%) and untransduced WT NK-92 cells (0.11%) (Figure 4.2A). Representative plots of all newly generated NK-92 cell lines for only eGFP expression pre-selection and post-selection are presented in Figure 4.2C and Figure 4.2D, respectively. Hence, each GM NK-92 cell line, overexpressing a specific gene, was confirmed to be positively transduced and ready for prospective use in functional assays against target cells.

It is important to note here that this study was originally designed to test 20 different receptor genes. Although the planned cloning was achieved for all genes in both vector backbones (LeGO.iG2 Puro and LeGO.iT2 Puro); CD94, CD16a, Siglec7 and Siglec9 expressing lentiviral vectors were omitted from the analysis because the large gene insert did not allow efficient lentiviral production. Therefore, DNAM-1⁺, NTBA⁺, 2B4⁺, CD2⁺, NKG2A⁺, NKG2C⁺, NKG2D⁺, NKG2E⁺, NKp30⁺, NKp44⁺, NKp46⁺, NKp80⁺, CRACC⁺, CD160⁺, CD161⁺, CD27⁺ and only iG2 Puro expressing NK-92 cell lines were generated and their results are presented in this thesis.



Figure 4.2. Evaluation of the selection process on successfully transduced NK-92 cells. (**A**) eGFP percentages of NK-92 cell lines were obtained by flow cytometry pre-selection and post-selection. (**B**) Representative gating strategy. eGFP⁺ percentages on successfully transduced cells were evaluated by flow cytometry (**C**) pre-selection and (**D**) post-selection for each GM NK-92 cell line.

4.1.2. Phenotypic Confirmation of Overexpression

While analysis of eGFP expression enabled the tracking of GM cells, additional confirmation of full vector functionality was carried out for each sample by analyzing the expression level of the NK receptor encoded by the lentiviral vector. Therefore, GM NK-92 cells were stained with antibodies specific for the corresponding receptor or isotype control antibodies and surface expressions of the proteins were measured by flow cytometry (Figure 4.3A). Fold mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of a given receptor was calculated by normalization (Figure 4.3B). WT NK-92 cells had baseline expression of certain markers such as NTBA, CRACC and CD160, but were negative for markers such as DNAM-1, NKp80 and NKG2D. Lentiviral gene delivery was successful in inducing a dramatic overexpression of DNAM-1 (1000-fold), NTBA (10-fold), NKG2D (10-fold), NKp80 (100-fold) and CD161 (10-fold) molecules on NK-92 cells, while the induction of CD2, 2B4, NKp30, NKp44, NKp46 and CRACC were at more moderate levels (Figure 4.3C).



Figure 4.3. Surface receptor expression profiles of GM NK-92 cells were verified by flow cytometry. (**A**) Representative figures showed expression of cell surface receptors in GM NK-92 cells compared to WT (dashed line: isotype staining (iso), filled histogram: antibody staining (ab)). Fold MFI value of a given receptor expression on a GM NK cell line was (**B**) calculated by normalization to WT and (**C**) graphed accordingly. Error bars indicate SD of two independent staining experiments.
4.1.3. Functional Confirmation of GM NK-92 Cell Lines

In order to evaluate the functional responses of the GM NK-92 cell lines in a screening platform, they were co-cultured at a 1:1 effector to target (E:T) ratio with K562 target cells together with wildtype (WT) NK-92 and empty vector (iG2 Puro) as controls. Degranulation capacity was measured by flow cytometry based on surface CD107a expression and was evaluated in comparison to no target as negative control and unspecific activators PMA and ionomycin (PMA/IO) as a positive control (Figure 4.4A). Lentiviral genetic modifications did not disrupt or hamper the cytotoxicity of NK-92 cells but rather induced enhanced degranulation (Figure 4.4B). Degranulation against the K562 cell line showed marked increase especially in DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells compared to WT cells. Interestingly, CD2⁺ NK-92 cells degranulated significantly the lowest among all GM NK-92 cells.

While no specific correlation between responses from PMA/IO induction and K562 co-cultures was observed between NK-92 cells modified with different receptors, technical variations in both the negative and positive controls prompted the need for a normalization methodology that will empower the integral comparison between GM NK-92 cells in the screening platform without underestimating the degranulation response against different target cells. Therefore, degranulation was normalized by setting the PMA/IO responses for each GM NK-92 cell line to 100% and degranulation against different target cells were normalized to this response for each GM cell line (Figure 4.4C). Normalization revealed a parallel trend with previous analyses where degranulation levels between DNAM-1⁺, NKG2D⁺ and CD2⁺ GM NK-92 cells were all similar. Thus, this normalization methodology was affirmed and applied to all flow cytometric analysis where the screening platform is used from this point forward.



Figure 4.4. Degranulation of WT and GM NK-92 effector cells against K562 target cells. NK-92 cells were co-cultured with K562 target cells at 1:1 (E:T) ratio for 4 hours. All degranulation analysis by flow cytometry followed (**A**) the represented gating strategy: FSC-A vs SSC-A, FSC-A vs FSC-H, GFP vs CD56 and lastly, CD107a vs CD56 cells. Degranulation assays run with negative control (no target), positive control (PMA/IO) and against NK cell's natural target, K562 cell lines (K562). Percentage of (**B**) CD56⁺CD107a⁺ NK-92 cells or (**C**) normalized degranulation were plotted (normalization was done by taking each cell line's PMA/IO response as 100%). Mean of three independent experiments, run in duplicates, were plotted with SD. Dashed line indicates WT degranulation against K562.



Figure 4.5. Pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles of WT and GM NK-92 cells against K562 target cells. WT or GM NK-92 cells were co-cultured with K562 target cells at 1:1 (E:T) ratio for 4 hours and analyzed by flow cytometry (**A**) by gating on: FSC-A vs SSC-A, FSC-A vs FSC-H, GFP vs CD56 and lastly, IFN-V or TNF- α vs CD56 cells. Percentage of normalized (**B**) CD56⁺IFN-V⁺ or (**C**) CD56⁺TNF- α^+ NK-92 cells were shown. Normalization was calculated by taking each cell line's PMA/IO response as 100%. Means of two independent experiments, run in duplicates, were plotted with SD.

In addition to the degranulation assay, NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity is associated with pro-inflammatory cytokine release upon contact with a target cell. Therefore, measurement of IFN- γ and TNF- α is a proven signature of NK cell activation. We used this expression as means to evaluate the effect of genetic modifications on NK cell functionality. Flow cytometric analysis of IFN- γ expression is represented in Figure 4.5A. Accordingly, a selection of GM NK-92 cell lines produced for this study were shown to function as much as WT and control cells and genetic modification did not mitigate these functions (Figure 4.5B). While DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells demonstrated a remarked increase only in IFN- γ expression against K562 cells, they failed to induce TNF- α expression. Surprisingly, only iG2 Puro, DNAM-1⁺, NKG2D⁺ and NKP80⁺ GM NK-92 cells showed similar expression of TNF- α compared to WT NK-92 cells (Figure 4.5B). These degranulation and cytokine profile analyses provided evidence that GM NK-

92 cell lines in the screening platform were functionally responsive and that they have the capacity to trigger the full range of effector functions.

4.2. Developing a Novel GM NK-92 Cell-based Screening Platform

GM NK-92 cells were shown to be powerful in triggering elevated degranulation responses compared to WT NK-92 cells. While K562 cells conventionally serve as a natural target of NK cells, the efficacy and feasibility of the screening method required to be tested on a panel of other well-established human cancer cell lines, as well as human primary sarcoma explants. This work was conducted in collaboration with Dr. Adil Doğanay Duru's lab at Nova Southeastern University in Florida/USA (as described in section 3.1.9 of the Materials and Methods).

The screening platform of GM NK-92 cells was subjected to testing for their degranulation responses against a panel of well-characterized human cancer cell lines (Figure 4.6). This target cell line panel included a selection of hematological malignancies such as leukemia (K562 and THP-1), B cell lymphoma (U266), myeloma (ARH-77 and RPMI8226) and various solid tumors such as primary lung adenocarcinoma (A549), primary colorectal adenocarcinoma (Caco-2), primary pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Capan-2), metastatic prostate carcinoma (LNCaP and PC-3), melanoma (A375, SK-MEL-28, MeWo and DM6), metastatic neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y) and osteosarcoma (Saos-2 and U-2 OS) (Figure 4.7, right panel). The 16 different GM NK-92 cell lines constituting the cell-based screening platform were responsive against 16 different target cell lines, although the responses varied greatly depending on the target (Figure 4.6). All NK-92 cells (with or without genetic modification) degranulated against hematological malignancies (THP-1, U266 (in particular), ARH-77 and RPMI8226) at higher levels when compare to their responses against solid tumor cell lines (except for A375 and DM6 melanoma cells).



Figure 4.6. GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform tested against wellestablished human cancer cell lines. WT and GM NK-92 cells were co-cultured with target cell lines at 1:1 (E:T) ratio for 4 hours in degranulation assays. Percent normalization was calculated by taking each cell line's PMA/IO response as 100%, results from one representative experiment, plotted as means of technical replicates with SD.

The degranulation capacity of the GM NK-92 panel showed that compared to WT NK-92, NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells had enhanced degranulation against the majority of target cell lines except for THP-1, DM6 and MeWo. Additionally, DNAM1⁺ GM NK-92 cells showed promiscuously enhanced response against almost all cancer cell lines except for RPMI8226.



Figure 4.7. Heat map of the GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform against wellestablished human cancer cell lines. WT or GM NK-92 cells were co-cultured with target cells at 1:1 (E:T) ratio for 4 hours in a degranulation set up. Heat map (left panel) showing normalized %CD56⁺CD107a⁺ WT and GM NK-92 cells against human cancer cell lines (normalization was done by taking each cell line's PMA/IO response as 100%, results from one representative experiment, plotted as means of technical replicates). The screening platform included a list of well-established human cancer cell lines with given origins (right panel).

Additionally, all the normalized degranulation data from the screening platform across various target cell lines were plotted as a heat map which allowed compact and comparative analysis (Figure 4.7, left panel). The heat map representation enhanced the identification of differential expression receptor-mediated responses against tested cell lines such as ARH-77, RPMI8226, A375 and DM6, and validated the applicability of the NK cell-based screening platform to identify the targetable NK cell receptor-ligand interactions.

Furthermore, we evaluated the functional response of the GM NK-92 cells in triggering degranulation against human primary sarcoma explants to validate the NK-92 cell-based screening system. In order to exploit novel sarcoma patient samples, freshly excised primary sarcoma tumor samples from patients undergoing surgery were isolated and processed to generate a panel of primary sarcoma explants (as described in materials and methods 3.1.9) (Figure 4.8A). Sarcoma explants stem from various tissue types and hence, possibly represent heterogeneity of phenotypic and genetic characteristics of tumor cells (Figure 4.8A).

In order to functionally test the cell-based screening approach, the GM NK-92 panel was co-cultured at a 1:1 (E:T) ratio with 12 selected sarcoma explants and two well-established sarcoma cell lines (U-2 OS and Saos-2) with control NK-92 cells in order to provide a comparative analysis of degranulation (Figure 4.8B). DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells degranulated significantly against all 12 primary sarcoma explants and cell lines, while NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells were responsive (more than 20%) when exposed to 10 out of the 12 explants. Thus, the degranulation responses from these co-cultures demonstrated that DNAM-1 and NKG2D induced enhanced anti-tumor responses when compared to WT or controls.

Next, we wanted to further confirm that this augmented NK cell response was indeed DNAM-1 or NKG2D-dependent by interfering with either the receptor on NK-92 cells or the corresponding ligand interaction using blocking antibodies (against DNAM-1 or CD155, a ligand of DNAM-1). Normalized degranulation responses against sarcoma explants (HTT12, HTT17, HTT25) were completely abrogated upon blocking DNAM-1 on DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells (Figure 4.8C). While in the case of CD155 ligand blocking on target sarcoma explants, partial response by DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells was still observed, which is probably due to the presence of other DNAM-1 ligands, (such as CD112) on the tumor cells. Thus, GM NK-92 degranulation response was confined with DNAM-1 receptor mediated engagement against primary sarcoma explants.



Figure 4.8. GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform validated by degranulation assay using human sarcoma explants. (**A**) A panel of primary sarcoma explants (at right) was generated by serial passaging (on the left). (**B**) Degranulation analysis of GM NK-92 cells against 12 sarcoma explants were evaluated by flow cytometer by co-culturing at 1:1 (E:T ratio) for 4 hours. Normalized % CD56+CD107a+ NK-92 cells were shown (normalization was done as described earlier). WT, DNAM-1+ or NKG2D+ NK-92 cells were treated with (**C**) anti-CD155 (α CD155), anti-DNAM-1 (α DNAM-1) or (**D**) anti-NKG2D (α NKG2D) blocking antibodies prior to degranulation against HTT12, HTT17 and HTT25. NK-92 effectors were co-cultured with U-2 OS and Saos-2 sarcoma cell lines at 1:1 (E:T) ratio for 4 hours after treatment with (**E**) anti-DNAM-1 or (**F**) anti-NKG2D blocking antibodies.

Also, NKG2D receptor on NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells was blocked by antibodies prior to co-culture with sarcoma explants (HTT12, HTT17, HTT25) to verify NKG2D involvement in the observed degranulation responses (Figure 4.8D). When treated with NKG2D blocking antibody, NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells demonstrated mitigated degranulation, comparable to the responses of WT NK-92 cells against HTT12 and HTT25. NKG2D blocking did not trigger degranulation of NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells against HTT17, as NKG2D mediated response was already nominal compared to HTT12 and HTT25 and was selected as a negative control.

In parallel, blocking of DNAM-1 or NKG2D receptors on GM NK-92 cells was also assessed against human sarcoma cell lines (U-2 OS and Saos-2) (Figure 4.8E, F). Both DNAM-1 blocking on DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells and NKG2D blocking on NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells decreased degranulation to the background levels against sarcoma cell lines. Therefore, we show that the degranulation response of GM NK-92 cells overexpressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D are solely due to the abundant and functional interaction between the respective receptors and their corresponding ligand pairs. Hence, the degranulation responses of GM NK-92 cells in the screening platform provided evidence for functional interactions between receptors on effector cells and ligands on target tumor cells. In summary, this work demonstrates the feasibility of an *in vitro* genetic screening approach to identify response-triggering receptors in GM NK-92 cells.

4.3. Generation of Dual Vectors: NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 Cell Line

Because the results from our screening platform consistently underline the importance of the DNAM-1 and NKG2D receptors against a variety of target cells, we wanted to exploit potential synergies between the two receptors by co-expressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D on GM NK-92 cells.



Figure 4.9. Generation of NKG2D and DNAM-1 co-expressing GM NK-92 cells. NKG2D⁺ and/or DNAM-1⁺ cell populations (shown by red asterisk) were sorted with fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) (**A**) by gating on FSC-A vs SSC-A, followed by FSC-A vs FSC-H for singlets, then eGFP vs SSC-A and lastly, on NKG2D vs DNAM-1. (**B**) WT and GM NK-92 cells were stained with α CD56 and, α NKG2D or α DNAM-1 antibodies and MFI of each staining was measured by flow cytometer (dashed line: isotype control, filled histogram: stained).



Figure 4.10. Surface expression of NK cell receptors on GM NK-92 cells. WT and GM NK-92 cells were stained with antibodies for surface expression of NKp30, NKp44, NKp46, NKp80, CD160, CD161, CD27, 2B4, CD2, DNAM-1, CRACC, NKG2D and NTBA, and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A) A single staining for each marker expression was shown for WT, DNAM-1+, NKG2D+ and NKG2D+/DNAM-1+ NK-92 cell lines (dashed line: isotype control, filled grey: antibody stained). (B) Relative expression of each single staining was calculated by the mean fluorescence intensity ratio of GM cells relative to unmodified WT NK-92 cells after normalization with isotype controls.

For this purpose, we genetically modified NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells with a second transduction to overexpress DNAM-1 receptor and enriched these double-transduced cells by FACS sorting to generate NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells (or double+ NK-92) (Figure 4.9A). Analysis of single or double transduced NK-92 cells confirmed similar levels of receptor expression and assured that any observed functional differences would result from altered expression (Figure 4.9B).

A more detailed phenotyping analysis on WT, $NKG2D^+$, $DNAM-1^+$ and $NKG2D^+/DNAM-1^+$ NK-92 cells revealed that genetic modifications did not alter the relative expression level of any other surface receptor, but only the respective target molecules (Figure 4.10).

4.3.2. Evaluation of Functional Response against Sarcoma Cell Lines

After confirming the overexpression of both receptors on GM NK-92 cells, functional response mediated by these receptors was analyzed by their degranulation capacities and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression levels (Figure 4.11). Evaluation of degranulation response of NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells against U-2 OS and Saos-2 sarcoma cell lines marked a moderate increase compared to NKG2D⁺ and DNAM-1⁺ alone transduced cells (Figure 4.11A). We further confirmed the triggering of cytokine production by NKG2D⁺ and/or DNAM-1⁺ expressing GM NK-92 cells upon co-culturing with sarcoma cell lines. Compared to WT NK-92 cells, NKG2D⁺ and DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells displayed increased IFN- γ and TNF- α expression in response to sarcoma cell lines which was not consistent with the degranulation responses (Figure 4.11B).



Figure 4.11. Degranulation of NKG2D and/or DNAM-1 receptor expressing NK-92 cells against K562 and sarcoma cell lines. Percent normalized (**A**) degranulation (**B**) IFN- γ and (**C**) TNF- α response of WT, G2, NKG2D and/or DNAM-1expressing NK-92 cells against K562, Saos-2 and U-2 OS cells. Mean of two independent experiments run in duplicates were plotted with SEM.

4.3.3. Cytotoxicity of NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ Expressing NK-92 Cells

While degranulation is a measurement for NK cell-mediated targeting, assessment of degranulation does not necessarily correlate with target cell lysis. Target cell lysis depends on not only the extent of effector cell degranulation, but also the content of secretory lysosomes. Therefore, in order to understand the functional consequences of NKG2D and/or DNAM-1 receptors in NK-92 cells; we performed electrical impedance-based cytotoxicity assays against U-2 OS and Saos-2 cells (Figure 4.12). Quantification of cytotoxic activity at 1:1 (E:T) ratio followed for 12 hours shows that DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells are the most efficient in killing U-2 OS and Saos-2 cells (Figure 4.12A).



Figure 4.12. NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptor mediated cytotoxicity against sarcoma cell lines. (**A**) Representative results at a 1:1 (E:T) ratio from Saos-2 (left panel) and U-2 OS (right panel) sarcoma cell lines for real-time measurement of cell index recorded every 15 minutes using *xCELLigence RTCA platform*. Effector cells were added to cultures only after target cells reached to desired confluencies (normalized cell index) at 0 hour time point. Calculation of cytotoxicity against (**B**) Saos-2 and (**C**) U-2 OS was done after 4 hours of co-culture at a (E:T) ratio of 0.5:1 and 1:1. Results from two independent experiments, run in triplicates, were plotted with SD.

Although both NKG2D⁺ and NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells rapidly killed target cells at a much higher rate compared to WT NK-92 cells, co-expression of the two receptors failed to amplify the killing activity. Also, measurements with changing (E:T) ratios at 4-hour time point only slightly affected the trend in cytotoxicity levels, yet, co-expression still did not surpass the cytotoxicity of corresponding single-positive GM NK-92 cells (Figure 4.12B, C). Therefore, we conclude that the co-expression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D does not seem to be a feasible approach in further enhancing the NK-92 activity against sarcoma.

4.4. Future Directions

Developing a Cell-based Screening Tool for Patient-tailored Cancer

Immunotherapy

In this study, we evaluated the feasibility of an NK-92 cell-based *in vitro* screening platform to identify targetable response-triggering receptors and assess their response to validate their applicability. Our results indicate that identification of the unique NK cell receptor response profile of various tumor cells highlights the potential importance of a cell-based screening in order to characterize targetable patient-specific NK cell/tumor interactions. This is especially valid for heterogeneous tumor cell populations where there is no available antibody to characterize ligands on patient-derived tumor cells. In such a case, this cell-based screening platform can be optimized into a tool that can rapidly and accurately identify patient-tailored candidates, focusing on the functional outcomes of genetically modified NK cells for adoptive immunotherapy of cancer (Figure 4.13).



Figure 4.13. Development of a screening tool that can rapidly identify targets for patient-tailored immunotherapy of cancer.

5. DISCUSSION & CONCLUSION

Natural killer (NK) cells of innate immune system serve as a first line of defense in immunosurveillance by potently recognizing tumorigenic and virally infected cells (Alici and Sutlu 2009). They are able to directly lyse these targets cells, while sparing healthy cells with proper surface MHC-I expression levels. This cytolytic function can act through many processes such as degranulation and death receptor ligation, which results in target cell clearance (Smyth et al. 2005b; Moretta et al. 2002). Additionally, NK cells can function indirectly by producing various cytokines and chemokines, upon activation by receptor stimulation and inflammatory cytokine-induced activation signaling. Hence, NK cells not only contribute to the clearance of target cells, but also regulate both the innate and adaptive immune responses (Fauriat et al. 2010).

NK cells express several activating and inhibitory receptors at the cell surface that either promote or dampen the killing of target cells upon coupling to their corresponding ligands (Lanier 2008). NK cell-mediated lysis is determined by a complex balance between these germline-encoded receptors which dictate whether an NK cell is activated or not. In fact, it has been demonstrated that the activating receptors display a collaborative synergy during target cell engagement which amplifies the extent of response dramatically (Bryceson et al. 2006). However, these processes are tightly controlled by a group of inhibitory receptors. These receptors act as negative regulators of NK cytotoxicity and inhibit the action of NK cells against self-targets. If the target cell expressing self MHC Class-I molecules is recognized by inhibitory receptors, inhibitory signals can block the activation of cytotoxic pathways triggered by activating receptors (Long 2008).

This understanding of how NK cells recognize and profoundly eradicate target cells emphasizes their importance in cancer immunosurveillance. Therefore, dissection and fine-tuning of the complex interaction between NK cell and target cell can potentially be a valuable approach for both prognostic and therapeutic purposes in NK cell-based immunotherapy of cancer.

Gene transfer to NK cells is a promising tool in cancer immunotherapy since it is applicable to both autologous and allogenic settings (Bari et al. 2019; Dahlberg et al. 2015). The genetic modifications involving a gene that sustain and boost NK cell activity were shown to improve efficacy of tumor cell lysis (Kamiya, Chang, and Campana 2016; Nayyar, Chu, and Cairo 2019b). As described earlier, the balance between activating and inhibitory receptors determines NK cell activity on target cell. Therefore, it is a critical approach to modulate cell surface receptor expression to improve anti-tumor efficacy of NK cells.

In a setting where the NK cell remains unresponsive to presented targets such as autologous tumor cells, a balance of activating and inhibitory signals prevails. It is possible to overcome this balance via genetic modification by either upregulating activating receptors on the NK cell surface or downregulating inhibitory receptors in order to abolish the inhibitory signaling. Such an approach can be used to gain a basic understanding of the receptors involved in target cell killing or tolerance while presenting functional data regarding possible therapeutic effect of such modified cells. Therefore, we proposed to develop a screening method based on the genetic modification of NK cells by upregulating a single receptor at a time and evaluate functional readouts such as NK cell degranulation and cytotoxicity against target cancer cells. As both the character of the tumor cell population and phenotypic status of NK cells differ among patients, such a tool will be instrumental in developing patient-tailored NK cell-based cancer immunotherapy. Also, this study can shed light on NK/tumor interactions by screening of contributing receptors via genetic modification and help to understand basics of this dual interaction.

In order to establish a novel in vitro screening tool on genetically modified NK cell line (NK-92) expressing different activating receptors, we generated GM NK-92 cells, each overexpressing one NK receptor at a time and used this platform for the first time to characterize tumor-specific functional NK cell receptor signatures of well-characterized cancer cell lines as well as primary human sarcomas. We evaluated the functionality of GM NK-92 cell lines in the screening platform and showed that they were functionally responsive with the capacity to trigger the full range of effector functions. Additionally, it was observed that GM NK-92 cells that overexpress DNAM-1 and NKG2D efficiently triggered a response to various established tumor cell lines, while WT NK-92 cell responses remained comparably low. The response of GM NK-92 cells was almost strictly dependent on the corresponding receptor and ligands and cytotoxicity response of these potent receptors was further confirmed with an electrical impedance-based cytotoxicity assay.

Our results demonstrate, for the first time, the feasibility of a GM NK-92 cell-based functional screening approach in establishing and predicting personalized immunotherapies for cancer patients, while providing essential insight into how to enhance NK cell mediated anti-tumor responses. Given that NK-92 is the only NK cell line that is FDA-approved for allogeneic use, it is also possible to generate an off-the shelf GM therapeutic NK-92 libraries and predict the most efficient treatment option for each patient using such an in vitro screening tool on patient-derived tumor cells. This can rapidly and efficiently characterize a personalized adoptive immunotherapy regimen which can then be used either as a monotherapy or in combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors.

The immune system plays a significant role in disease progression and anti-tumor responses against several hematological and solid tumor malignancies. This also supports the idea that immunotherapy approaches could be a valuable treatment option, but unfortunately they have been poorly explored. While NK cells are one of the promising candidates in the development of advanced cancer immunotherapies, very few clinical trials are currently using NK cells as a therapeutic option (Barkholt et al. 2009; Locatelli et al. 2018; Mavers and Bertaina 2018). Clinical trials using chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) and T cell receptors (TCR) focus on engineering T cells for immunotherapy modalities (Parlar et al. 2019; Mensali et al. 2019). As the obstacles associated with the genetic

manipulation of NK cells are being overcome, strategies exploring the use of genetically modified NK cells are recently gaining more attention (Nayyar, Chu, and Cairo 2019a).

When NK cells are attracted to the tumor milieu, they are confronted with several challenges in the context of tumor evasion mechanisms resulting in diminished NK cell cytotoxicity. Studies on both hematological and solid tumor malignancies demonstrated that almost all tumor cells upregulate inhibitory checkpoint ligands (e.g. HLA-E, the ligand of inhibitory NKG2A receptor) or downregulate activating receptor ligands (e.g. NKG2D ligands) in the tumor microenvironment (Balsamo et al. 2013; Gasser et al. 2005; Li et al. 2009; Ghiringhelli et al. 2005). Nevertheless, there are very few studies which showed the effect of using receptor modulation to enhance NK cell anti-tumor cytotoxicity (Kamiya, Chang, and Campana 2016; Parihar et al. 2019; Y. H. Chang et al. 2013; Figueiredo, Seltsam, and Blasczyk 2009; Kamiya et al. 2019). This study provides a novel platform to predict and customize efficient immunotherapies and suggests a perspective for the development of such strategies as potential therapeutic targets for various types of tumors.

DNAM-1 and NKG2D are two activating NK cell receptors which recognize stressinduced ligands that are commonly induced by tumors. Thus, they have been implicated as key players in immunity against human tumor cells and have been extensively characterized in several settings of cancer immunotherapy (Morisaki, Onishi, and Katano 2012). As mentioned earlier, many studies have shown reduced activating receptor expression such as DNAM-1 and NKG2D on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes from cancer patients or shedding of their respective ligands from tumor cells (Nieto-Velázquez et al. 2016; Guillamon et al. 2018; Salih, Rammensee, and Steinle 2002; Iguchi-Manaka et al. 2016). This downregulation of NK cell activating receptor in the periphery may result in abrogated anti-tumor responses and can be reversed by ex vivo activation of NK cells expressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D, that have been shown to efficiently target not only primary cells, but also cancer cell lines in vitro (Cho et al. 2016; Nayyar, Chu, and Cairo 2019b; Verhoeven et al. 2008; Boerman et al. 2015). Here, we demonstrate that primary sarcomas and other tumor cells can be efficiently targeted by genetically modified NK-92 cells overexpressing NKG2D or DNAM-1 receptors.

We also addressed whether the synergy from co-expression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D would further enhance the anti-sarcoma activity of NK-92 cells. The signaling pathways downstream DNAM-1 and NKG2D may overlap through shared activation motifs, eventually using mutual essential molecules to exert effector functions (Z. Zhang et al. 2015; Molfetta et al. 2017). Thus, it is possible to argue that simultaneous triggering of DNAM-1 and NKG2D may result in a limited enhancement of these signals, while it may also present a risk of two signals encountering a rate limiting step of either ligand engagement or signaling intermediates that restricts the amount of action possible. Our results demonstrate that while the co-expression of the two receptors affects the degranulation response, it fails to provide a significant cytotoxicity in killing sarcoma cell lines. An alternative means to assess the effect of co-expression can be the involvement of different signaling pathways such as TRAIL or FasL, but such an approach remains to be analyzed in further studies.

Paving their way for therapeutic strategies, the characterization of novel biomarkers to identify the most efficient course of treatment is becoming increasingly necessary. Therefore, efforts to develop new strategies that enable rapid and efficient generation of information on patient-specific tumors have recently intensified. In this study, we established a functional screening platform that enables the identification of NK cell receptor responses against a variety of tumor cells including both cell lines and primary human explants. This study was the first to simultaneously intercalate several receptors and assess their responses to various target cells. Therefore, valuable information emancipated from the NK-92 cell-based screening platform could be implemented as a tool to perform parallel assessment of several activating NK cell receptors and pinpoint the ones with the ability to equip NK-92 cells for cytotoxicity against the individual patients' tumor cells. This approach would contribute immensely to making efficient and patient-tailored immunotherapy treatments.

6. **REFERENCES**

- Abel, Alex M., Chao Yang, Monica S. Thakar, and Subramaniam Malarkannan. 2018. "Natural Killer Cells: Development, Maturation, and Clinical Utilization." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01869.
- Ali, Talib Hassan, Simona Pisanti, Elena Ciaglia, Roberta Mortarini, Andrea Anichini, Cinzia Garofalo. Rossana Tallerico. et al. 2014. "Enrichment of CD56dimKIR+CD57+ Highly Cytotoxic NK Cells in Tumour-Infiltrated Lymph Nodes of Melanoma Patients." Nature Communications. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6639.
- Alici, E., and T. Sutlu. 2009. "Natural Killer Cell-Based Immunotherapy in Cancer: Current Insights and Future Prospects." *Journal of Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2009.02121.x.
- Alter, Galit, Jessica M. Malenfant, and Marcus Altfeld. 2004. "CD107a as a Functional Marker for the Identification of Natural Killer Cell Activity." *Journal of Immunological Methods* 294 (1–2): 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2004.08.008.
- Andrade, Lucas Ferrari De, Rong En Tay, Deng Pan, Adrienne M. Luoma, Yoshinaga Ito, Soumya Badrinath, Daphne Tsoucas, et al. 2018. "Antibody-Mediated Inhibition of MICA and MICB Shedding Promotes NK Cell-Driven Tumor Immunity." *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aa00505.
- André, Pascale, Caroline Denis, Caroline Soulas, Clarisse Bourbon-Caillet, Julie Lopez, Thomas Arnoux, Mathieu Bléry, et al. 2018. "Anti-NKG2A MAb Is a Checkpoint Inhibitor That Promotes Anti-Tumor Immunity by Unleashing Both T and NK Cells." *Cell*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014.
- Anfossi, Nicolas, Pascale André, Sophie Guia, Christine S. Falk, Sophie Roetynck, C. Andrew Stewart, Violette Breso, et al. 2006. "Human NK Cell Education by Inhibitory Receptors for MHC Class I." *Immunity* 25 (2): 331–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.013.
- Apostolopoulos, Apostolos, Argiris Symeonidis, and Nicholas Zoumbos. 1990. "Prognostic Significance of Immune Function Parameters in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia." *European Journal of Haematology*.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0609.1990.tb00345.x.

- Arai, Sally, R. Meagher, M. Swearingen, H. Myint, E. Rich, J. Martinson, and H. Klingemann. 2008. "Infusion of the Allogeneic Cell Line NK-92 in Patients with Advanced Renal Cell Cancer or Melanoma: A Phase I Trial." *Cytotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240802301872.
- Arnon, Tal I., Gal Markel, and Ofer Mandelboim. 2006. "Tumor and Viral Recognition by Natural Killer Cells Receptors." Seminars in Cancer Biology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2006.07.005.
- Artis, David, and Hergen Spits. 2015. "The Biology of Innate Lymphoid Cells." *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14189.
- Balsamo, Mirna, Claudia Manzini, Gabriella Pietra, Federica Raggi, Fabiola Blengio, Maria Cristina Mingari, Luigi Varesio, Lorenzo Moretta, Maria Carla Bosco, and Massimo Vitale. 2013. "Hypoxia Downregulates the Expression of Activating Receptors Involved in NK-Cell-Mediated Target Cell Killing without Affecting ADCC." *European Journal of Immunology* 43 (10): 2756–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201343448.
- Bari, Rafijul, Markus Granzin, Kam Sze Tsang, Andre Roy, Winfried Krueger, Rimas Orentas, Rita Pfeifer, et al. 2019. "A Distinct Subset of Highly Proliferative and Lentiviral Vector (LV)-Transducible NK Cells Define a Readily Engineered Subset for Adoptive Cellular Therapy." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02001.
- Barkholt, Lisbeth, Evren Alici, Reka Conrad, Tolga Sutlu, Mari Gilljam, Birgitta-Stellan, Birger Christensson, et al. 2009. "Safety Analysis of Ex Vivo-Expanded NK and NK-like T Cells Administered to Cancer Patients: A Phase I Clinical Study." *Immunotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.2217/IMT.09.47.
- Barrow, Alexander David, Claudia Jane Martin, and Marco Colonna. 2019. "The Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors in Health and Disease." *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00909.
- Bauer, Björn, and Alexander Steinle. 2017. "I M M U N O L O G Y HemITAM: A Single Tyrosine Motif That Packs a Punch." http://stke.sciencemag.org/.
- Beldi-Ferchiou, Asma, Marion Lambert, Stéphanie Dogniaux, Frédéric Vély, Eric Vivier, Daniel Olive, Stéphanie Dupuy, et al. 2016. "PD-1 Mediates Functional Exhaustion of Activated NK Cells in Patients with Kaposi Sarcoma." Oncotarget. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.12150.
- Benson, Don M., Adam D. Cohen, Sundar Jagannath, Nikhil C. Munshi, Gary Spitzer, Craig C. Hofmeister, Yvonne A. Efebera, Pascale Andre, Robert Zerbib, and Michael A. Caligiuri. 2015. "A Phase I Trial of the Anti-KIR Antibody IPH2101 and Lenalidomide in Patients with Relapsed/Refractory Multiple Myeloma." *Clinical Cancer Research* 21 (18): 4055–61. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0304.
- Benson, Don M., Craig C. Hofmeister, Swaminathan Padmanabhan, Attaya Suvannasankha, Sundar Jagannath, Rafat Abonour, Courtney Bakan, et al. 2012.

"Aphase 1 Trial of the Anti-KIR Antibody IPH2101 in Patients with Relapsed/Refractory Multiple Myeloma." *Blood* 120 (22): 4324–33. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-06-438028.

- Béziat, Vivien, Baptiste Hervier, Abla Achour, David Boutolleau, Anne Marfain-Koka, and Vincent Vieillard. 2011. "Human NKG2A Overrides NKG2C Effector Functions to Prevent Autoreactivity of NK Cells." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-11-319194.
- Bi, Jiacheng, and Zhigang Tian. 2017. "NK Cell Exhaustion." *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00760.
- Boerman, Gerharda H., Monique M. van Ostaijen-ten Dam, Kathelijne C.J.M. Kraal, Susy J. Santos, Lynne M. Ball, Arjan C. Lankester, Marco W. Schilham, R. Maarten Egeler, and Maarten J.D. van Tol. 2015. "Role of NKG2D, DNAM-1 and Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors in Cytotoxicity toward Rhabdomyosarcoma Cell Lines Mediated by Resting and IL-15-Activated Human Natural Killer Cells." *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-015-1657-9.
- Boissel, Laurent, Monica Betancur, Weiquan Lu, Winfried S. Wels, Teresa Marino, Richard A. Van Etten, and Hans Klingemann. 2012. "Comparison of MRNA and Lentiviral Based Transfection of Natural Killer Cells with Chimeric Antigen Receptors Recognizing Lymphoid Antigens." *Leukemia and Lymphoma*. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2011.634048.
- Boissel, Laurent, Monica Betancur, Winfried S. Wels, Hande Tuncer, and Hans Klingemann. 2009. "Transfection with MRNA for CD19 Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Restores NK Cell Mediated Killing of CLL Cells." *Leukemia Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2008.11.024.
- Boissel, Nicolas, Delphine Rea, Vannary Tieng, Nicolas Dulphy, Manuel Brun, Jean-Michel Cayuela, Philippe Rousselot, et al. 2006. "BCR/ABL Oncogene Directly Controls MHC Class I Chain-Related Molecule A Expression in Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia." *The Journal of Immunology* 176 (8): 5108–16. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.176.8.5108.
- BOSCH, G., F. PREIJERS, A. VREUGDENHIL, J. HENDRIKS, F. MAAS, and T. WITTE. 2008. "Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) Counteracts the Inhibiting Effect of Monocytes on Natural Killer (NK) Cells." *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 101 (3): 515–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.1995.tb03143.x.
- Bovbjerg, D. H., and H. Valdimarsdottir. 1993. "Familial Cancer, Emotional Distress, and Low Natural Cytotoxic Activity in Healthy Women." *Annals of Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.annonc.a058659.
- Bryceson, Yenan T., Hans Gustaf Ljunggren, and Eric O. Long. 2009. "Minimal Requirement for Induction of Natural Cytotoxicity and Intersection of Activation Signals by Inhibitory Receptors." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-01-201632.
- Bryceson, Yenan T., Michael E. March, Domingo F. Barber, Hans Gustaf Ljunggren, and Eric O. Long. 2005. "Cytolytic Granule Polarization and Degranulation

Controlled by Different Receptors in Resting NK Cells." *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20051143.

- Bryceson, Yenan T., Michael E. March, Hans Gustaf Ljunggren, and Eric O. Long. 2006. "Synergy among Receptors on Resting NK Cells for the Activation of Natural Cytotoxicity and Cytokine Secretion." Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-04-1351.
- Burnet, Macfarlane, F R S Walter, and Eliza Hall. 1957. "BRITISH MEDICAL JOURNAL CANCER-A BIOLOGICAL APPROACH. THE PROCESSES OF CONTROL." *Br Med J.*
- Burns, L. J., D. J. Weisdorf, T. E. DeFor, D. H. Vesole, T. L. Repka, B. R. Blazar, S. R. Burger, et al. 2003. "IL-2-Based Immunotherapy after Authologous Transplantation for Lymphoma and Breast Cancer Induces Immune Activation and Cytokine Release: A Phase I/II Trial." *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 32 (2): 177– 86. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bmt.1704086.
- Byrd, Andreina, Sabrina C. Hoffman, Mostafa Jarahian, Frank Momburg, and Carsten Watzl. 2007. "Expression Analysis of the Ligands for the Natural Killer Cell Receptors NKp30 and NKp44." PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001339.
- Carlsten, M., B. C. Baumann, M. Simonsson, M. Jädersten, A. M. Forsblom, C. Hammarstedt, Y. T. Bryceson, H. G. Ljunggren, E. Hellström-Lindberg, and K. J. Malmberg. 2010. "Reduced DNAM-1 Expression on Bone Marrow NK Cells Associated with Impaired Killing of CD34+ Blasts in Myelodysplastic Syndrome." *Leukemia* 24 (9): 1607–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.149.
- Carlsten, Mattias, Neha Korde, Ritesh Kotecha, Robert Reger, Simona Bor, Dickran Kazandjian, Ola Landgren, and Richard W. Childs. 2016. "Checkpoint Inhibition of KIR2D with the Monoclonal Antibody IPH2101 Induces Contraction and Hyporesponsiveness of NK Cells in Patients with Myeloma." *Clinical Cancer Research* 22 (21): 5211–22. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1108.
- Carrega, Paolo, and Guido Ferlazzo. 2012. "Natural Killer Cell Distribution and Trafficking in Human Tissues." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00347.
- Carrega, Paolo, Barbara Morandi, Roberta Costa, Guido Frumento, Giuseppe Forte, Giuseppe Altavilla, Giovanni Battista Ratto, Maria Cristina Mingari, Lorenzo Moretta, and Guido Ferlazzo. 2008. "Natural Killer Cells Infiltrating Human Nonsmall-Cell Lung Cancer Are Enriched in CD56brightCD16- Cells and Display an Impaired Capability to Kill Tumor Cells." *Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.23239.
- Castriconi, Roberta, Alessandra Dondero, Maria Valeria Corrias, Edoardo Lanino, Daniela Pende, Lorenzo Moretta, Cristina Bottino, and Alessandro Moretta. 2004.
 "Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Killing of Freshly Isolated Neuroblastoma Cells: Critical Role of DNAX Accessory Molecule-1-Poliovirus Receptor Interaction." *Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2682.

Chambers, Andrea M., Kyle B. Lupo, and Sandro Matosevic. 2018. "Tumor

Microenvironment-Induced Immunometabolic Reprogramming of Natural Killer Cells." *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02517.

- Chan, Christopher J., Ludovic Martinet, Susan Gilfillan, Fernando Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes, Melvyn T. Chow, Liam Town, David S. Ritchie, Marco Colonna, Daniel M. Andrews, and Mark J. Smyth. 2014. "The Receptors CD96 and CD226 Oppose Each Other in the Regulation of Natural Killer Cell Functions." *Nature Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2850.
- Chang, Chiwen, Jes Dietrich, Ailsa G. Harpur, Jonathan A. Lindquist, Anja Haude, Y. W. Loke, Ashley King, Marco Colonna, John Trowsdale, and Michael J. Wilson. 1999. "Cutting Edge: KAP10, a Novel Transmembrane Adapter Protein Genetically Linked to DAP12 but with Unique Signaling Properties." *Journal of Immunology*.
- Chang, Yu Hsiang, John Connolly, Noriko Shimasaki, Kousaku Mimura, Koji Kono, and Dario Campana. 2013. "A Chimeric Receptor with NKG2D Specificity Enhances Natural Killer Cell Activation and Killing of Tumor Cells." *Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3558.
- Cho, Duck, David R. Shook, Noriko Shimasaki, Yu Hsiang Chang, Hiroyuki Fujisaki, and Dario Campana. 2010. "Cytotoxicity of Activated Natural Killer Cells against Pediatric Solid Tumors." *Clinical Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0735.
- Cifaldi, Loredana, Franco Locatelli, Emiliano Marasco, Lorenzo Moretta, and Vito Pistoia. 2017. "Boosting Natural Killer Cell-Based Immunotherapy with Anticancer Drugs: A Perspective." *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2017.10.002.
- Colamartino, Aurelien B. L., William Lemieux, Panojot Bifsha, Simon Nicoletti, Nitin Chakravarti, Joaquín Sanz, Hugo Roméro, et al. 2019. "Efficient and Robust NK-Cell Transduction With Baboon Envelope Pseudotyped Lentivector." *Frontiers in Immunology* 10 (December): 2873. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02873.
- Cooper, Megan A., Jennifer E. Bush, Todd A. Fehniger, Jeffrey B. Vandeusen, Ross E. Waite, Yang Liu, Hector L. Aguila, and Michael A. Caligiuri. 2002. "In Vivo Evidence for a Dependence on Interleukin 15 for Survival of Natural Killer Cells." *Blood* 100 (10): 3633–38. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2001-12-0293.
- Cooper, Megan A., Todd A. Fehniger, and Michael A. Caligiuri. 2001. "The Biology of Human Natural Killer-Cell Subsets." *Trends in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02060-9.
- Costello, Régis T., Simona Sivori, Emanuela Marcenaro, Marina Lafage-Pochitaloff, Marie Joelle Mozziconacci, Denis Reviron, Jean Albert Gastaut, Daniela Pende, Daniel Olive, and Alessandro Moretta. 2002. "Defective Expression and Function of Natural Killer Cell-Triggering Receptors in Patients with Acute Myeloid Leukemia." *Blood* 99 (10): 3661–67. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.10.3661.
- Cruz-Muñoz, Mario Ernesto, Lucero Valenzuela-Vázquez, Jacqueline Sánchez-Herrera, and Jesus Santa-Olalla Tapia. 2019. "From the 'Missing Self' Hypothesis to

Adaptive NK Cells: Insights of NK Cell-Mediated Effector Functions in ImmuneSurveillance."JournalofLeukocyteBiology.https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.MR0618-224RR.

- Dahlberg, Carin I.M., Dhifaf Sarhan, Michael Chrobok, Adil D. Duru, and Evren Alici. 2015. "Natural Killer Cell-Based Therapies Targeting Cancer: Possible Strategies to Gain and Sustain Anti-Tumor Activity." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00605.
- Degli-Esposti, Mariapia. 1999. "To Die or Not to Die The Quest of the TRAIL Receptors." *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.65.5.535.
- deMagalhaes-Silverman, Margarida, Albert Donnenberg, Barry Lembersky, Elaine Elder, John Lister, Witold Rybka, Theresa Whiteside, and Edward Ball. 2000. "Posttransplant Adoptive Immunotherapy With Activated Natural Killer Cells in Patients With Metastatic Breast Cancer." *Journal of Immunotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002371-200001000-00018.
- Dotti, Gianpietro, Stephen Gottschalk, Barbara Savoldo, and Malcolm K. Brenner. 2014. "Design and Development of Therapies Using Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Expressing T Cells." *Immunological Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12131.
- Dunn, Gavin P., Allen T. Bruce, Hiroaki Ikeda, Lloyd J. Old, and Robert D. Schreiber. 2002. "Cancer Immunoediting: From Immunosurveillance to Tumor Escape." *Nature Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1102-991.
- Ebbo, Mikaël, Adeline Crinier, Frédéric Vély, and Eric Vivier. 2017. "Innate Lymphoid Cells: Major Players in Inflammatory Diseases." *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.86.
- Eckl, Judith, Alexander Buchner, Petra U. Prinz, Rainer Riesenberg, Sabine I. Siegert, Robert Kammerer, Peter J. Nelson, and Elfriede Noessner. 2012. "Transcript Signature Predicts Tissue NK Cell Content and Defines Renal Cell Carcinoma Subgroups Independent of TNM Staging." *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 90 (1): 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-011-0806-7.
- Ehrlich, P. 1909. "Über Den Jetzigen Stand Der Chemotherapie." Berichte Der Deutschen Chemischen Gesellschaft. https://doi.org/10.1002/cber.19090420105.
- Epling-Burnette, Pearlie K., Fanqi Bai, Jeffrey S. Painter, Dana E. Rollison, Helmut R. Salih, Matthias Krusch, Jian Xiang Zou, et al. 2007. "Reduced Natural Killer (NK) Function Associated with High-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS) and Reduced Expression of Activating NK Receptors." *Blood* 109 (11): 4816–24. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-07-035519.
- Erdag, Gulsun, Jochen T. Schaefer, Mark E. Smolkin, Donna H. Deacon, Sofia M. Shea, Lynn T. Dengel, James W. Patterson, and Craig L. Slingluff. 2012. "Immunotype and Immunohistologic Characteristics of Tumor-Infiltrating Immune Cells Are Associated with Clinical Outcome in Metastatic Melanoma." *Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3218.
- Fantini, Massimo, Justin M. David, Hing C. Wong, Christina M. Annunziata, Philip M. Arlen, and Kwong Y. Tsang. 2019. "An IL-15 Superagonist, ALT-803, Enhances

Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity Elicited by the Monoclonal Antibody NEO-201 Against Human Carcinoma Cells." *Cancer Biotherapy and Radiopharmaceuticals* 34 (3): 147–59. https://doi.org/10.1089/cbr.2018.2628.

- Fauriat, Cyril, Sylvaine Just-Landi, Françoise Mallet, Christine Arnoulet, Danielle Sainty, Daniel Olive, and Regis T. Costello. 2007. "Deficient Expression of NCR in NK Cells from Acute Myeloid Leukemia: Evolution during Leukemia Treatment and Impact of Leukemia Cells in NCR Dull Phenotype Induction." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-08-027979.
- Fauriat, Cyril, Eric O. Long, Hans Gustaf Ljunggren, and Yenan T. Bryceson. 2010. "Regulation of Human NK-Cell Cytokine and Chemokine Production by Target Cell Recognition." *Blood* 115 (11): 2167–76. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-08-238469.
- Felices, M., S. Chu, B. Kodal, L. Bendzick, C. Ryan, A. J. Lenvik, K. L.M. Boylan, et al. 2017. "IL-15 Super-Agonist (ALT-803) Enhances Natural Killer (NK) Cell Function against Ovarian Cancer." *Gynecologic Oncology* 145 (3): 453–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.02.028.
- Figueiredo, Constança, Axel Seltsam, and Rainer Blasczyk. 2009. "Permanent Silencing of NKG2A Expression for Cell-Based Therapeutics." *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 87 (2): 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-008-0417-0.
- Floros, Theofanis, and Ahmad A. Tarhini. 2015. "Anticancer Cytokines: Biology and Clinical Effects of Interferon-A2, Interleukin (IL)-2, IL-15, IL-21, and IL-12." *Seminars in Oncology*. W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.05.015.
- Forconi, Catherine S., Cormac P. Cosgrove, Pryia Saikumar-Lakshmi, Christina E. Nixon, Joslyn Foley, John Michael Ong'echa, Juliana A. Otieno, Galit Alter, Christian Münz, and Ann M. Moormann. 2018. "Poorly Cytotoxic Terminally Differentiated CD56negCD16pos NK Cells Accumulate in Kenyan Children with Burkitt Lymphomas." *Blood Advances*. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2017015404.
- Fuchs, Anja, Marina Cella, Takayuki Kondo, and Marco Colonna. 2005. "Paradoxic Inhibition of Human Natural Interferon-Producing Cells by the Activating Receptor NKp44." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-12-4802.
- Garcia-Iglesias, Trinidad, Alicia del Toro-Arreola, Benibelks Albarran-Somoza, Susana del Toro-Arreola, Pedro E. Sanchez-Hernandez, Maria Ramirez-Dueñas, Luz Ma A. Balderas-Peña, Alejandro Bravo-Cuellar, Pablo C. Ortiz-Lazareno, and Adrian Daneri-Navarro. 2009. "Low NKp30, NKp46 and NKG2D Expression and Reduced Cytotoxic Activity on NK Cells in Cervical Cancer and Precursor Lesions." *BMC Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-9-186.
- Gasser, Stephan, Sandra Orsulic, Eric J. Brown, and David H. Raulet. 2005. "The DNA Damage Pathway Regulates Innate Immune System Ligands of the NKG2D Receptor." *Nature* 436 (7054): 1186–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03884.
- Ghiringhelli, François, Cédric Ménard, Magali Terme, Caroline Flament, Julien Taieb, Nathalie Chaput, Pierre E. Puig, et al. 2005. "CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells

Inhibit Natural Killer Cell Functions in a Transforming Growth Factor-β-Dependent Manner." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 202 (8): 1075–85. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20051511.

- Gilfillan, Susan, Christopher J. Chan, Marina Cella, Nicole M. Haynes, Aaron S. Rapaport, Kent S. Boles, Daniel M. Andrews, Mark J. Smyth, and Marco Colonna. 2008. "DNAM-1 Promotes Activation of Cytotoxic Lymphocytes by Nonprofessional Antigen-Presenting Cells and Tumors." *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20081752.
- Gong, Jiang Hong, Guitta Maki, and Hans G. Klingemann. 1994. "Characterization of a Human Cell Line (NK-92) with Phenotypical and Functional Characteristics of Activated Natural Killer Cells." *Leukemia*.
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez, Villa-Álvarez, Sordo-Bahamonde, Lorenzo-Herrero, and Gonzalez. 2019. "NK Cells in the Treatment of Hematological Malignancies." *Journal of Clinical Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8101557.
- Gorgoulis, Vassilis G., Leandros Vassilios F. Vassiliou, Panagiotis Karakaidos, Panayotis Zacharatos, Athanassios Kotsinas, Triantafilios Liloglou, Monica Venere, et al. 2005. "Activation of the DNA Damage Checkpoint and Genomic Instability in Human Precancerous Lesions." *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03485.
- Grossenbacher, Steven K., Robert J. Canter, and William J. Murphy. 2016. "Natural Killer Cell Immunotherapy to Target Stem-like Tumor Cells." *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*. BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-016-0124-2.
- Guerra, Nadia, Ying Xim Tan, Nathalie T. Joncker, Augustine Choy, Fermin Gallardo, Na Xiong, Susan Knoblaugh, Dragana Cado, Norman R. Greenberg, and David H. Raulet. 2008. "NKG2D-Deficient Mice Are Defective in Tumor Surveillance in Models of Spontaneous Malignancy." *Immunity* 28 (4): 571–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.016.
- Guillamon, Concepcion F., María V. Martínez-Sanchez, Lourdes Gimeno, Anna Mrowiec, Jeronimo Martínez-García, Gerardo Server-Pastor, Jorge Martínez-Escribano, et al. 2018. "NK Cell Education in Tumor Immune Surveillance: DNAM-1/KIR Receptor Ratios as Predictive Biomarkers for Solid Tumor Outcome." *Cancer Immunology Research* 6 (12): 1537–47. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0022.
- Gumá, Mónica, Matthias Budt, Andrea Sáez, Tamara Brckalo, Hartmut Hengel, Ana Angulo, and Miguel López-Botet. 2006. "Expansion of CD94/NKG2C+ NK Cells in Response to Human Cytomegalovirus-Infected Fibroblasts." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-09-3682.
- Habif, Guillaume, Adeline Crinier, Pascale André, Eric Vivier, and Emilie Narni-Mancinelli. 2019. "Targeting Natural Killer Cells in Solid Tumors." *Cellular and Molecular Immunology*. Chinese Soc Immunology. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-019-0224-2.

Hadadi, Leila, Morteza Hafezi, Ali Akbar Amirzargar, Ramazan Ali Sharifian, Saeid

Abediankenari, and Hossein Asgarian-Omran. 2019. "Dysregulated Expression of Tim-3 and NKp30 Receptors on NK Cells of Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia." *Oncology Research and Treatment*. https://doi.org/10.1159/000497208.

- Halama, Niels, Monika Braun, Christoph Kahlert, Anna Spille, Christian Quack, Nuh Rahbari, Moritz Koch, et al. 2011. "Natural Killer Cells Are Scarce in Colorectal Carcinoma Tissue despite High Levels of Chemokines and Cytokines." *Clinical Cancer Research* 17 (4): 678–89. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2173.
- Hayashi, Toshiaki, Teru Hideshima, Masaharu Akiyama, Klaus Podar, Hiroshi Yasui, Noopur Raje, Shaji Kumar, et al. 2005. "Molecular Mechanisms Whereby Immunomodulatory Drugs Activate Natural Killer Cells: Clinical Application." *British Journal of Haematology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.05286.x.
- Herberman, Ronald B., Myrthel E. Nunn, Howard T. Holden, and David H. Lavrin. 1975. "Natural Cytotoxic Reactivity of Mouse Lymphoid Cells against Syngeneic and Allogeneic Tumors. II. Characterization of Effector Cells." *International Journal of Cancer* 16 (2): 230–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910160205.
- Herberman, Ronald B., Myrthel E. Nunn, and David H. Lavrin. 1975. "Natural Cytotoxic Reactivity of Mouse Lymphoid Cells against Syngeneic and Allogeneic Tumors. I. Distribution of Reactivity and Specificity." *International Journal of Cancer* 16 (2): 216–29. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910160204.
- Hilpert, Julia, Ludger Grosse-Hovest, Frank Grünebach, Corina Buechele, Tina Nuebling, Tobias Raum, Alexander Steinle, and Helmut Rainer Salih. 2012. "Comprehensive Analysis of NKG2D Ligand Expression and Release in Leukemia: Implications for NKG2D-Mediated NK Cell Responses." *The Journal* of Immunology 189 (3): 1360–71. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1200796.
- Iannello, Alexandre, and Ali Ahmad. 2005. "Role of Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity in the Efficacy of Therapeutic Anti-Cancer Monoclonal Antibodies." *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-005-6192-2.
- Iguchi-Manaka, Akiko, Hirayasu Kai, Yumi Yamashita, Kai Shibata, Satoko Tahara-Hanaoka, Shin Ichiro Honda, Teruhito Yasui, Hitoshi Kikutani, Kazuko Shibuya, and Akira Shibuya. 2008. "Accelerated Tumor Growth in Mice Deficient in DNAM-1 Receptor." *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20081611.
- Iguchi-Manaka, Akiko, Genki Okumura, Hiroshi Kojima, Yukiko Cho, Rei Hirochika, Hiroko Bando, Toyomi Sato, et al. 2016. "Increased Soluble CD155 in the Serum of Cancer Patients." Edited by Hiroshi Shiku. *PLOS ONE* 11 (4): e0152982. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152982.
- Iliopoulou, Eleni G., Panteleimon Kountourakis, Michalis V. Karamouzis, Dimitrios Doufexis, Alexandros Ardavanis, Constantin N. Baxevanis, Gerasimos Rigatos, Michael Papamichail, and Sonia A. Perez. 2010. "A Phase i Trial of Adoptive Transfer of Allogeneic Natural Killer Cells in Patients with Advanced Non-Small

Cell Lung Cancer." *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-010-0904-3.

- Imai, Kazue, Satoru Matsuyama, Satoshi Miyake, Kenji Suga, and Kei Nakachi. 2000. "Natural Cytotoxic Activity of Peripheral-Blood Lymphocytes and Cancer Incidence: An 11-Year Follow-up Study of a General Population." *Lancet* 356 (9244): 1795–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03231-1.
- Imamura, Masaru, David Shook, Takahiro Kamiya, Noriko Shimasaki, Sally M.H. Chai, Elaine Coustan-Smith, Chihaya Imai, and Dario Campana. 2014. "Autonomous Growth and Increased Cytotoxicity of Natural Killer Cells Expressing Membrane-Bound Interleukin-15." *Blood* 124 (7): 1081–88. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-02-556837.
- Ishikawa, Eiichi, Koji Tsuboi, Kaoru Saijo, Hideki Harada, Shingo Takano, Tadao Nose, and Tadao Ohno. 2004. "Autologous Natural Killer Cell Therapy for Human Recurrent Malignant Glioma." *Anticancer Research*.
- Jacobs, Nathalie, Langers, Renoux, Thiry, and Delvenne. 2012. "Natural Killer Cells: Role in Local Tumor Growth and Metastasis." *Biologics: Targets and Therapy* 6 (April): 73. https://doi.org/10.2147/btt.s23976.
- Jiang, W., J. Zhang, and Z. Tian. 2008. "Functional Characterization of Interleukin-15 Gene Transduction into the Human Natural Killer Cell Line NKL." *Cytotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240801965156.
- Jiang, Wen, Cai Zhang, Zhigang Tian, and Jian Zhang. 2014. "HIL-15 Gene-Modified Human Natural Killer Cells (NKL-IL15) Augments the Anti-Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Effect in Vivo." *Immunobiology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2014.03.007.
- Jochems, Caroline, James W. Hodge, Massimo Fantini, Rika Fujii, Y. Maurice Morillon, John W. Greiner, Michelle R. Padget, et al. 2016. "An NK Cell Line (HaNK) Expressing High Levels of Granzyme and Engineered to Express the High Affinity CD16 Allele." Oncotarget. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.13411.
- Jungkunz-Stier, Isabel, Michael Zekl, Thorsten Stühmer, Hermann Einsele, and Ruth Seggewiss-Bernhardt. 2014. "Modulation of Natural Killer Cell Effector Functions through Lenalidomide/Dasatinib and Their Combined Effects against Multiple Myeloma Cells." *Leukemia and Lymphoma* 55 (1): 168–76. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2013.794270.
- Kabat, Juraj, Francisco Borrego, Andrew Brooks, and John E. Coligan. 2002. "Role That Each NKG2A Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-Based Inhibitory Motif Plays in Mediating the Human CD94/NKG2A Inhibitory Signal." *The Journal of Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.169.4.1948.
- Kamiya, Takahiro, Yu Hsiang Chang, and Dario Campana. 2016. "Expanded and Activated Natural Killer Cells for Immunotherapy of Hepatocellular Carcinoma." *Cancer Immunology Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0229.
- Kamiya, Takahiro, See Voon Seow, Desmond Wong, Murray Robinson, and Dario Campana. 2019. "Blocking Expression of Inhibitory Receptor NKG2A Overcomes

Tumor Resistance to NK Cells." *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI123955.

- Kaplan, Daniel H., Vijay Shankaran, Anand S. Dighe, Elisabeth Stockert, Michel Aguet, Lloyd J. Old, and Robert D. Schreiber. 1998. "Demonstration of an Interferon γ-Dependent Tumor Surveillance System in Immunocompetent Mice." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.13.7556.
- Kärre, Klas. 2002. "A Perfect Mismatch." Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1070538.
- Kärre, Klas, Hans Gustaf Ljunggren, Gerald Piontek, and Rolf Kiessling. 1986. "Selective Rejection of H-2-Deficient Lymphoma Variants Suggests Alternative Immune Defence Strategy." *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/319675a0.
- Kearney, Conor J., Kelly M. Ramsbottom, Ilia Voskoboinik, Phillip K. Darcy, and Jane Oliaro. 2016. "Loss of DNAM-1 Ligand Expression by Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells Renders Them Resistant to NK Cell Killing." OncoImmunology. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2016.1196308.
- Khaznadar, Zena, Guylaine Henry, Niclas Setterblad, Sophie Agaugue, Emmanuel Raffoux, Nicolas Boissel, Hervé Dombret, Antoine Toubert, and Nicolas Dulphy. 2014. "Acute Myeloid Leukemia Impairs Natural Killer Cells through the Formation of a Deficient Cytotoxic Immunological Synapse." *European Journal of Immunology* 44 (10): 3068–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201444500.
- Kiany, Simin, Gangxiong Huang, and Eugenie S. Kleinerman. 2017. "Effect of Entinostat on NK Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity against Osteosarcoma Cells and Osteosarcoma Lung Metastasis." *OncoImmunology* 6 (8): e1333214. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2017.1333214.
- Kiessling, R., Eva Klein, H. Pross, and H. Wigzell. 1975. ",,Natural" Killer Cells in the Mouse. II. Cytotoxic Cells with Specificity for Mouse Moloney Leukemia Cells. Characteristics of the Killer Cell." *European Journal of Immunology* 5 (2): 117– 21. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830050209.
- Kiessling, R., Eva Klein, and H. Wigzell. 1975. ",,Natural" Killer Cells in the Mouse. I. Cytotoxic Cells with Specificity for Mouse Moloney Leukemia Cells. Specificity and Distribution According to Genotype." *European Journal of Immunology* 5 (2): 112–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830050208.
- Klingemann, Hans, Laurent Boissel, and Frances Toneguzzo. 2016. "Natural Killer Cells for Immunotherapy - Advantages of the NK-92 Cell Line over Blood NK Cells." *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00091.
- Koerner, S. P., M. C. André, J. S. Leibold, P. C. Kousis, A. Kübler, M. Pal, S. P. Haen, et al. 2017. "An Fc-Optimized CD133 Antibody for Induction of NK Cell Reactivity against Myeloid Leukemia." *Leukemia* 31 (2): 459–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2016.194.

Konjević, Gordana, Katarina Mirjačić Martinović, Ana Vuletić, Viktor Jović, Vladimir

Jurisić, Nada Babović, and Ivan Spužić. 2007. "Low Expression of CD161 and NKG2D Activating NK Receptor Is Associated with Impaired NK Cell Cytotoxicity in Metastatic Melanoma Patients." *Clinical and Experimental Metastasis* 24 (1): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10585-006-9043-9.

- Konstantinidis, Kyriakos V., Evren Alici, Alar Aints, Birger Christensson, Hans Gustaf Ljunggren, and M. Sirac Dilber. 2005. "Targeting IL-2 to the Endoplasmic Reticulum Confines Autocrine Growth Stimulation to NK-92 Cells." *Experimental Hematology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2004.11.003.
- Korde, Neha, Mattias Carlsten, Min Jung Lee, Alex Minter, Esther Tan, Mary Kwok, Elisabet Manasanch, et al. 2014. "A Phase II Trial of Pan-KIR2D Blockade with IPH2101 in Smoldering Multiple Myeloma." *Haematologica*. Ferrata Storti Foundation. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2013.103085.
- Krause, Stefan W., Robert Gastpar, Reinhard Andreesen, Catharina Gross, Heidrun Ullrich, Gerald Thonigs, Karin Pfister, and Gabriele Multhoff. 2004. "Treatment of Colon and Lung Cancer Patients with Ex Vivo Heat Shock Protein 70-Peptide-Activated, Autologous Natural Killer Cells: A Clinical Phase I Trial." *Clinical Cancer Research* 10 (11): 3699–3707. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0683.
- Kruse, Philip H., Jessica Matta, Sophie Ugolini, and Eric Vivier. 2014. "Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors and Their Ligands." *Immunology and Cell Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2013.98.
- Lanier, Lewis L. 2005. "NK CELL RECOGNITION." Annual Review of Immunology 23 (1): 225–74. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526.

—. 2008. "Up on the Tightrope: Natural Killer Cell Activation and Inhibition." *Nature Immunology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1581.

——. 2009. "DAP10- and DAP12-Associated Receptors in Innate Immunity." *Immunological Reviews*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00720.x.

——. 2015. "NKG2D Receptor and Its Ligands in Host Defense." *Cancer Immunology Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0098.

- Lanier, Lewis L., Brian Corliss, Jun Wu, and Joseph H. Phillips. 1998. "Association of DAP12 with Activating CD94/NKG2C NK Cell Receptors." *Immunity*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80574-9.
- Lavin, Yonit, Soma Kobayashi, Andrew Leader, El ad David Amir, Naama Elefant, Camille Bigenwald, Romain Remark, et al. 2017. "Innate Immune Landscape in Early Lung Adenocarcinoma by Paired Single-Cell Analyses." *Cell* 169 (4): 750-765.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.014.
- Leibson, Paul J. 1997. "Signal Transduction during Natural Killer Cell Activation: Inside the Mind of a Killer." *Immunity*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80441-0.
- Leung, Wing. 2014. "Infusions of Allogeneic Natural Killer Cells as Cancer Therapy." *Clinical Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1766.

- Levin, Aron M., Darren L. Bates, Aaron M. Ring, Carsten Krieg, Jack T. Lin, Leon Su, Ignacio Moraga, et al. 2012. "Exploiting a Natural Conformational Switch to Engineer an Interleukin-2 'Superkine." *Nature* 484 (7395): 529–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10975.
- Li, Hequan, Yanmei Han, Qiuli Guo, Minggang Zhang, and Xuetao Cao. 2009. "Cancer-Expanded Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Induce Anergy of NK Cells through Membrane-Bound TGF-B1." *The Journal of Immunology* 182 (1): 240–49. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240.
- Lion, E., Y. Willemen, Z. N. Berneman, V. F.I. Van Tendeloo, and E. L.J. Smits. 2012. "Natural Killer Cell Immune Escape in Acute Myeloid Leukemia." *Leukemia*. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.87.
- Liu, Y., Y. Cheng, Y. Xu, Z. Wang, X. Du, C. Li, J. Peng, L. Gao, X. Liang, and C. Ma. 2017. "Increased Expression of Programmed Cell Death Protein 1 on NK Cells Inhibits NK-Cell-Mediated Anti-Tumor Function and Indicates Poor Prognosis in Digestive Cancers." *Oncogene* 36 (44): 6143–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.209.
- Ljunggren, Hans Gustaf, and Klas Kärre. 1990. "In Search of the 'Missing Self': MHC Molecules and NK Cell Recognition." *Immunology Today*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S.
- Locatelli, Franco, Daniela Pende, Michela Falco, Mariella Della Chiesa, Alessandro Moretta, and Lorenzo Moretta. 2018. "NK Cells Mediate a Crucial Graft-versus-Leukemia Effect in Haploidentical-HSCT to Cure High-Risk Acute Leukemia." *Trends in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2018.04.009.
- Long, Eric O. 2008. "Negative Signaling by Inhibitory Receptors: The NK Cell Paradigm." *Immunological Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00660.x.
- Maghazachi, Azzam A. 2010. "Role of Chemokines in the Biology of Natural Killer Cells." *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/82-2010-20.
- Maki, G., H. G. Klingemann, J. A. Martinson, and Y. K. Tam. 2001. "Factors Regulating the Cytotoxic Activity of the Human Natural Killer Cell Line, NK-92." *Journal of Hematotherapy and Stem Cell Research* 10 (3): 369–83. https://doi.org/10.1089/152581601750288975.
- Marcenaro, Emanuela, Simona Carlomagno, Silvia Pesce, Mariella Della Chiesa, Silvia Parolini, Alessandro Moretta, and Simona Sivori. 2011. "NK Cells and Their Receptors during Viral Infections." *Immunotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.2217/imt.11.99.
- Margolin, Kim, Chihiro Morishima, Vamsidhar Velcheti, Jeffrey S. Miller, Sylvia M. Lee, Ann W. Silk, Shernan G. Holtan, et al. 2018. "Phase I Trial of ALT-803, a Novel Recombinant IL15 Complex, in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors." *Clinical Cancer Research* 24 (22): 5552–61. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0945.

- Martinet, Ludovic, and Mark J. Smyth. 2015. "Balancing Natural Killer Cell Activation through Paired Receptors." *Nature Reviews Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3799.
- Mastaglio, Sara, Eric Wong, Travis Perera, Jane Ripley, Piers Blombery, Mark J. Smyth, Rachel Koldej, and David Ritchie. 2018. "Natural Killer Receptor Ligand Expression on Acute Myeloid Leukemia Impacts Survival and Relapse after Chemotherapy." Blood Advances. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2017015230.
- Mavers, Melissa, and Alice Bertaina. 2018. "High-Risk Leukemia: Past, Present, and Future Role of NK Cells." *Journal of Immunology Research*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1586905.
- Mensali, Nadia, Pierre Dillard, Michael Hebeisen, Susanne Lorenz, Theodossis Theodossiou, Marit Renée Myhre, Anne Fåne, et al. 2019. "NK Cells Specifically TCR-Dressed to Kill Cancer Cells." *EBioMedicine* 40 (February): 106–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.01.031.
- Michaud, Henri-Alexandre, Jean-François Eliaou, Virginie Lafont, Nathalie Bonnefoy, and Laurent Gros. 2014. "Tumor Antigen-Targeting Monoclonal Antibody-Based Immunotherapy: Orchestrating Combined Strategies for the Development of Long-Term Antitumor Immunity." *OncoImmunology* 3 (9): e955684. https://doi.org/10.4161/21624011.2014.955684.
- Micucci, Federica, Alessandra Zingoni, Mario Piccoli, Luigi Frati, Angela Santoni, and Ricciarda Galandrini. 2006. "High-Efficient Lentiviral Vector-Mediated Gene Transfer into Primary Human NK Cells." *Experimental Hematology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2006.06.001.
- Miller, Jeffrey S., Yvette Soignier, Angela Panoskaltsis-Mortari, Sarah A. McNearney, Gong H. Yun, Susan K. Fautsch, David McKenna, et al. 2005. "Successful Adoptive Transfer and in Vivo Expansion of Human Haploidentical NK Cells in Patients with Cancer." *Blood* 105 (8): 3051–57. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-07-2974.
- Molfetta, Rosa, Linda Quatrini, Angela Santoni, and Rossella Paolini. 2017. "Regulation of NKG2D-Dependent NK Cell Functions: The Yin and the Yang of Receptor Endocytosis." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 18 (8): 1677. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18081677.
- Moretta, Lorenzo, Cristina Bottino, Daniela Pende, Maria Cristina Mingari, Roberto Biassoni, and Alessandro Moretta. 2002. "Human Natural Killer Cells: Their Origin, Receptors and Function." *European Journal of Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(200205)32:5<1205::AID-IMMU1205>3.0.CO;2-Y.
- Morisaki, Takashi, Hideya Onishi, and Mitsuo Katano. 2012. "Cancer Immunotherapy Using NKG2D and DNAM-1 Systems." *Anticancer Research*.
- Morvan, Maelig G., and Lewis L. Lanier. 2016. "NK Cells and Cancer: You Can Teach Innate Cells New Tricks." *Nature Reviews Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2015.5.

- Müller, Stephan, Tobias Bexte, Veronika Gebel, Franziska Kalensee, Eva Stolzenberg, Jessica Hartmann, Ulrike Koehl, et al. 2020. "High Cytotoxic Efficiency of Lentivirally and Alpharetrovirally Engineered CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Natural Killer Cells Against Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." Frontiers in Immunology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.03123.
- Mundy-Bosse, Bethany, Nathan Denlinger, Eric McLaughlin, Nitin Chakravarti, Susan Hwang, Li Chen, Hsiaoyin Charlene Mao, et al. 2018. "Highly Cytotoxic Natural Killer Cells Are Associated with Poor Prognosis in Patients with Cutaneous T-Cell Lymphoma." *Blood Advances*. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018020388.
- Muntasell, Aura, Federico Rojo, Sonia Servitja, Carlota Rubio-Perez, Mariona Cabo, David Tamborero, Marcel Costa-García, et al. 2019. "NK Cell Infiltrates and HLA Class I Expression in Primary HER2 p Breast Cancer Predict and Uncouple Pathological Response and Disease-Free Survival." *Clinical Cancer Research* 25 (5): 1535–45. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2365.
- Nagashima, Shigeki, Robbie Mailliard, Yoshiro Kashii, Torsten E. Reichert, Ronald B. Herberman, Paul Robbins, and Theresa L. Whiteside. 1998. "Stable Transduction of the Interleukin-2 Gene into Human Natural Killer Cell Lines and Their Phenotypic and Functional Characterization in Vitro and in Vivo." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v91.10.3850.
- Navid, F., V. M. Santana, and R. C. Barfield. 2010. "Anti-GD2 Antibody Therapy for GD2-Expressing Tumors." *Current Cancer Drug Targets*. https://doi.org/10.2174/156800910791054167.
- Nayyar, Gaurav, Yaya Chu, and Mitchell S. Cairo. 2019a. "Overcoming Resistance to Natural Killer Cell Based Immunotherapies for Solid Tumors." *Frontiers in Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00051.

—. 2019b. "Overcoming Resistance to Natural Killer Cell Based Immunotherapies for Solid Tumors." *Frontiers in Oncology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00051.

- Ndhlovu, Lishomwa C., Sandra Lopez-Vergès, Jason D. Barbour, R. Brad Jones, Aashish R. Jha, Brian R. Long, Eric C. Schoeffler, Tsuyoshi Fujita, Douglas F. Nixon, and Lewis L. Lanier. 2012. "Tim-3 Marks Human Natural Killer Cell Maturation and Suppresses Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity." In *Blood*. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-11-392951.
- Nieto-Velázquez, Nayeli Goreti, Yessica Dorin Torres-Ramos, José Luis Muñoz-Sánchez, Lorena Espinosa-Godoy, Susana Gómez-Cortés, José Moreno, and Mario Adán Moreno-Eutimio. 2016. "Altered Expression of Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors and NKG2D on Peripheral Blood NK Cell Subsets in Breast Cancer Patients." *Translational Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2016.07.003.
- Nowbakht, Pegah, Mihai Constantin S. Ionescu, Andreas Rohner, Christian P. Kalberer, Emmanuel Rossy, Lucia Mori, David Cosman, Gennaro De Libero, and Aleksandra Wodnar-Filipowicz. 2005. "Ligands for Natural Killer Cell-Activating Receptors Are Expressed upon the Maturation of Normal Myelomonocytic Cells but at Low Levels in Acute Myeloid Leukemias." *Blood* 105 (9): 3615–22. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-07-2585.

- O'Sullivan, Timothy E., Joseph C. Sun, and Lewis L. Lanier. 2015. "Natural Killer Cell Memory." *Immunity*. Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.013.
- O'Sullivan, Timothy, Robert Saddawi-Konefka, William Vermi Koebel, Cora Arthur, J. Michael White, Ravi Uppaluri, Daniel M. Andrews, et al. 2012. "Cancer Immunoediting by the Innate Immune System in the Absence of Adaptive Immunity." *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20112738.
- Oldham, Robert K. 1983. "Natural Killer Cells: Artifact to Reality: An Odyssey in Biology." CANCER AND METASTASIS REVIEW. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00048565.
- Palmer, Shanique, Curtis A. Hanson, Clive S. Zent, Luis F. Porrata, Betsy LaPlant, Susan M. Geyer, Svetomir N. Markovic, et al. 2008. "Prognostic Importance of T and NK-Cells in a Consecutive Series of Newly Diagnosed Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia." *British Journal of Haematology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07070.x.
- Pan, Beiqing, and Suzanne Lentzsch. 2012. "The Application and Biology of Immunomodulatory Drugs (IMiDs) in Cancer." *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. Pharmacol Ther. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.07.004.
- Parihar, Robin, Charlotte Rivas, Mai Huynh, Bilal Omer, Natalia Lapteva, Leonid S. Metelitsa, Stephen M. Gottschalk, and Cliona M. Rooney. 2019. "NK Cells Expressing a Chimeric Activating Receptor Eliminate MDSCs and Rescue Impaired CAR-T Cell Activity against Solid Tumors." *Cancer Immunology Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0572.
- Parkhurst, Maria R., John P. Riley, Mark E. Dudley, and Steven A. Rosenberg. 2011. "Adoptive Transfer of Autologous Natural Killer Cells Leads to High Levels of Circulating Natural Killer Cells but Does Not Mediate Tumor Regression." *Clinical Cancer Research* 17 (19): 6287–97. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1347.
- Parlar, A., E.C. Sayitoglu, D. Ozkazanc, A.-M. Georgoudaki, C. Pamukcu, M. Aras, B.J. Josey, et al. 2019. "Engineering Antigen-Specific NK Cell Lines against the Melanoma-Associated Antigen Tyrosinase via TCR Gene Transfer." *European Journal of Immunology* 49 (8). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201948140.
- Pesce, Silvia, Marco Greppi, Giovanna Tabellini, Fabio Rampinelli, Silvia Parolini, Daniel Olive, Lorenzo Moretta, Alessandro Moretta, and Emanuela Marcenaro. 2017. "Identification of a Subset of Human Natural Killer Cells Expressing High Levels of Programmed Death 1: A Phenotypic and Functional Characterization." *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.025.
- Phillips, J. H., B. T. Gemlo, W. W. Myers, A. A. Rayner, and L. L. Lanier. 1987. "In Vivo and in Vitro Activation of Natural Killer Cells in Advanced Cancer Patients Undergoing Combined Recombinant Interleukin-2 and LAK Cell Therapy." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 5 (12): 1933–41. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1987.5.12.1933.
- Pittari, Gianfranco, Luca Vago, Moreno Festuccia, Chiara Bonini, Deena Mudawi, Luisa Giaccone, and Benedetto Bruno. 2017. "Restoring Natural Killer Cell Immunity against Multiple Myeloma in the Era of New Drugs." Frontiers in Immunology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01444.
- Platonova, Sophia, Julien Cherfils-Vicini, Diane Damotte, Lucile Crozet, Vincent Vieillard, Pierre Validire, Pascale André, et al. 2011. "Profound Coordinated Alterations of Intratumoral NK Cell Phenotype and Function in Lung Carcinoma." *Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4179.
- Rebmann, Vera, Philipp Schütt, Dieter Brandhorst, Bertram Opalka, Thomas Moritz, Mohammad Reza Nowrousian, and Hans Grosse-Wilde. 2007. "Soluble MICA as an Independent Prognostic Factor for the Overall Survival and Progression-Free Survival of Multiple Myeloma Patients." *Clinical Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2006.11.007.
- Reefman, Esther, Jason G. Kay, Stephanie M. Wood, Carolin Offenhäuser, Darren L. Brown, Sandrine Roy, Amanda C. Stanley, Pei Ching Low, Anthony P. Manderson, and Jennifer L. Stow. 2010. "Cytokine Secretion Is Distinct from Secretion of Cytotoxic Granules in NK Cells." *The Journal of Immunology* 184 (9): 4852–62. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0803954.
- Rodella, Luigi, Loris Zamai, Rita Rezzani, Marco Artico, Giovanni Peri, Mirella Falconi, Andrea Facchini, Giuseppe Pelusi, and Marco Vitale. 2001. "Interleukin 2 and Interleukin 15 Differentially Predispose Natural Killer Cells to Apoptosis Mediated by Endothelial and Tumour Cells." *British Journal of Haematology*. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.03055.x.
- Romee, Rizwan, Sarah Cooley, Melissa M. Berrien-Elliott, Peter Westervelt, Michael R. Verneris, John E. Wagner, Daniel J. Weisdorf, et al. 2018. "First-in-Human Phase 1 Clinical Study of the IL-15 Superagonist Complex ALT-803 to Treat Relapse after Transplantation." *Blood* 131 (23): 2515–27. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-12-823757.
- Romee, Rizwan, Maximillian Rosario, Melissa M. Berrien-Elliott, Julia A. Wagner, Brea A. Jewell, Timothy Schappe, Jeffrey W. Leong, et al. 2016. "Cytokine-Induced Memory-like Natural Killer Cells Exhibit Enhanced Responses against Myeloid Leukemia." *Science Translational Medicine* 8 (357): 357ra123-357ra123. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf2341.
- Romee, Rizwan, Stephanie E. Schneider, Jeffrey W. Leong, Julie M. Chase, Catherine R. Keppel, Ryan P. Sullivan, Megan A. Cooper, and Todd A. Fehniger. 2012.
 "Cytokine Activation Induces Human Memory-like NK Cells." *Blood* 120 (24): 4751–60. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-04-419283.
- Rosenberg, S. A., M. T. Lotze, J. C. Yang, P. M. Aebersold, W. M. Linehan, C. A. Seipp, and D. E. White. 1989. "Experience with the Use of High-Dose Interleukin-2 in the Treatment of 652 Cancer Patients." *Annals of Surgery* 210 (4): 474–85. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000658-198910000-00008.
- Rosenberg, Steven A. 1984. "Immunotherapy of Cancer by Systemic Administration of Lymphoid Cells plus Interleukin-2." *Journal of Biological Response Modifiers*.

- Ruggeri, Loredana, Marusca Capanni, Elena Urbani, Katia Perruccio, Warren D. Shlomchik, Antonella Tosti, Sabrina Posati, et al. 2002. "Effectiveness of Donor Natural Killer Cell Aloreactivity in Mismatched Hematopoietic Transplants." *Science* 295 (5562): 2097–2100. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1068440.
- Ruggeri, Loredana, Elena Urbani, Pascale André, Antonella Mancusi, Antonella Tosti, Fabiana Topini, Mathieu Bléry, et al. 2016. "Effects of Anti-NKG2A Antibody Administration on Leukemia and Normal Hematopoietic Cells." *Haematologica* 101 (5): 626–33. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2015.135301.
- Sahm, Christiane, Kurt Schönfeld, and Winfried S. Wels. 2012. "Expression of IL-15 in NK Cells Results in Rapid Enrichment and Selective Cytotoxicity of Gene-ModiWed EVectors That Carry a Tumor-SpeciWc Antigen Receptor." Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-012-1212-x.
- Salih, Helmut R., Hans-Georg Rammensee, and Alexander Steinle. 2002. "Cutting Edge: Down-Regulation of MICA on Human Tumors by Proteolytic Shedding." *The Journal of Immunology* 169 (8): 4098–4102. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4098.
- Sanchez-Correa, Beatriz, Isabel Valhondo, Fakhri Hassouneh, Nelson Lopez-Sejas, Alejandra Pera, Juan M. Bergua, Maria Jose Arcos, et al. 2019. "DNAM-1 and the TIGIT/PVRIG/TACTILE Axis: Novel Immune Checkpoints for Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy." *Cancers*. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11060877.
- Savan, Ram, Tim Chan, and Howard A. Young. 2010. "Lentiviral Gene Transduction in Human and Mouse NK Cell Lines." *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-362-6_14.
- Screpanti, Valentina, Robert P. A. Wallin, Hans-Gustaf Ljunggren, and Alf Grandien. 2001. "A Central Role for Death Receptor-Mediated Apoptosis in the Rejection of Tumors by NK Cells." *The Journal of Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.2068.
- Shah, Nirali N., Kristin Baird, Cynthia P. Delbrook, Thomas A. Fleisher, Mark E. Kohler, Shakuntala Rampertaap, Kimberly Lemberg, et al. 2015. "Acute GVHD in Patients Receiving IL-15/4-1BBL Activated NK Cells Following T-Cell-Depleted Stem Cell Transplantation." *Blood* 125 (5): 784–92. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-07-592881.
- Shankaran, Vijay, Hiroaki Ikeda, Allen T. Bruce, J. Michael White, Paul E. Swanson, Lloyd J. Old, and Robert D. Schreiber. 2001. "IFNγ, and Lymphocytes Prevent Primary Tumour Development and Shape Tumour Immunogenicity." *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/35074122.
- Shimasaki, Noriko, Hiroyuki Fujisaki, Duck Cho, Marika Masselli, Timothy Lockey, Paul Eldridge, Wing Leung, and Dario Campana. 2012. "A Clinically Adaptable Method to Enhance the Cytotoxicity of Natural Killer Cells against B-Cell Malignancies." *Cytotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.3109/14653249.2012.671519.
- Siegler, Uwe, Sandrine Meyer-Monard, Simon Jrger, Martin Stern, André Tichelli, Alois Gratwohl, Aleksandra Wodnar-Filipowicz, and Christian P. Kalberer. 2010.

"Good Manufacturing Practice-Compliant Cell Sorting and Large-Scale Expansion of Single KIR-Positive Alloreactive Human Natural Killer Cells for Multiple Infusions to Leukemia Patients." *Cytotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.3109/14653241003786155.

- Sim, Geok Choo, Chengwen Liu, Ena Wang, Hui Liu, Caitlin Creasy, Zhimin Dai, Willem W. Overwijk, et al. 2016. "IL2 Variant Circumvents ICOS+ Regulatory T-Cell Expansion and Promotes NK Cell Activation." *Cancer Immunology Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0195.
- Sim, Geok Choo, Natalia Martin-Orozco, Lei Jin, Yan Yang, Sheng Wu, Edwina Washington, Deborah Sanders, et al. 2014. "IL-2 Therapy Promotes Suppressive ICOS+ Treg Expansion in Melanoma Patients." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124 (1): 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI46266.
- Smyth, Mark J., Erika Cretney, Janice M. Kelly, Jennifer A. Westwood, Shayna E.A. Street, Hideo Yagita, Kazuyoshi Takeda, Serani L.H.Van Dommelen, Mariapia A. Degli-Esposti, and Yoshihiro Hayakawa. 2005a. "Activation of NK Cell Cytotoxicity." *Molecular Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.034.
 - —. 2005b. "Activation of NK Cell Cytotoxicity." *Molecular Immunology*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.034.
- Sondel, Paul M., and Kory L. Alderson. 2011. "Clinical Cancer Therapy by NK Cells via Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity." *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/379123.
- Song, Hyunkeun, Jeong Ki Kim, David Cosman, and Inpyo Choi. 2006. "Soluble ULBP Suppresses Natural Killer Cell Activity via Down-Regulating NKG2D Expression." *Cellular Immunology* 239 (1): 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2006.03.002.
- Soriani, Alessandra, Alessandra Zingoni, Cristina Cerboni, Maria Luisa Lannitto, Maria Rosaria Ricciardi, Valentina Di Gialleonardo, Marco Cippitelli, et al. 2009. "ATM-ATR-Dependent up-Regulation of DNAM-1 and NKG2D Ligands on Multiple Myeloma Cells by Therapeutic Agents Results in Enhanced NK-Cell Susceptibility and Is Associated with a Senescent Phenotype." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-08-173914.
- Sorkin, Linda S., Mario Otto, William M. Baldwin, Emily Vail, Stephen D. Gillies, Rupert Handgretinger, Raymond C. Barfield, Hui Ming Yu, and Alice L. Yu. 2010. "Anti-GD2 with an FC Point Mutation Reduces Complement Fixation and Decreases Antibody-Induced Allodynia." Pain. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.01.024.
- Spear, Paul, Ming Ru Wu, Marie Louise Sentman, and Charles L. Sentman. 2013. "Nkg2d Ligands as Therapeutic Targets." *Cancer Immunity*.
- Srivastava, Shivani, David Pelloso, Hailin Feng, Larry Voiles, David Lewis, Zdenka Haskova, Margaret Whitacre, et al. 2013. "Effects of Interleukin-18 on Natural Killer Cells: Costimulation of Activation through Fc Receptors for Immunoglobulin." *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* 62 (6): 1073–82.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-013-1403-0.

- Steinle, Kevin M, Sascha N Dennehy, and Alexander Klimosch. 2011. "Hemi-ITAM To Trigger NK Cytotoxicity Cutting Edge: NKp80 Uses an Atypical." *J Immunol* 186: 657–61. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0904117.
- Strayer, David R., William A. Carter, and Isadore Brodsky. 1986. "Familial Occurrence of Breast Cancer Is Associated with Reduced Natural Killer Cytotoxicity." *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01806249.
- Stringaris, Kate, Takuya Sekine, Ahmad Khoder, Abdullah Alsuliman, Bonnie Razzaghi, Ruhena Sargeant, Jiri Pavlu, et al. 2014. "Leukemia-Induced Phenotypic and Functional Defects in Natural Killer Cells Predict Failure to Achieve Remission in Acute Myeloid Leukemia." *Haematologica* 99 (5): 836–47. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2013.087536.
- Suck, Garnet, Marcus Odendahl, Paulina Nowakowska, Christian Seidl, Winfried S. Wels, Hans G. Klingemann, and Torsten Tonn. 2016. "NK-92: An 'off-the-Shelf Therapeutic' for Adoptive Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy." *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* 65 (4): 485–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-015-1761-x.
- Sullivan, Erin M., Sima Jeha, Guolian Kang, Cheng Cheng, Barbara Rooney, Martha Holladay, Rafijul Bari, et al. 2014. "NK Cell Genotype and Phenotype at Diagnosis of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Correlate with Postinduction Residual Disease." *Clinical Cancer Research*. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0479.
- Sun, Cheng, Jing Xu, Qiang Huang, Mei Huang, Hao Wen, Chuanshan Zhang, Jinyu Wang, et al. 2017. "High NKG2A Expression Contributes to NK Cell Exhaustion and Predicts a Poor Prognosis of Patients with Liver Cancer." *OncoImmunology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2016.1264562.
- Sun, Haoyu, Qiang Huang, Mei Huang, Hao Wen, Renyong Lin, Meijuan Zheng, Kun Qu, et al. 2019. "Human CD96 Correlates to Natural Killer Cell Exhaustion and Predicts the Prognosis of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma." *Hepatology* 70 (1): 168–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.30347.
- Sutlu, Tolga, Sanna Nyström, Mari Gilljam, Birgitta Stellan, Steven E. Applequist, and Evren Alici. 2012. "Inhibition of Intracellular Antiviral Defense Mechanisms Augments Lentiviral Transduction of Human Natural Killer Cells: Implications for Gene Therapy." *Human Gene Therapy*. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2012.080.
- Thorburn, Andrew. 2004. "Death Receptor-Induced Cell Killing." *Cellular Signalling*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2003.08.007.
- Tonn, T., S. Becker, R. Esser, D. Schwabe, and E. Seifried. 2001. "Cellular Immunotherapy of Malignancies Using the Clonal Natural Killer Cell Line NK-92." Journal of Hematotherapy and Stem Cell Research 10 (4): 535–44. https://doi.org/10.1089/15258160152509145.
- Tonn, Torsten, Dirk Schwabe, Hans G. Klingemann, Sven Becker, Ruth Esser, Ulrike Koehl, Meinolf Suttorp, Erhard Seifried, Oliver G. Ottmann, and Gesine Bug.

2013. "Treatment of Patients with Advanced Cancer with the Natural Killer Cell Line NK-92." *Cytotherapy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2013.06.017.

- Topham, Nicola J., and Eric W. Hewitt. 2009. "Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity: How Do They Pull the Trigger?" *Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03123.x.
- Vari, Frank, David Arpon, Colm Keane, Mark S. Hertzberg, Dipti Talaulikar, Sanjiv Jain, Qingyan Cui, et al. 2018. "Immune Evasion via PD-1/PD-L1 on NK Cells and Monocyte/Macrophages Is More Prominent in Hodgkin Lymphoma than DLBCL." *Blood.* https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-07-796342.
- Veillette, André. 2006. "NK Cell Regulation by SLAM Family Receptors and SAP-Related Adapters." *Immunological Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00453.x.
- ——. 2010. "SLAM-Family Receptors: Immune Regulators with or without SAP-Family Adaptors." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a002469.
- Verhoeven, Dirk H.J., Alfons S.K. de Hooge, Esther C.K. Mooiman, Susy Justo Santos, Monique M. ten Dam, Hans Gelderblom, Cornelis J.M. Melief, et al. 2008. "NK Cells Recognize and Lyse Ewing Sarcoma Cells through NKG2D and DNAM-1 Receptor Dependent Pathways." *Molecular Immunology* 45 (15): 3917–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2008.06.016.
- Vey, Norbert, Lionel Karlin, Sophie Sadot-Lebouvier, Florence Broussais, Dominique Berton-Rigaud, Jérôme Rey, Aude Charbonnier, et al. 2018. "A Phase 1 Study of Lirilumab (Antibody against Killer Immunoglobulinlike Receptor Antibody KIR2D; IPH2102) in Patients with Solid Tumors and Hematologic Malignancies." Oncotarget 9 (25): 17675–88. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.24832.
- Vivier, Eric, David H. Raulet, Alessandro Moretta, Michael A. Caligiuri, Laurence Zitvogel, Lewis L. Lanier, Wayne M. Yokoyama, and Sophie Ugolini. 2011. "Innate or Adaptive Immunity? The Example of Natural Killer Cells." *Science*. American Association for the Advancement of Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198687.
- Vivier, Eric, Elena Tomasello, Myriam Baratin, Thierry Walzer, and Sophie Ugolini. 2008. "Functions of Natural Killer Cells." *Nature Immunology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1582.
- Vivier, Eric, and Sophie Ugolini. 2009. "Regulatory Natural Killer Cells: New Players in the IL-10 Anti-Inflammatory Response." *Cell Host and Microbe*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2009.12.001.
- Vivier, Eric, Sophie Ugolini, Didier Blaise, Christian Chabannon, and Laurent Brossay. 2012. "Targeting Natural Killer Cells and Natural Killer T Cells in Cancer." *Nature Publishing Group.* https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3174.
- Waldmann, Thomas A. 2006. "The Biology of Interleukin-2 and Interleukin-15: Implications for Cancer Therapy and Vaccine Design." *Nature Reviews Immunology*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1901.

- Waldmann, Thomas A., Sigrid Dubois, Milos D. Miljkovic, and Kevin C. Conlon. 2020. "IL-15 in the Combination Immunotherapy of Cancer." *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00868.
- Waller, Giacomo, David Allan, Dhana Chinnasamy, Mala Chakraborty, Emily Levy, Michael Hochman, Long Chen, et al. 2017. "High-Efficiency Lentiviral Genetic Modification of Primary Human Natural Killer Cells." *Blood* 130 (Supplement 1): 5566–5566. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.5566.5566.
- Walzer, Thierry, Marc Dalod, Scott H. Robbins, Laurence Zitvogel, and Eric Vivier. 2005. "Natural-Killer Cells and Dendritic Cells: 'L'union Fait La Force." *Blood*. American Society of Hematology. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-03-1154.
- Wang, Xing, Dong Wang, Na Yuan, Fanxiao Liu, Fu Wang, Bomin Wang, and Dongsheng Zhou. 2017. "The Prognostic Value of PCNA Expression in Patients with Osteosarcoma: A Meta-Analysis of 16 Studies." *Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000008254.
- Watzl, Carsten, and Eric O. Long. 2010. "Signal Transduction during Activation and Inhibition of Natural Killer Cells." *Current Protocols in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.im1109bs35.
- Welte, Stefan, Sabrina Kuttruff, Inja Waldhauer, and Alexander Steinle. 2006. "Mutual Activation of Natural Killer Cells and Monocytes Mediated by NKp80-AICL Interaction." *Nature Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1402.
- Whiteside, T. L. 2008. "The Tumor Microenvironment and Its Role in Promoting Tumor Growth." Oncogene. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.271.
- Wrangle, John M., Vamsidhar Velcheti, Manish R. Patel, Elizabeth Garrett-Mayer, Elizabeth G. Hill, James G. Ravenel, Jeffrey S. Miller, et al. 2018. "ALT-803, an IL-15 Superagonist, in Combination with Nivolumab in Patients with Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Non-Randomised, Open-Label, Phase 1b Trial." *The Lancet Oncology* 19 (5): 694–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30148-7.
- Xu, Yibing, Jianping Sun, Michael A. Sheard, Hung C. Tran, Zesheng Wan, Wei Yao Liu, Shahab Asgharzadeh, Richard Sposto, Hong Wei Wu, and Robert C. Seeger. 2013. "Lenalidomide Overcomes Suppression of Human Natural Killer Cell Anti-Tumor Functions by Neuroblastoma Microenvironment-Associated IL-6 and TGFβ1." *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* 62 (10): 1637–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-013-1466-y.
- Zhang, Congcong, Pranav Oberoi, Sarah Oelsner, Anja Waldmann, Aline Lindner, Torsten Tonn, and Winfried S. Wels. 2017. "Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Engineered NK-92 Cells: An off-the-Shelf Cellular Therapeutic for Targeted Elimination of Cancer Cells and Induction of Protective Antitumor Immunity." *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00533.
- Zhang, Qing, Jiacheng Bi, Xiaodong Zheng, Yongyan Chen, Hua Wang, Wenyong Wu, Zhengguang Wang, et al. 2018. "Blockade of the Checkpoint Receptor TIGIT Prevents NK Cell Exhaustion and Elicits Potent Anti-Tumor Immunity." *Nature*

Immunology 19 (7): 723–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0.

- Zhang, Yuxia, and Bing Huang. 2017. "The Development and Diversity of ILCs, NK Cells and Their Relevance in Health and Diseases." In Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 1024:225–44. Springer New York LLC. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5987-2_11.
- Zhang, Zhanguang, Ning Wu, Yan Lu, Dominique Davidson, Marco Colonna, and André Veillette. 2015. "DNAM-1 Controls NK Cell Activation via an ITT-like Motif." *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20150792.
- Zhou, Xiu-Man, Wan-Qiong Li, Ya-Hong Wu, Lu Han, Xin-Guang Cao, Xuan-Ming Yang, Hong-Fei Wang, et al. 2018. "Intrinsic Expression of Immune Checkpoint Molecule TIGIT Could Help Tumor Growth in Vivo by Suppressing the Function of NK and CD8+ T Cells." *Frontiers in Immunology* 9 (NOV): 2821. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02821.
- Zhu, Dan, Laura G. Corral, Yuedi W. Fleming, and Bernd Stein. 2008. "Immunomodulatory Drugs Revlimid® (Lenalidomide) and CC-4047 Induce Apoptosis of Both Hematological and Solid Tumor Cells through NK Cell Activation." *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* 57 (12): 1849–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-008-0512-7.

7. APPENDIX A: Chemicals

 Table 7.1. List of chemicals used in this study.

Chemicals and Media Components	Company
Agar	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Agarose	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Ampicillin	Corning, GellGro, USA
Boric Acid	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Chloroquine	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Distilled Water	Merck Milipore, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
DMEM	Island, NY, USA
DMSO	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
DNA Gel Loading Dye, 6X	NEB, USA
DPBS, 1X	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
EDTA	Applichem, Germany
Ethanol	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Ethidium Bromide	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
Fetal Bovine Serum	Island, NY, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
HEPES Solution, 1 M	Island, NY, USA
	Novartis Pharmaceuticals,
Interleukin-2 (Proleukin)	Switzerland

Ionomycin	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Isopropanol	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
LB Broth	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
L-glutamine	Island, NY, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
Sodium Pyruvate	Island, NY, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
MEM Vitamin Solution, 100X	Island, NY, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
MEM Non-essential Amino Acid Solution	Island, NY, USA
2-Mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Methanol	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Monensin	Biolegend, CA, USA
GolgiStop	BD Biosciences, USA
NaCl	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
(5Z)-7-Oxozeaenol	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Penicillin-Streptomycin	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
PFA	Biolegend, CA, USA
Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
PIPES	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Poly-L-Lysine	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
Protamine Sulfate	Island, NY, USA
RPMI-1640	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
	,

	Island, NY, USA
Saponin	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Trizma	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
	Gibco, Life Technologies, Grand
Trypsin-EDTA	Island, NY, USA

8. APPENDIX B: Equipments

 Table 8.1. List of equipments used in this study.

Equipment	Company
Autoclave	Hirayama, HiClave HV-110, Japan
Balance	ISOLAB, 302.31.002, Germany
Centrifuge	Eppendorf, 5415D, Germany
	Eppendorf, 5702, Germany
	VWR, MegaStar 3.0R, USA
	Beckman Coulter, Allegra X-15R, USA
CO ₂ Incubator	Thermo Fisher, Heracell Vios 160i, USA
	Binder GmbH, Germany
Automated Cell Counter	Thermo Fisher, Countess II FL, USA
Deep freezer	-80 °C, Forma, Thermo Electron Corp.,
	USA
	-20 °C, Bosch, Turkey
Electrophoresis Apparatus	Biorad Inc., USA
gentleMACS Octo Dissociator with	Miltenyi Biotec, Germany

heaters	
Filters (0.22 µm and 0.45µm)	Merck Millipore, USA
Fluorescence-activated cell sorting	BD Aria II, USA
Flow cytometer	BD LSR Fortessa, USA
Gel Documentation	Biorad, UV-Transilluminator 2000, USA
Heater Thermomixer Comfort	Eppendorf, Germany
Hemocytometer	ISOLAB, Neubauer, 075.03.001, Germany
Ice Machine	Scotsman Inc., AF20, USA
Incubator	Memmert Modell 300, Germany
Laminar Flow	Heraeus, HeraSafe HS 12, Germany
	Heraeus, HeraSafe KS, Germany
Liquid Nitrogen Tank	Taylor-Wharton, 300RS, USA
Magnetic Stirrer	VELP Scientifica, Italy
Microliter Pipettes	Gilson, Pipetman, France
	Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA
Microscope	Zeiss, Primo Vert, Germany
	Zeiss Observer Z1, Germany
Microwave Oven	Bosch, Turkey
pH Meter	Mettler Toledo, USA
Refrigerator	Bosch, Turkey
Shaker Incubator	New Brunswick Sci., Innova 4330, USA
Spectrophotometer	New Brunswick Sci., USA
	NanoDrop 2000, Thermo Fischer

	Scientific, USA
Vortex	VELP Scientifica, Italy

9. APPENDIX C: Plasmid Maps



Figure C.1. The vector map of LeGO.iG2 Puro.



Figure 4. The vector map of pMDLg/pRRE.



Figure C.3. The vector map of pRSV-REV.



Figure C.4. The vector map of pCMV-VSV-G.



10. APPENDIX D: Generation of GM NK-92 cell lines



Figure D.1. Flow cytometer analysis of GM NK-92 cell lines at day 4 (pre-selection).





Figure D.2. Flow cytometer analysis of GM NK-92 cell lines at day 14 (post-selection).